26808	
National Library Bibliotheque nationale of Canada du Canada	CANADIAN THESES THÈSES CANADIENNES ON MICROFICHE SUR MICROFICHE
NAME OF ALITHOR/NOM DE L'ALITEUR MAUI	5 E. KYLE
NAME OF AUTHOR/NOM DE L'AUTEUR	LOPMENT and TESTING of an
UNIVERSITY/UNIVERSITE UNIVERSITY	E CARE OF ALBERTA
DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED/ GRADE POUR LEQUEL CETTE THÈSE FUT PRÉSENTÉE	
NAME OF SUPERVISOR/NOM DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE	DR. DAVID FLATHMAN

CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission, QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'eutorisation écrite de l'auteur.

DATED GNED/SIGNÉ FERMANENT ADDRESS/RESIDENCE FIXE

NL-91 (3-74)

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

THE DEVELOPMENT AND TESTING

OF AN INSTRUMENT FOR

ASSESSMENT AND CLASSIFICATION OF PATIENTS

BY TYPES OF CARE

ΒY

C MAVIS E. KYLE

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF HEALTH SERVICES ADMINISTRATION

DIVISION OF HEALTH SERVICES ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY MEDICINE

FALL, 1975

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled The Development and Testing of an Instrument

for Assessment and Classification of Patients by Types of Care

submitted by Mavis E. Kyle

1

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Health Service Administration.

Supervisor

The study was undertaken to develop and test an instrument for assessment and classification of patients by Types of Care. The project was initiated by the Medicine Hat and District Health Planning Committee as one method of identifying the needs of the community for health care programs and facilities, as well as describing the characteristics of the study population to show the appropriateness of present patient program-placement. The major objective of the investigator was to identify the degree of reliability and validity of data obtained by use of the instrument.

Using the Types of Care classification and related patient characteristics as defined in the <u>Report of the Working Party on Patient Care Classific-</u> <u>ation</u> as the criterion measure, an assessment and classification instrument and User's Manual were developed. Assessment items were related to the demographic characteristics, medical status, and physical and psycho-social functioning of each patient. Classification items included the Type of Care, the site where needs could best be met, and program requirements.

Following a pilot test and pretest, a clinical analytical survey was carried out on a specific day on the study population of 490 patients in an acute care hospital, auxiliary hospital, two nursing homes and individuals awaiting placement in the long-term care facilities. The assessors were registered nurses in the institutions and in the community, providing care to the patients. Additional input from other health care professionals, the

iv

patient and his family was encouraged.

A stratified random sample of 100 patients was used for an interrater reliability study and another sample of 100 patients was randomly chosen for an empirical validity study. Statistical procedures were undertaken to identify the degree of reliability and validity of the instrument items and to produce descriptive frequency distributions.

An acceptable degree of item reliability was identified in the inter-rater study, as indicated by a median of 91.3% agreement between the two assessors over all items. Acceptable face validity was indicated by feedback from the users, and content validity was established by content analysis. Construct validity was examined by two factor analyses, one on the assessment variables, and another on the classification items. The major assessment factor was a physical dependency construct. Both of these factor analyses identified a factor related to acute psychiatric needs in addition to other factors related to Types of Care, as defined. Concurrent validity was established by examination of the extent of relationship between each item

and Types of Care. Stepwise discriminant analysis and Bayesian classification indicated adequate discriminability between Types of Care, the Wilks' Lambda being .048 at the last step. Agreement between the Medicine Hat assessors and the Bayesian classification was 89% overall. A scatter diagram of the means of each Type of Care, plotted on the first two canonical variates, showed a curvilinear relationship, with the Types in order along the curve. The empirical validity study showed overall agreement between the expert and

•

the Medicine Hat assessors to be 79.7%; however, difficulty was encountered with identifying Type 4 patients.

It was concluded that the instrument possessed an acceptable degree of reliability and validity. The major recommendation is that additional research be undertaken to determine predictive validity and further refine the instrument and User's Manual. Other recommendations relate to the experimental use of information gained by studies of this kind for planning, administrative

and patient care decision making.

ACKNOWBEDGEMENTS

The cooperation and assistance of many individuals has made this study possible. To the nurses, medical staff, social workers and administrative officers of the participating institutions and agencies of Medicine Hat, I acknowledge with thanks the time and effort expended in planning for and carrying out the study. To Mrs. Fernande Harrison, Mr. Nicholas Synenko and Mrs. Kay Lawrence, whose enthusiastic cooperation and input have assisted in many aspects of the study, I extend my personal thanks.

A special acknowledgement goes to Dr. David Flathman, my committee chairman, for his unfailing support, advice and guidance with the total study and especially for his expert assistance with the statistical analytical/ techniques. Dr. Shirley Stinson, a role model <u>par excellence</u>, has provided direction, advice and encouragement over the past two years which has contributed in a major way to completion of this project. Also, my sincere thanks to Dr. Lyle Larson 'for his helpful evaluation of this study. Grateful appreciation is directed to Sandria Neil and Lynn Clarke

for their expert clerical assistance.

Thanks must also be extended to the Province of Saskatchewan and the University of Saskatchewan for their financial assistance during the past two years.

And finally, to Dr. J. Bradley, and the Alberta Hospital Services Commission, my gratitude for their support of this study.

M.E.K.

ii –

TABLE OF CONTENTS .

.

· .	PTER	•
Ι.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Purpose of the Study	2
	Need for the Study	
	Description of the Study	4
;)	· Definitions	c
•,	Outline of Presentation	9
) П.	A SELECTIVE REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	11
11 .		
	Framework.	
	Some Approaches to Patient Classification	
•	Government Involvement in Patient Care Classification	- · · · ·
	Canadian Federal	22
	Canadian - Provincial	
•	American	,
	Components of a Multi-Dimensional Classification	
	Summary of the Literature Review	35
ш.	METHODOLOGY	96
	The Basic Research Design	36
	Development of the Instrument	36
	The Independent Variables	38
/	The Dependent Variables	39
	The Population	43
	The Assessors	43
	The Pretest	
•	Revision of the Instrument and Development of a	
	User's Manual	46
1	The Survey	47
	에는 경험적으로 가능하는 것 같아. 이번에 가는 것은 2000년 전에 가운 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것을 가지 않는 것을 것이다. 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 가 이 같은 것은	

CHAPTER

3

. /

Code Values for Variables in Study Data	49
Reliability Studies	51
Stratification of Sample	52
Analysis of Inter-Rater Data	54
Validity Studies	56
Criterion Measures	57
Kinds of Validity	58
Face Validity	58
Content Validity	59.
Construct Validity	59
Concurrent Validity	60
Empirical Validity	62
Summary	65
IV. PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS OF DATA	6 6
Descriptive Analysis of Population Characteristics	66
Reliability	87
Validity Studies	93
Face Validity	93
Content Validity	<i></i>
Construct Validity	94 96 \
Concurrent Validity	
Empirical Validity	
- Summary	121
Pollobility Ct. dia	l21
Validity Studies	L 22
V. CONCLUSION	26
Summary	.26
[19] 그는 말 속한 문항 것이 가 못 수는 그렇게 한 것이 많은 것이 가지 않는 것이 있는 것이 가지 않는 것이다. 것이 같은 것이 없는 것이 없 않는 것이 없는 것이 없 않이 않이 않는 것이 없는 것이 없 않이 않이 않이 않이 않이 않이 않이 않이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 없는 것이 없는 것이 않아. 것이 없는 것이 없는 것이 않아. 것이 없는 것이 없는 것이 없는 것이 없는 것이 없는 것이 않아. 것이 없는 것이 없이 않아. 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 않아. 것이 않아. 것 않아. 것이 않아. 않아. 것이 않아. 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 않아. 것이 않이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이 않아. 것이	.28

PAGE

<u>, .</u>

4

CHAPTER

Conclusions	131
Recommendations	132
Research	132
Administrative Policy	133

BIBLIOGRAPHY	.	135
APPENDIX 1.	PRETEST INSTRUMENT	143
APPENDIX 2.	SURVEY INSTRUMENT	146
APPENDIX 3.	USER'S MANUAL	149
APPENDIX 4.	CODE BOOK	180

PAGE

LIST OF TABLES

· · · ·

• •

KA

· . ·		PAGI
3.1	Job Category of Assessor by Location of Patients	49
3.2	Stratification of Beds by Location of Inter-Rater	
	Reliability Study	54
3.3	Stratification of Patients by Location	64
3.4	Summary of Methods Used to Test for Reliability and Validity of Instrument Items	65
4.1	Location of Study Population	66
4.2	Length of Stay of Inpatients up to Study Day	67
4.3	Location Prior to the Current Admission	68
4.4	Time on Waiting List for Alternate Placement	69
4.5	Deterrents to Placement Based on Need	,69
4.6	Age of Study Population	70
4.7	Sex of Study Population	70
4.8	Marital Status of Study Population	71
4.9	Amount of Psycho-Social Support	71
4.10	Source of Psycho-Social Support	72
4.11	Dependency of the Patient on Supervision	72
4.12	Chronic Conditions	74
4.13	Stability of Condition	75
4.14	Severity of Condition	75
4.15	Health Risks	\$ 76
4.16	Potential for Improvement Through Coordinated Rehabilitation Programs	77

TABLE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
4.17	Time Span to Reassess Care Program	77
4.18	Senses	78
4.19	Activitiés of Daily Living	79
4.20	Communication Skills	80
4.21	Behavior	80 4
4.22	Social-Psychological Functioning	81
4.23	Number of ADL Problems Exhibited by Study Population	82
4,24	Number of Psycho-Social Problems Exhibited by the Study Population	82
4.25	Service Requirements	83
4.26	Types of Care of Study Population	85
4.27	Site where Patients' Needs' can Best be Met	85 ·
4.28	Programs Required for Non-Institutional Patients	86
4.29	Inter-Rater Items Reliability Study Measurement of Relationship of Responses on Each Item by Two Independent Assessors	, 89,
4,30	Inter-Rater Reliability Test of Classification by Types of Care	93 '
4.31	Content Validation by Relating Patient Characteristics from <u>Federal W. P. R</u> . to Items on Study Instrument	95
4.32	Factor Analysis of Assessment Variables	97.
4.33	Varimax Factor Pattern of Assessment Variables	100
4.34	Factor Analysis of Classification Variables	101
4.35	Varimax Factor Pattern of Classification Variables	103

TABLE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE	l •
4.36	Item Validation Measurement of Relationship of each Assessment Variable to Types of Care	105 🗸	~ ~
4.37	Stepwise Discriminant Analysis	110	۰ ۲
4.38	Number of Cases Classified into Each Type of Care by Medicine Hat Assessor and Bayesian Classification	112	. ·
4.39	Highest Posterior Probability of Being in Each Assessed Type of Care	114	•
4.40	Inter-Rater Empirical Validity Test of Classification by Types of Care	118	
4.41	Agreement Among Medicine Hat Assessors, Expert, and Bayesian Classification by Types of Care	119	
4.42	Inter-Rater Validity Test of Classification by Sites Medicine Hat Assessor and Expert	120	•
4.43	Summary of Results of Item Reliability Studies	122	

xiii

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
2.1	Model of Patient Flow Into and Through Health Service Facilities	13
4.1)	Scatter Diagram of Case Means and Types of Care Means on Canonical Variates 1 and 2	115)
4.2	Linear Relationship of Types of Care Means Related to Complexity of Needs	116
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
		μ Ci
		(
0	xiv.	

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

A major need of many government officials, health care planners, and professionals involved in patient care is the development of "an information system which will enhance relevant surveillance of a population under care and is capable of mapping data about patient condition and appropriate care programs to aid in decision making processes in patient transfer or alteration in the care program" (Flagle, 1969, p. 721).

The desideratum is difficult to attain, because often the characteristics of disability or severity of illness are elusive, which makes direct measurement impossible. Therefore, indirect measurement of physical and behavioral manifestations and outcomes are utilized. The more subjective these measurements become, the more difficulty arises in demonstrating validity, reliability, sensitivity and specificity of interpretations (Akpom, Katz & Densen, 1973).

One such information system is multidisciplinary assessment and classification of a population. The input from a number of professionals and non-professionals, as well as the patient himself, provides an integrated approach to decision making based on comprehensive knowledge of the patient as a whole. The group involvement increases the probability of optimum decisions to meet the individual's requirements. The users of assessment

and classification systems differ in disciplinary orientation, values and

purposes. For example, epidemiologists may wish to utilize such information to explain the origin of a group, or to predict changes in the group with the passage of time. Health practitioners and health administrators may wish to evaluate the effect of care on patients, place patients into appropriate facilities, monitor ongoing processes of care and allocate resources within programs, while community health planners may wish to use data from classification processes for decisions related to resource control and planning on a community level. Government planners may use the information to assist in program planning and in allocation of resources in the provincial or federal sphere. It becomes obvious, then, that any classification system will need to provide a core of information which can be processed and analyzed systematically, and be augmented by other sources of information on which the user can make decisions based on professional judgement for the purpose he has in mind (Jones, 1973),

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

This study constitutes a beginning attempt to develop and validate an instrument to classify patients into the five Types of Care, as described in <u>The (1973) Report of the Working Party on Patient Care Classification to the</u> <u>Advisory Committee on Hospital Insurance and Diagnostic Services</u>, hereafter referred to as the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u>

The classification is based on information gained by conducting a clinical analytical survey to assess patients' demographic characteristics, medical status, physical and psycho-social functioning, as well as require-

-2-

ments for treatment and therapy. The study population is then classified into the appropriate Types of Care, sites where their needs can best be met, and the community programs required for those in a non-institutional site. The emphasis of this study is (1) to develop an instrument and test it in one community in order to identify the degree of reliability and validity of the instrument and (2) to study the characteristics of the population under investigation.

NEED FOR THE STUDY

The need to develop an instrument to systematically assess the demographic characteristics, medical status, physical and psycho-social functioning of patients is well documented in several recent reports (Bayne, 1972; Burack, 1965; Dressler, 1971; Fox, 1974; Jones, 1973; Morgan, 1974; Nauen, 1968).

More specifically, patient assessment and classification, an information system used to assist in making decisions, could ideally be applied in any setting and at all stages in the process of patient care. This was

recognized in the Federal W.P.R., which stated:

...Attention must be focused, with increasing urgency on the development of consistent and compatible methods of identifying and measuring health care needs within a / population so that the necessary and appropriate care can be delivered in the most suitable setting (p. I).

At the provincial level, the Alberta Hospital Services Commission has recently completed a <u>Commission Task Force Report</u> -- <u>Nursing Homes</u> <u>in Alberta</u>, (1974). One of the major recommendations relates to the need for a method of patient classification to assist with the initial placement and ongoing evaluation which, in turn, should lead to movement in the system as the patient's need for care changes over time.

In a study relating to the psycho-geriatric patients in Alberta's long-term care facilities, the findings of this author pointed to the need for a classification system with strong emphasis on psycho-social functioning and related care requirements (Kyle, 1974).

American literature also stresses the need for research in the area of patient classification. Although the emphasis on cost is more pronounced, due to U.S. Medicare and Medicaid legislation and associated payment mechanisms, the underlying emphasis is on providing services and programs which will not under service, nor over service, their population. Thus, methods of classification are under study (Dressler, 1971; Fox, 1974; Jones, 1973).

It is clear that research must be undertaken to develop a system of assessment and classification of population members which will provide reliable and valid data for various purposes. Only through knowledge of population requirements can rational decisions be made which will foster the most efficient and effective delivery of health care.

DESCRIPTION OF THE STUDY

In June, 1974, the Medicine Hat Health Care Planner, on behalf of the Regional Planning Committee, requested assistance from the Alberta Hospital Services Commission (AHSC), which is the provincial hospital authority, in defining the need for institutions and programs to meet the health care needs of the citizens of that community. As a graduate student doing a residency with AHSC, this author was given the task of developing an instrument which would identify the demographic characteristics and medical status, as well as the physical and psycho-social functioning of patients, and

classify them, in order to identify the required sites and programs to meet the manifest needs. This appeared to be a unique opportunity to develop a classification system upon criteria set out in the <u>Federal W. P.R.</u> As stated in that report:

> The kinds of classifications described in the report have been developed as guidelines which, it is hoped, will provide provinces and health care organizations with a base upon which to build classification systems and at the same time, encourage further research and development. It is recognized that implementation can only proceed in accordance with local, provincial, and national needs (p. I).

The study is aimed at the development and testing of an instrument through use of a pretest and a clinical analytical survey to (1) assess and classify patients into the five Types of Care, as defined in the <u>Federal W.P.R</u>. (2) identify the most appropriate sites and programs required to meet their needs, and (3) describe the characteristics of the patient population. The major thrust is in relation to the reliability and validity testing of the data gathered by use of the instrument.

The study population included 490 patients in one general hospital, one auxiliary hospital, and two nursing homes and also included individuals currently located in the Senior Citizens Lodge, their own home or in the

settings.

The "snap-shot" approach was utilized, that is to say, on a specific day, all those in the health care system or awaiting placement were assessed and classified.

Nurses who were caring for the patients acted as assessors and classifiers. This approach included nurses in the institutions as well as the community nurse who was caring for individuals in the lodge or in their home. For purposes of the inter-rater study, two nurses familiar with the patients' characteristics carried out independent assessments and classification. The District Health Care Planner acted as coordinator of the project, with assistance from a registered nurse who was the District Assessment and Placement Officer for long-term care.

The purpose and methodology of the study were discussed with Board members, administrative staff of the institutions involved, and with health care professionals, in order to promote understanding of the objectives and possible outcomes of the study. Orientation meetings for the nurse assessors were undertaken by the investigator, to promote a clear understanding of all components of the instrument.

Following development of the instrument, orientation of the assessors, and a pretest and test, data analysis was undertaken. The methodology and analysis of data will be elaborated upon in Chapters III and IV.

Feedback of results of the study was provided to Medicine Hat participants by an interim report and a final report (Kyle, 1975), to supply information to assist with planning, administrative and patient care decisions.

DEFINITIONS

General consensus regarding the central terms used is an essential requirement in any research project. The following definitions have been,

developed from a review of the literature pertinent to the subject.

PATIENT CLASSIFICATION

Classification, according to <u>Webster's New World Dictionary</u> (1970) is "arrangement according to some systematic division into classes or groups".

> In the context of health services delivery, the word classification is conceptually different depending on where it is used and for what purposes, although the objective of arranging and assigning clients to categories remains the same. Different categorizations are required for different purposes to cover the entire spectrum of health and related social needs (Federal W.P.R., p. 7).

TYPES OF CARE CLASSIFICATION

The Types of Care classification system deals with manifest needs of patients with defined morbidity who require direct action and types or kinds of care appropriate to their needs. The classification is a means of matching the individual with the appropriate program and service. The five Types of Care are identified with the numerical progression reflecting the increasing qualifications, numbers and variety of staff, increased costs, and increased complexity of services needed. The characteristics of the patient condition should determine the Type of Care required and are expressed in terms of patient needs.

PATIENT ASSESSMENT

Patient assessment is the determination of demographic character-

istics and an estimation of the degree of dependence related to medical, physical and psycho-social variables chosen to identify the manifest needs of a patient. The focus is on the patient and his needs. The ultimate purpose of patient assessment in this study is classification of the patient into a group for one or more purposes, including program placement.

LEVELS OF CARE

Levels of Care ideally encompasses medical, nursing, social and psychological needs of patients which measure in quantitative terms the frequency and intensity of care required. The number of categories is kept to a practical limit, i.e., three or four specific groupings ranging from () minimal to intense care. Current applications are related to nursing care requirements in acute care settings which measure the volume and complexity of care required by the patient, in order to match nursing resources with patient requirements (Federal W.P.R., p. 56).

VARIABLE

A variable is a measurable or potentially measurable component of a subject that may fluctuate in quantity or quality, or that may be different in \mathcal{J} quantity or quality from one individual subject to another individual subject of the same general class.

RELIABILITY

Reliability may be defined in terms of its analogy to such words as \int_{1}^{1} consistency, stability and reproducability. One example is, if at least two

sets of data are collected under the same circumstances using the same subjects and through statistical analysis they are found to be highly or perfectly correlated, the instrument is considered to be reliable.

VALIDITY

Validity refers to the extent that an instrument measures what it seeks or purports to measure. This is the definition in common use, however, six different types of validity, i.e., face, content, construct, concurrent,

empirical and predictive, are defined in the section on Validity in Chapter III.

CRITERION MEASURE

Criterion measure is a standard, rule or test by which something can be judged to provide a measure of value.

CLINICAL ANALYTICAL SURVEY

A clinical analytical survey may be defined as a detailed study by gathering information in a clinical setting through determination of patient attributes, recording information on a prepared instrument, and analyzing the data by means of appropriate statistical tools to infer certain meanings which lie hidden within the data.

OUTLINE OF THE PRESENTATION

The presentation is divided into four main sections: Chapter II⁴ contains a review of pertinent literature on patient care assessment and classification; Chapter III provides a detailed outline of the methodology used for the clinical analytical survey and the data analysis, while Chapter IV contains the presentation and analysis of the data. Chapter V presents a summary of this study, along with limitations, conclusions and recommendations. The Appendices include the instrument used for the pretest, the revised instrument used for the test, the User's Manual and the coding system used for data analysis.

The reader's attention is now directed to a review of the literature on systems of patient assessment and classification. -10-

CHAPTER II

A SELECTIVE REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The intent underlying this literature review is that of providing an overview of trends in the system of health care delivery regarding:

(1) kinds of patient care classification systems, (2) government involvement in assessment and classification projects, and (3) components of the multidisciplinary approach to assessment and classification.

Discussion of literature related specifically to reliability, validity and methods of statistical analysis is incorporated in Chapter III.

FRAMEWOQRK

Patient Care Classification is an outgrowth of the concept of Progressive Patient Care and increasing interest in health care planning which has developed over the past two decades. Flagle (1969) approaches health service as an ecological system in which a complete range of services and facilities is provided to meet the health needs of the individual, with rational and sensitive means of co-ordinating and timing the application of these services. As well, the system must have a variety of services to meet the needs of the whole population, with administrative mechanisms capable of forecasting health needs and planning and acting to meet them.

Health service as a system, unfortunately, has been approached segmentally through its elements, without overall acceptance and application

-11-

of the system concept. Public and governmental concern over spiralling cost and inadequate alternatives to institutional care has made it imperative that experimentation, innovation and new approaches be undertaken to create a goal setting and goal seeking approach to an organized, co-ordinated, planned system. -12-

In an effort to provide a framework for comprehensive analysis, Flagle has developed a model of the Health Care System. Figure 2.1 represents the flow of the population through various elements of the health care system. The model is both deterministic and stochastic, the deterministic process of aging noted by arrows climbing the steps of the population pyramid, the stochastic processes noted by arrows flowing from the population into and between health services in response to accident or illness (p. 717). -13-



The flow of patients may be in any direction, from the population pyramid to any of the care settings, to another care setting or ultimately leaving the system. Three stages identified are the input or admission stage, the throughput or treatment stage, and output or discharge stage. As discussed by Ryder (1971), Flagle's model can be further divided into seven procedures grouped within the three stages. STAGE 1, initial screening or triage and admission, includes two procedures: (1) identification of the total care needs of the patient, and (2) identification of the appropriate environment and services which maximize the probability of success in satisfying the patient's care needs. STAGE 2, the patient care progress in the setting, includes the following procedures: (1) goal setting for the individual patient, (2) providing the most appropriate available resources, (3) monitoring change in patient status and taking appropriate action, and (4) ongoing evaluation of patient progress related to the original goals and revision of the care plan if required. STAGE 3, the discharge component, includes discharge from the system or transfer from one setting to another, based on evaluation of requirements for care.

Patient assessment may be undertaken during any or all of the preceeding procedures. The assessment is a basis on which to make decisions regarding placement and service requirements. Based on the assessment, the patient can be classified into specific groups for multiple c purposes. Ryder notes the current emphasis on the how and who of patient assessment. A great deal of the literature refers to the goal of placing -14-

the patient in the right place at the right time at the right cost, and whereas the decision making should be based on this desideratum, it is clear from studies in the field that there remains a fragmented system.

Early differentiation of patients' needs has been undertaken in the acute hospital setting (Connors, 1961; Sjoberg, 1968). Levels of patient needs, e.g., intensive, intermediate and self care, were the basis on which requirements for nursing staff and services were determined.

Additional components of the Flagle model were developed under the Progressive Patient Care concept (Griffith, Weeks & Sullivan, 1967) which incorporated ambulatory care, home care and extended care.

Concurrent with these developments has been the emphasis on regional planning and, therefore, the requirement for knowledge of the demographic and morbidity characteristics of the population (Preston, White, Strachan & Wells, 1964; Wenkert, Hill & Berg, 1969). Awareness of population needs was utilized in planning the distribution of scarce health care resources, including decisions regarding the development of community programs.

Most of the literature reviewed by this author concentrates on only one component of the system, such as long-term care, or psychiatric care, or rehabilitation without identifying the health care needs of the total population.

SOME APPROACHES TO PATIENT CLASSIFICATION

In order to develop health care programs we must have knowledge of

-15-

the health status of members of the population. This status includes the ability of the whole person to function physically, psychologically, socially and economically. It is essential that methods are developed to assess health status and identify changes in status in order to plan and implement services to work toward a beneficial outcome for population members (Akpom, Katz and Denson, 1973).

Classification by disease category, classification by risk factors, classification by categories of function and classification by health indicies are the major approaches currently in use.

Categorical disease classification such as The International Classification of Diseases, Adapted (ICDA), provides a method of grouping like diseases for reporting purposes and epidemiological surveillance. It is also suitable for indexing hospital record systems and assists with the process of coding, posting and location of records. Its limitations are that the present nomenclature of disease is a poor indicator of the different patterns of disease manifestation, and therefore the severity of illness and disability. This system, then, has a limited role in defining comparable groups of people, and identifying changes in the course of an illness, especially chronic illness (Akpom, 1973). The care needs related to the identified disease process are not identified under this system of classification.

Classification of persons according to the presence of risk factors

surveys. This provides comparable information on the status of the population in relation to a specific illness, e.g., heart disease. Risk factors may include abnormal blood pressure, blood cholesterol and blood sugar levels, as well as a history of chest pain and cough. Again, major limitations have been identified with this system because of current incomplete knowledge of the critical factors of disease and the inability of

the method to identify the related care requirements. As noted by Katz, Ford, Downs and Adams (1969) in relation to chronic disease classification:-

> Components of screening schedules are selected on the basis of their validity as indicators of disease. Since the currently available knowledge about causes and processes of chronic disease is incomplete, indicators are not selected with confidence. Selection of criteria tends to be somewhat arbitrary, and no known screening schedule covers the whole range of chronic diseases. Criteria are included to cover those diseases that are most prevalent, and knowledge about the sensitivity and specificity of component criteria is inadequate. As a result, the problem of false positives and false negatives often confuses the interpretation of screening studies (p.139).

The characteristics of ill patients according to their level of

functioning have received a great deal of attention in the literature. Gersten,

Cenkovich, Dinken and Miller (1966) report on a study carried out in

Colorado to assess the functional ability and outcomes of rehabilitation

patients in the home setting versus those being treated in a clinic. Gurel,

Linn and Linn (1972) developed and tested a system based on the idea of

"Physical and Mental Impairment of Function Evaluation (PAMIE)" for the

quantitative description of a wide range of behaviors relevent to the adult

chronically ill, generally, and to institutionalized geriatric patients, specifically. This approach is closely related to that underlying the Stockton Geriatric Rating Scale (Meer & Baker, 1966) which identifies the day-to-day behavior of geriatric patients in a hospital setting with the objective of determining behavior appropriate for discharge from the institution. Katz's Index of ADL (1970) groups patients according to their levels of dependence in the performance of primary activities of daily living. In this system, patients can be ranked in seven grades of increasing disability according to their level of function in bathing, dressing, going to the toilet, transferring, continence and feeding.

The advantage of classification of ill persons by assessing levels of function is that relatively objective measures can be obtained and that the classifications are sensitive to changes in morbidity. As well, an indication of care requirements can be obtained from knowledge of functional deficits. For populations that have more than one disease entity, the advantage is that homogeneous groups can be identified. This system of classification is multi purpose. As reported by Akpom, it has been successfully used to classify chronically ill people for purposes of rehabilitation, to evaluate home care, in population surveys and in longitudinal studies of patients with specific chronic conditions.

Limitations of the functional level system of classification are its ineffective use in studies related to prevention of onset or development of disease, and its inability to detect minor changes in function. Possibly the major limitation, identified in American as well as Canadian literature, is the multitude of systems based on levels of functioning. Few have gained widespread use and there is no standardization of terminology.

Another major approach to classification is the Index of Health Status which is an attempt to define health in operational terms. Three major objectives of health status indices are discussed by Lerner (1973). Firstly, an index should evaluate the effectiveness of the present health care delivery systems and programs, with special emphasis on those in an experimental phase and those financed with public funds. Secondly, the objective for construction of an index of health status is to evaluate the quality of health services provided by medical practitioners and, thirdly, a scientific objective is to discover the "true" nature of social reality independent of practical application.

Problems inherent in the endeavor to define health in operational terms are related to the multi dimensional or qualitative aspects of health, with many facets which must be inferred. The components or indicators must be identified and weights assigned so that an overall index may be developed. Another problem identified by Lerner is that, when the aggregate of the population whose health is being measured encompasses a community, the health of the community may be more than the aggregate of the health status of individuals who make up that community. "The logic of this is that some significant proportion of the well-being of any individual is intimately associated with the health of his community qua community - the community considered as an entity - because men are social animals and achieve their distinctive humanity, well-being, and health only as members of their community" (Lerner, 1973, p.1). Goldsmith (1972) sees limitations related to the difficulties in conceptualizing what is being measured, as well as difficulties in making value judgements which are valid.

Burack (1965) identified these major types of classification and underlined the need for a broad interrelated classification system which would blend the knowledge of specialized disciplines responsible for the care and management of the geriatric patient. He saw the importance of integrating thoughts, ideas, and goals of medical and para-medical groups into broad general categories which would be meaningful to the individual groups and provide interchange of information for the benefit of the patients' care program. His research group developed a comprehensive classification for the aged which classified the individual medically, functionally, therapeutically and projected the goals to be achieved (p. 1059).

Similar work has been undertaken in Munroe County, New York, where studies were undertaken to identify the extent of need for all levels of health care and the appropriateness of care being received (Williams, Hill, Fairbank & Knox, 1973). Of particular note is their work related to health care in the aged population which utilizes a systematic classification of levels of health care based on both physical and mental assessment, which established a method of judging what level of care an individual required as of the day of the assessment. An internist and a public health nurse reviewed

the data and additional assistance was obtained from a psychiatrist or social worker as needed. Results of the study provided estimates for the number of beds and services required for each level of care for defined populations and also identified the large extent of inappropriateness of placement of many persons in the various levels of care. Through correspondence with Knox, this investigator obtained unpublished material titled "Criteria and Guidelines for Evaluation of Aged or Chronically III Persons for Maintenance at Home or for Placement in an Appropriate Long-Term Care Institution." Although the emphasis is on long-term care, the ten levels of care identified also reflect acute physical and psychiatric needs, as well as the health and/or support services required and the alternate settings for each level. Their "levels" of care correspond to a degree with the Federal W.P.R. "Types" of care. The work of this research group . appears to be the most comprehensive identified in the review of pertinent American literature and correspondence with experts in the field of health care evaluation.

The social, psychological and physical dimensions of functional assessment was the scope with a multi disciplinary approach in studies conducted in Texas by Gaitz and Baer (1970). The focus was on performance as well as the underlying factors to which variations in function may be attributed.

The emphasis in the majority of studies reported is on the <u>assessment</u> component of the classification, without a generalizable

classification component that would place the client in a specific group.

This may point to the fragmentation of the system where the objective in most cases is the appropriate placement of a specific group of patients into institutional sites or ambulatory and/or home care programs. This point was emphasized by Densen at Harvard University in personal conversation, when he referred to "the state of the art" being at the developmental phase, with need for extensive use of their classification system to provide information as to the effect on the patient population and groups in a wide range of care systems.

GOVERNMENT INVOLVEMENT IN PATIENT CARE CLASSIFICATION

CANADIAN-FEDERAL

On the Canadian Federal scene, a Working Party on Patient Care Classification was appointed in early 1972 on the recommendation of the Advisory Committee on Hospital Insurance and Diagnostic Services. Their report was published in November, 1973. The terms of reference were: -

- 1. To develop national uniform criteria for classifying
 - all levels of patient care and to relate these to the types of institutions, facilities or organizations where these levels will be provided.
- 2. To consider the implications of a system of classif
 - ication to the provincial hospital insurance plans
 - (Federal W.P.R., p. IV).
The Working Party recognized the need to classify all levels of patient care, which would include classifying the health and social needs of the total Canadian population. The consensus was that hospitals and institutions are overutilized because many individuals are unable or unwilling to recognize the need for early ambulatory care, and because institutions are utilized when needs could be met by other modes of health care delivery. This overutilization may be based on financial policy, that is, when care is insured in the institutional setting, and not insured in the home environment, individuals will tend to seek the insured programs. As well, the slow development of community-based programs sometimes negates the option of alternate modes of delivery of care. Another factor may be barriers to movement of patients in the system, brought about by lack of beds in the appropriate facility, inability of the spouse or family to care for the individual and/or rejection of appropriate placement for a variety of reasons. Therefore, the classification of needs must be considered at an early stage for the ambulatory person, as well as for those in institutions, to provide for appropriate program placement and identify the need for development of alternative modes of program delivery.

Rather than basing the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u> recommendations on professional or institutional specifications, the emphasis was seen to be on clients' or patients' needs. Three systems of classification were developed to provide "early identification of needs as well as categorizing manifest needs in terms of the type and amount of care required" (p. 6). This procedure would enable resource allocation to be based on the need for

health services, rather than demand. As stated in the Report:-

In general health planning, relevant information about health and social needs of individuals is required so that preventive, curative or restorative services appropriate to needs can be provided at a time when they will have a premium benefit. With a simple and accurate system of identifying individual needs at hand, services can be mobilized to meet manifest needs. Classifying in terms of numbers, types and degrees of care would avail planners with information to organize services on the basis of need rather than current demand (p. 6).

Three universes are covered by the classification systems

identified in the Report. The first system relates to the entire population and provides a method of grouping general health needs into well defined categories. The second system relates to clients or patients with manifest needs for types or kinds of health and social programs. The third classification relates to patients within care settings who require different levels or gradations of care; based on the perceived need. It is underlined in the Report that a fundamental principle is that categories will reflect specific needs and that the needs can be grouped so that services can be provided in the most efficient and effective manner.

The classification systems defined in the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u> are the most comprehensive identified in the investigator's search of the literature. Although the goal is to cover the total spectrum of health and social needs of the population, one limitation appears to be that the Report has not made specific reference to the patient requiring psychiatric care. This may have been intentional, due to the increasing emphasis on the policy of integration of the patient with need for acute psychiatric services into the general acute care stream, and the integration of patients requiring chronic psychiatric care into the long-term care stream; nevertheless, this must be an area for future study and development of the system of classification.

Because the investigator uses the second system of classification, that is, Types of Care and related patient characteristics, as the criterion measure for this study, a more in depth discussion of this component of that system will be undertaken in Chapters III and IV.

CANADIAN-PROVINCIAL

province

Most Canadian provinces have utilized methods for assessment for placing clients in long-term care facilities. In the majority of cases, their assessment systems exclude patients requiring acute care and those persons who can have their needs met in the home environment.

rrespondence with government officials in selected

developing the essment tool based on the "Types of Care" criteria. Dr. R.S. Problemior Medical Consultant in the Ontario Ministry of Health, reported that the sessment is done utilizing a team approach, with the discharge planning nurses acting as co-ordinators. The nurses assimilate all the judgements of the disciplines to provide a comprehensive view of the physical, mental, emotional and psychological needs as well as the home and family relationships which affect placement. <u>Nova Scotia</u>: A draft proposal based on "Types of Care" classification has been suggested for use among all health related agencies. It is similar in all respects to the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u>

<u>Saskatchewan</u>: A joint planning committee of the Departments of Health and Welfare, developed <u>Criteria for Levels of Care for the Province</u> <u>of Saskatchewan</u>, 1969. They identified five levels of care, not including acute care, based on patients' physical, mental and emotional state, the care required, and the staffing component to meet patients' needs. "Levels", as defined in Saskatchewan, compare to "Types" in the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u>, that is, they identify program-placement based on patient needs. However, the patient characteristics within the levels differ from the Types.

British Columbia: Classification of Types of Health Care in British Columbia, Department of Health, 1973, provides for five types of health care with a description of the patients' needs, characteristics, programs and appropriate locations. The process of eligibility and followup assessment of patients in extended care was under revision at the time of correspondence.

<u>Newfoundland</u>: Government officials have produced a document, <u>A Description of Services, Types of Facilities and Nursing Staff for Varying</u> <u>Levels of Health Care</u> (1972). Seven levels of care are outlined, ranging from acute to social care for the aged. To the time of correspondence, no organized method of patient assessment had emerged.

Alberta? Throughout the Alberta system, admission procedures

to long-term care facilities are commenced when a physician documents the patient's condition on a "290 Form" which is then evaluated by a multidisciplinary Admissions Committee. Placement is determined following their recommendation. In three centres, district placement officers for extended care, who are registered nurses, coordinate the placement activities,

Since 1973, the Alberta Hospital Association has conducted a twice yearly Provincial Patient Census, utilizing the patient characteristics and typology from the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u> All patients in the province's hospitals and nursing homes are classified by medical and nursing staff. Findings show a significant percentage of patients receiving care in other than the appropriate site (Flathman, 1973).

A research project on Patient Classification by Types of Care, under the auspices of the University of Alberta and the Alberta Hospital Services Commission, is currently being developed for grant approval by Health and Welfare Canada, Research Programs Directorate. The major thrust of the research is the development and validation of a classification tool with preparation for a demonstration project in the final phase. If approved, the project will cover a two and one-half year period. In conjunction with the research project, the Alberta Hospital Services Commission plans to implement information and education programs related to the "Types of Care" concept. These programs are directed toward professional associations and health care institutions as well as the public. -27-

AMERICAN

Recent legislation in the United States calls for "the need for demonstration and evaluation of alternate methods of caring for chronically ill and elderly patients" (Jones, 1973, p. iii). Similar concerns were expressed in recommendations of the Commission on Chronic Illness in the United States in the early 1950's when it saw the need for development of uniform criteria and terminology in the assessment of long-term care patients (Ryder, 1971). Many research projects have been identified in this literature search which were supported by Government funds towards this goal.

A series of workshops sponsored by the U.S. Public Health Service during the years 1965-69 focused on the feasibility of developing a uniform system of patient assessment. It became evident that, rather than combining systems already in use, it would be necessary to carry out comprehensive, in-depth research. An outgrowth of these meetings was a collaborative project undertaken by four research groups to develop a patient assessment system to be used for a variety of purposes and in particular in the longterm care field (Jones, 1973). Financed by a HEW Research grant, the studies resulted in the development of a Patient Classification System and a User's Manual, which it is hoped will have widespread use, and , through uniform patient assessment will provide data which can be evaluated to show the effect on patient groups in different care systems. Field experience will also lead to improvement in the classification tools. The classification system is designed to produce information for the purpose of program evaluation, individual patient care, resource allocation in single institutions and the community as a whole, planning, policy determination, research, and teaching in the chronic disease field (Jones, 1973, p. iii). It is this investigator's impression that the emphasis in this work is <u>assessment</u> rather than classification, the term used by the authors. The grouping of patients (or classification) appears to be by placement location where needs can be met, rather than by groups of patients with like needs which might be met in a variety of settings, i.e., the home, ambulatory program environment or institutional setting.

<u>COMPONENTS OF A MULTI-DIMENSIONAL</u> <u>CLASSIFICATION</u>

As reported by Jones (1973), a fundamental requirement of a classification system is that the linguistic base is well defined, clearly understood and systematically used. To promote reliability and validity, the conceptual framework of the system should be stated and the characteristics of the classification's components identified. The descriptors used in the <u>Patient</u> <u>Classification for Long-Term Care</u>, (1973) are, firstly, patient oriented. They should describe the patient as he is, in his usual environment, with programs and services currently being provided. This includes, for

example, his functional status in relation to physical activities of daily living (ADL).

-29-

Secondly, the descriptors should be multi-dimensional. There is a need for information about the patient's status from several points of view. For example, information regarding physical function, impairments, medical risk factors and sociodemographic status provides a more accurate assessment base than using a single perspective. A major limitation of the above classification system is the lack of descriptors related to psychological functional status which often is a critical factor in assessment, classification and placement decisions. 30

Thirdly, the descriptors should be stated in objective rather than subjective terms. This criterion is essential if reliability or reproduceability is to be obtained when the classification is carried out in a variety of settings. The use of "ability" or "capacity" is not acceptable, both because of its subjective nature and the more practical point that assessment of nonobservable phenomena is unreliable. In order to meet the criterion of objectivity the use of "prognosis" or "potential for improvement" is not permitted by the researchers, although knowledge of it would be helpful.

Fourthly, the descriptors must be relevant for the purposes of the classification. "Relevance is determined primarily by significance for potential outcomes - mortality and specified measures of morbidity, including functioning status - as demonstrated by epidemiologic research" (Jones, 1973, p. 7). This criterion was a limiting factor in the work reported by Jones, as only determiners related to patient outcome are included in the

standardized list, however, other determiners may be added to provide additional information.

The assessment portion of multi-dimensional classification systems studied by this author have in common a section on the medical status of the patient and a section related to physical functioning. Many also incorporate a section related to the psychological or mental status.

The medical assessment identifies whether or not the patient has a disease and what impact the disease condition has on the clinical state and prognosis of the patient (Burack, 1965). Risk factor measurements, impairments and medically defined conditions are considered to be the medical status profile of the patient in the classification system described by Jones (1973).

The Geriatric Rehabilitation program in Illinois uses a medical history and physical examination as well as a social history, and impression of the psychological functioning and history of hospitalizations, as the basis for admission into the program (Gordon, Kohn, Sloan, Peavyhouse, Anderson, Wagner, Roberts, Young & Elfenbaum, 1962).

The medical component of assessment is ensured under the Assessment and Placement Services (APS) at Hamilton, Ontario. The direct involvement of a physician who is the medical director assures liaison with all physicians in the community, involvement with clinical aspects of referrals to APS, development of policies and guidelines, assistance to assessment consultants and consultation with all physicians in the community who refer patients to APS (Barker & Bayne, 1974).

The functional status component of assessment is well documented

in a variety of studies. The Index of Independence in Activities of Daily

Living (Index of ADL) was developed "as a measure of function which could be used in objective evaluation of chronically ill and aging populations" (Katz, Downs, Cash & Grotz, 1970, p. 20). As reported in many articles by Katz, the Index has been used as a tool to accumulate information about prognosis, and about the dynamics of disability and aging; to assess the need for care; to determine effectiveness of treatment; and as a teaching aid in rehabilitation. The Index of ADL summarizes the overall performance in six functional areas, namely, bathing, dressing, toileting, transfer,

continence and feeding. As described by Katz (1970), the assessment procedure is carried out as follows:-

By means of a series of questions and observations, the observer forms a mental picture of the patient's ADL status as it existed during a 2-week period preceding the evaluation. The observer determines whether another person assisted the patient or whether the patient functioned alone, defining assistance as active personal assistance, directive assistance, or supervision. The actual existence of such assistance is considered in the evaluation, not the potential or ability of the patient. Thus for example, overprotective assistance is defined as assistance although the observer considers the patient as more able; and refusal to perform a function is considered non functioning although the patient is deemed able (p. 20),

Observations are tabulated on a three point scale and then converted into the seven categories of the Index, which indicates the degree of dependency.

A review of the rehabilitation literature carried out by Bruett

and Overs (1969) · identified twelve ADL scales developed since 1951.

Designed by medical and para-medical professionals, the purpose of the ADL scales was to inventory the degree of ability of patients with impairment, including hemiplegia and other chronic disabilities. Three reasons for constructing APL scales were noted, similar to those discussed by Katz, and the methodology and measures for reliability and validity studies were outlined. Of the twelve studies analyzed, five used a three step scale, four used a two step scale and three used a five step scale. Measurement of two to twelve activities were included which identified functional status in the natural environment.

Other studies on patient classification discussed the need for assessing the functional status of the patient (Akpom, 1973; Albers, 1969; Bayne, 1972; Bloom, 1970; Burack, 1965; Dinnerstern, 1965; Ellwood, 1966; Gaitz, 1970; Gurel, 1972).

The components of assessment related to mental and psychological functioning are documented by, among others, Bloom (1971), Gurney (1972), Meer (1966), and Wechsler (1945). Problems in mentation related to orientation, memory, comprehension, judgement and integration of facts and ideas may appear individually or in combination and may be intermittent or constant. The most common diseases affecting mentation are stroke and cerebral arteriosclerosis in the chronic care patient. Some patients are aware, to some degree, of their deficits which causes worry and development of defensive mechanisms to cope with the situation. As reported by Bloom (1971), denial of the problems may occur more in the maximally deficient ·33-

than those minimally so. Denial, if present, makes it difficult to accurately assess the level of function.

Most patients, and especially the elderly, tend to become confused or delirious in the course of acute physical illness. Some of the causes identified are stroke, cerebral hypoxia, acute infections, metabolic upsets, surgical operations, fractures, head injuries and over-utilization of drugs. Outcomes of acute confusion are recovery of mental equilibrium in a short period, death brought on by the physical illness, or permanent inpairment referred to as chronic brain syndrome (Kyle, 1974). Therefore, the need for assessment of mental and psychological functioning in the acute care setting is obvious.

As reported by Gurel (1972), "a viable technology for the systematic recording of behaviour in non-psychiatric chronically ill populations is presently more a hope than a reality" (p. 83). Many published studies in this area tend to neglect the aspect of functional status relating to behavior and disturbed mental processes.

In conclusion, the literature on components of Patient Care Classification Systems stresses three major areas: medical status, physical functioning and, to a lesser degree, psychological or mental functional status. Other areas discussed are socio-demographic and economic components which may have an impact on the placement process. -34-

SUMMARY OF THE LITERATURE REVIEW

The major emphasis of this chapter has been a discussion of patient care classification as an integral component of a systems model of health care delivery. Approaches to classification with related advantages and disadvantages, as well as the components of the multi-disciplinary classifications were identified. Government involvement, including American and Canadian, both Federal and Provincial, was studied. It would seem that patient care classification is one method of facilitating the goal of having the patient in the right place, with the right service, at the right time. Relevant information as to the health and social needs of individuals is a requirement for rational health planning in order to mobilize services to meet manifest needs, rather than to meet current demand. 35-

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

THE BASIC RESEARCH DESIGN

The objective of the study is to construct an instrument to assess and classify patients into the five Types of Care as defined in the <u>Federal W. P. R.</u> and to test the instrument by use of a clinical analytical survey. The five major stages of the study are as follows: (1) construction of the instrument, (2) a pretest of the instrument, (3) revision of the instrument and development of a User's Manual based on findings of the pretest, (4) a clinical analytical survey, and (5) analysis of the survey data to determine the characteristics of the study population and ascertain the degree of reliability and validity of the instrument by applying parametric and nonparametric statistical procedures. We shall now turn to an in depth description of these stages of the research design.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE INSTRUMENT

An intensive review of the literature and correspondence with government officials and researchers in Canada and the United States provided basic knowledge of the assessment systems currently in use, or in the developmental stage. Assessment instruments provided in the Appendix of the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u> were also helpful in determining the variables necessary for providing data which would permit discrimination between Types of Care. One factor that had to be kept in mind was the necessity of utilizing variables which would be applicable to patients with acute care needs as well as those requiring long term care. Because no classification systems have been developed related to Types of Care, professional judgement of health care specialists plus assistance from statistical experts were used as adjuncts in developing applicable variables.

A small pilot test was carried out and changes in the instrument made, based on assessors' omissions and misinterpretations. A meeting with representatives from administrative, nursing and social work staffs of the institutions involved in the study was held and suggestions for changes were received by the investigator. Following further revision, a pretest was

undertaken, using the instrument in its modified form (c.f. Appendix 1).

An inter rater reliability study of the pretest, as well as a validity study of the classification portion of the instrument and statistical procedures to show meaningful patterns of relationship among the independent and dependent variables, indicated an acceptable degree of reliability and validity. Nevertheless, it was felt that reliability and validity could be improved by the inclusion of additional assessment variables and the development of a User's Manual which would provide operational definitions for every category of each variable. Depending heavily on the work of Jones (1973), the investigator prepared a manual, a copy of which was provided for each assessor involved in the survey (c.f. Appendix 3);-

The instrument used in the survey was comprised of independent variables (the assessment determiners) and the dependent variables (classification determiners) (c.f. Appendix 2).

1.2

THE INDEPENDENT VARIABLES

The assessment component of the instrument is broken down into five sections: (1) Identification, (2) Medical Status, (3) Physical Functioning, (4) Psycho-Social Functioning, and (5) Service Requirements.

Identification includes biographical data, location, amount and source of psycho-social support, whether or not the patient is awaiting alternate placement, time on the waiting list, placement requested, and deterrents to the optimum placement. The degree of dependency on supervision is also included, which the investigator perceived to be related to present location and/or optimum placement. The second section, related to medical status. attempts to identify factors related to the medical status profile of the patient. Major items include: acute diagnosis, not yet diagnosed, chronic conditions, severity of impairment at the present time and a prediction for three months and one year, whether or not the clinical condition is stable, major health risks, potential for improvement through coordinated rehabilitation programs, and the time span between reassessment of the care program. By using several items, including diagnosis, the investigator attempted to identify groups of patients who, because of their present medical status and with some prediction of future status, will exhibit similar needs for care now and in the future.

The third section, Physical Functioning, provides information regarding the degree of impairment of the patient in three senses: sight, hearing and speech. The remainder of the section refers to Activities of Daily Living, that is, activities that are common to all human beings and that are necessary for basic social existence. Section 4, Psycho-Social Functioning, refers to the ability of the patient to perform basic social functions in a manner appropriate to his environment. Variables relate to communication, behaviour,

memory, judgen and initiative in participating in social activities. The finance of the section is an attempt to provide information regarding the the seatments required by the patient. The professional health canonics as assessor, with input from others, defines the

service reacher emperature that the patient could benefit from. These requirements may already ponents of the care he is receiving and/or they may be requirement of provided, would assist the patient to maintain or increase his functional could be optimal level.

To superize, the assessment component of the instrument is comprised of a super determiners which are patient oriented, multidimensional in content, objectively stated and precisely defined. The majority of assessment items are scaled to ascriminate among patients according to their degree of dependency; from a super minimum, to high dependency.

THE DEPENDENT VARIABLES

The classification component of the instrument is made up of three classes of determiners: Types of Care, sites where patients' needs can best be met, and programs needed for those patients whose needs can be met in a non-institutionalized setting.

The Types of Care and related patient characteristics are used verbatum from the <u>Federal W.P.R</u>. To avoid misinterpretations, the

description of the Types are quoted below, directly from the Report:

Type I Care

is that required by a person who is ambulant and/or independently mobile, who has decreased physical and/or mental facilities, and who requires primarily supervision and/or assistance with activities of daily living and provision for meeting psycho-social needs through social and recreational services. The period of time during which care is required is indeterminate and related to the individual condition.

Type II Care -

is that required by a person with a relatively stabilized (physical or mental) chronic disease or functional disability, who, having reached the apparent limit of his recovery, is not likely to change in the near future, who has relatively little need for the diagnostic and therapeutic services of a hospital but who requires availability of personal care on a continuing 24 hour basis, with medical and professional nursing supervision and provision for meeting psycho-social needs. The period of time during which care is required is unpredictable but usually consists of a matter of months or years.

Type III Care -

is that required by a person who is chronically ill and/or has a functional disability (physical or mental), whose acute phase of illness is over, whose vital processes may or may not be stable, whose potential for rehabilitation may be limited, and who requires a range of therapeutic services, medical management and skilled nursing care plus provision for meeting psycho-social needs. The period of time during which care is required is unpredictable but usually consists of a matter of months or years.

Type IV Care -

is that required by a person with relatively stable disability such as congenital defect, post-traumatic deficits or the disabling sequelae of disease, which is unlikely to be resolved through convalescence or the normal healing process, who requires a specialized rehabilitative program to restore or improve functional ability. Adaptation to this impairment is an important part of the rehabilitative process. Emotional problems may be present and may require psychiatric treatment along with physical restoration. The intensity and duration of this Type of Care is dependent on the nature of the disability and the patient's progress, but maximum benefits usually can be expected within a period of several months. -41

Type V Care -

()

is that required by a person:

 (a) who presents a need for investigation, diagnosis or for definition of treatment requirements for a known, or unknown, or potentially serious condition; and/or

(b) who is critically, acutely, or seriously ill (regardless of diagnosis) and whose vital processes may be in precarious or unstable state; and/or,

 (c) who is in the immediate recovery phase or who is convalescing following an accident, illness or injury and who requires a planned and controlled therapeutic and educational program of comparatively short duration.

The numerical system in its progression from Type I to Type V reflects the increasing qualifications, numbers and variety of staff, increased costs and increased complexity of services required (Federal W.P.R., pp.25-27).

It can be seen that patient characteristics and related needs are the

criteria which determine the Type of Care and the program placement

requirements. Once the patient is admitted to the appropriate location or

program, further assessment is required to augment the information in order

to identify problems, set objectives and define a treatment plan to meet the

physical and psycho-social needs of the patient. Further discussion of the

specific patient characteristics related to each Type of Care will be undertaken

in the section dealing with content validity in Chapter IV.

The second set of dependent variables are related to the sites where the needs of the patient can best be met. They range from the home, boarding home or senior citizens' lodge with appropriate support services, to long term care facilities, specialized hospitals for rehabilitation or psychiatric care, and to the acute care general hospital. There are three central modes of health care delivery within each Type of Care. That is, a home care component in which services are brought to the patient in his home; ambulatory services, in which the patient utilizes services and programs on an out-patient basis; and inpatient services, in which patients with similar needs are grouped together in an institutional setting. Based on the patient's medical status, physical and psycho-social functioning and socio-demographic considerations, a decision must be made as to the suitable mode of delivery of health and social services. This decision should be made with input from the patient, the family, the physician, social workers and nurses who may all bring a separate viewpoint which will potentially assist in making the most accurate placement. An operating principle should be that if there is disagreement as to the appropriate Type of Care, the more complex kind of care should be the one chosen (Federal W.P.R., 1973, p. 44). Ongoing evaluation and assessment should be undertaken to check the effectiveness of placement as the patient's needs change over time.

Finally in this study, the programs required by patients in noninstitutional settings are considered to be dependent variables. The assumption is that if a patient is in an institutional environment, treatments and therapy as -42-

identified in the assessment component of the instrument are available to meet his needs. However, those who can remain at home or be transferred to the home environment may require community programs which now exist or, on the other hand, should be developed.

To summarize, the dependent variables are the classification component of the instrument. Based on the assessment of medical status, physical and psycho-social functioning and knowledge of the patient's social milieu, as well as an in depth knowledge of the definitions and patient characteristics of each

Care, the site where needs could best be met and community programs required by those in a non-institutional site.

Type of Care, the assessor classifies the patient into the appropriate Type of

THE POPULATION

The population for the clinical analytical survey, with the exception of pediatric and obstetrical patients, included all individuals institutionalized on the study day in the general and auxiliary hospitals and two nursing homes. Also included were individuals in their home or in the senior citizens' lodge who were awaiting placement in the long-term care facilities. A total of 490 persons were included in the study.

THE ASSESSORS

As reported in the literature, the two most common methods of gathering data regarding the overall status of patients are: (1) evaluation by a specialized research team who may assess the patient in his usual environment, or by taking him to a clinic setting and (2) evaluation by staff members who are

familiar with all aspects of the patient because of their close contact (Gurely, 1972; Meer & Baker, '1966). The latter method was chosen for use in this study for several reasons. First, the nurses who have contact with the patient are in the best position to assess the physical and psycho-social functioning of the patient. They also have an opportunity to meet family members and so there is the potential of their having an awareness of socio-demographic factors. Second, community health nurses are familiar with the assessment of patients' needs in the home environment, therefore, their involvement is valuable for evaluation of patients awaiting placement in the long term care facilities. Third, the nurses are in the best position to obtain input to the assessment from physicians, social workers, rehabilitation professionals, the patient and his family. Major emphasis is placed on the interdisciplinary approach to assessment and classification, that is, the involvement of as many individuals concerned as possible, to provide the most accurate assessment of current need and a prediction for future requirements for care. Another aspect which might be considered as "spin off" value in using nurse assessors is the benefit of users' involvement: the study provides an opportunity for an objective look at the overall aspects of patient care and a critical evaluation of the programs and services currently being provided. Feedback to the investigator indicated the need for this kind of exercise, even without reports related to frequency distributions or any statistical analysis. Finally, a research team, including experts from several health professions, was not available because of, among other factors, financial constraints. Even without these constraints, the investigator would have chosen nurse assessors because

of their intimate knowledge of the patients.

A caution must be expressed to the reader. Everyone involved, including the assessors, brings to the study past experience, different perceptions, understanding and expectations which may influence their approach. Just as this can be an asset, it may also be considered as a limitation. When perceptions become static, a willingness to accept the status quo develops, rather than the willingness to look for potential for change or alternatives to current practice. Orientation of the assessors stressed the need to evaluate the alternatives related to program-placement, in order to make the optimum decision on which to base the most efficient and effective care.

THE PRETEST

Following verbal orientation of the assessors, a pretest was carried out on a chosen study day, to assess and classify patients in the general hospital (excluding pediatric and obstetrical patients), auxiliary hospital, two nursing homes, and those individuals awaiting placement in the long-term care facilities. As well, all admissions to the general hospital for one week following the study day were included, to help identify any potential need for ambulatory care programs. A total of 542 patients were assessed for the pretest survey. This would appear to be an unnecessarily large population to use for purposes of a pretest. However, the community planners were interested in obtaining an estimate of the population characteristics. The information obtained was given to the health planner with the caution that, unless the instrument was found to be reliable and valid, the data could not be considered a true reflection of the population under study. Nurses and a small number of social workers involved in the care of the patients acted as assessors.

The purpose of the pretest was to provide a beginning test of the use of the instrument and to gather data on which statistical procedures could be undertaken in order to get a beginning indication of the degree of reliability and validity which could be expected from use of the instrument. It also afforded the investigator an opportunity to become familiar with the method of conducting a clinical analytical survey as well as applying the statistical procedures required.

<u>REVISION OF THE INSTRUMENT AND DEVELOPMENT OF</u> <u>A USER'S MANUAL</u>

Findings based on data from the pretest indicated an acceptable degree of reliability and some indication of validity. However, it was perceived that these levels could be improved. Therefore, based on suggestions from the users, more in depth analysis of instruments discussed in the literature and input from experts in the field, additional variables were developed to enhance the discriminability of patients into the five Types of Care. The additional variables may be identified by a comparative analysis of the instruments found in Appendices 1 and 2.

A problem identified by the investigator as well as by the assessors related to the specific meanings of each category within the items. For example, what does "some help" refer to in relation to walking? One

assessor may perceive this term to mean the use of crutches, whereas

another may think it means the help of one or more persons to assist the patient to ambulate. Although there was an attempt to verbally interpret the meaning of each category to the assessors at the orientation meeting prior to the pretest, it was the general concensus that this approach was inadequate.

Therefore, the development of a User's Manual was undertaken for use in the survey.

The work instituted in the United States by Dr. Paul Densen and associates from four research groups was heavily relied on for developing the framework and content of the User's Manual. It must be noted that many of the operational definitions are used verbatum from their User's Manual prepared by Jones (1973). A discussion of the purpose of the study, background information and the method used to assess the patients was included, as well as the operational definitions related to each variable (See Appendix 3).

THE SURVEY

The clinical analytical survey was undertaken. This provided a "snap shot" view of the patient characteristics and related program placement requirements of the study population on the day of the survey. The physical and psycho-social functional status of the patients receiving acute care was determined as of that day; the usual status in the past two weeks was the basis for assessment of the long-term care patients.

Previous to an orientation meeting, copies of the instrument and User's Manual were distributed to the assessors so that they might become familiar with the study objectives, the variables and related operational definitions, as well as the Types of Care and related patient characteristics. Thus, they were prepared to ask questions regarding areas which were unclear. This preparation was done and clarification provided so that, from feedback at the meetings, the investigator was confident that the nurse assessors had a good understanding of their role in the survey.

Data was gathered on the day of the study or as soon after as possible, considering the large number of assessments which had to be done by one nurse, especially in the nursing homes. A community health nurse and the Regional Long-Term Care Assessment Officer were responsible for the assessment of individuals in their homes and in the Senior Citizens' Lodge. The Assessment Officer also acted as coordinator of the project and was available on the study day to help any assessors who required assistance. Table 3.1 shows the job categories of the assessors in each of the study locations.

Timing studies indicated that the average assessment for acute care patients took approximately five minutes, ten minutes for patients in the longterm care facilities and approximately thirty minutes in the home or lodge environment. The latter time reflects the fact that the assessor had less prior knowledge of the information required in the assessment of these individuals.

The completed instruments were returned to the coordinator who checked them for missing data. If any were found, the form was returned to

the assessor to complete. This was the only purpose of having the assessor's

name on the instrument. The completed instruments were then sent to the

investigator who coded them in preparation for key punching.

TABLE 3.1 JOB CATEGORY OF ASSESSOR BY LOCATION OF PATIENTS

 $\mathbf{N}=\mathbf{490}$

	Director of Nursing			General Duty Nurse		Assessment Officer	Tota
General						<u> </u>	LUIA
Hospital	0	10	88	42	· 0	0	140
Auxiliary		+					
Hospital	15	63	9	0	0	0	87
Riverview Nursing Home	127	Ö	0	0	0	0	127
Sunnyside Nursing Home	30	0	Q	68	0	0	98
Sr. Citizen Lodge	s' 0	0	0	0	0	6	6
Home	<u> </u>		0	• 0	3	5	8
Other	0		<u> </u>	0	Ó	1	1
TOTAL	172	73	· 97	110	3	12	467
Missing Ol	servations	3 = 23					

CODE VALUES FOR VARIABLES IN STUDY DATA

In order to be able to have a clear understanding of the descriptive as

well as the statistical analyses, the reader is referred to Appendix 4 which

49-

identifies the coding system for the study data. An explanation of the transformation of some variables, some categories of variables and the formation of dummy variables will now be undertaken.

To determine the length of stay, time on waiting list and the age of the patient, variables were transformed and categories created from date of admission, date of request for placement and year of birth to the above. Length of stay contains categories 1 to 8, from shortest to longest stay, as shown in Table 4.2. Time on waiting list was divided into categories 1 to 4 and age into categories 1 to 7, as shown in Tables 4.4 and 4.6.

Missing values were originally coded 0 for the computer programs which would handle them. When doing factor analysis and discriminant analysis, no missing data are allowed in the variables being used for the analysis, therefore, further recoding was done in order to maintain the highest population as possible. Manipulation of several variables was undertaken to change missing data to the category of the variable with the highest frequency so that data for all the variables related to that patient would not be lost. In the following items, the missing data were transformed to the first category: 4, 14, 15(a), 17, 19(b) and (c), 20 (a) and (b), 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 27, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33(b), 34, 36, 37(a)(b) and (c). Items 15(b) and (c) and 38 had missing values transformed to the second category, item 10 to the third category, and item 18 to the fourth category.

With the exception of items 26 and 27 relating to bladder and bowel function, all items in Section C had three categories. Therefore, transformation of the above two variables was done to group like categories to make a ·50-

total of three. In the case of bladder function it was decided that categories 3, 4 and 5 constituted a major problem, so these were amalgamated. For bowel function, a patient who has an ostomy but needs no assistance was grouped with those in the first category. Those with an ostomy who require assistance were grouped with those in the second category. With these transformations, all items in Section C were analyzed with codes 1, 2 and 3 for no problem, some problem, major problem categories, respectively.

For purpose of factor analysis and discriminant analysis with Bayesian Classification, it was necessary to construct dummy variables to cause new variables to be formed from the values or categories of certain variables. A dummy variable is one that has only two values; 1 for presence of the characteristic in question, and 0 for its absence. Types of Care was changed to five dummy variables, one for each Type of Care. The variable site was changed to make six dummy variables, one for each location when home, boarding home and lodge were combined. The variable related to behavior was changed to make two dummy variables, wander and abusive, which were the two most critical categories of the original variable.

RELIABILITY STUDIES

The term reliability means the consistency with which a set of item responses measure whatever they do measure (Ebel, 1972).

Any research based on measurement must be concerned with accuracy, dependability, repeatability or reliability of the measurement. Many researchers regard reliability as a minor step in the preparation of the more important studies of validity. Although a measure which is reliable is not

necessarily valid, we must recognize that, for an instrument to be valid, it

must also be reliable. As Ebel states:"

Clearly, a test (instrument item) that measures accurately what it is intended to measure also measures with equal or greater accuracy whatever it does measure. Hence to the degree that a test is valid it must also be reliable. Further, a test (instrument item) cannot measure what it is intended to measure more accurately than it measures whatever it <u>does</u> measure (Ebel, 1972, p. 444).

The emphasis on item reliability in this study is based on its usefulness for instrument construction and revision. By such analysis the investigator is able to identify the strength or weakness of each item in terms of its consistency or repeatability.

"The preferred way to find out how accurate one's measures are is to make two independent measurements and compare them" (Cronbach, 1951, p. 297). The reliability study reported here was carried out by the inter-rater method, i.e., two independent raters assessed the same patient. Because of the cost of assessors' time involved in duplication of the data collection for the reliability study, a stratified random sample was selected out of the study population of 490 patients. The total sample size selected was 100 patients which was deemed sufficient to provide stable estimates of item reliabilities.

STRATIFICATION OF SAMPLE

Because of the variation in the population size in the various institutions and on the waiting list, Neyman's Allocation Formula was used for efficient allocation of the sample to each stratum (Raj, 1972, p. 52). Using Neyman's formula, the sample size N_h , for stratum h is proportional to N_hS_{yh}/\sqrt{Ch} , where C_h is the time taken per unit in the stratum, N_h is the number of units in the stratum and S_{yh} is the standard deviation. The standard deviation of the item STAY from the pretest, broken down by location, as a proxy for Types of Care, was used as the criterion variable because it was found to be the most discriminating interval variable in the pretest findings. The cost (or time) taken for collecting information differed from stratum to stratum, therefore, the sample size taken from a stratum was small if the time taken for collection information was large.

Bed numbers within each institution were chosen by use of random numbers and the patients in these beds were used for the inter-rater study. Individuals awaiting placement were chosen at random from their position on the waiting list. The occupancy in the long-term facilities was 100%, and approximately 90% in the general hospital. Adjustments were made accordingly so that if a bed was chosen with no patient, there would still be a patient sample size of approximately 100. Table 3.2 shows the calculations and distribution of patients for the inter-rater study.

Ŷ

TABLE 3.2

STRATIFICATION OF BEDS BY LOCATION FOR INTER-RATER RELIABILITY STUDY

	# of Beds ^N h	St.Dev. S _{yh}	Cost (Time) C _h	Allocation Formula N _h .S _{vh} //C _h	Allocated Sample (Patients)	% Occupancy	Allccated Sample (Beds)
General Hospital	195	1.182	5	103.1	40	90%	45
Auxiliary Hospital	91	2.054	10	- 59,1	23	100%	23
Riverview Nursing Home	130	1.318	10	54.2	21	100%	21
Sunnyside Nursing Home	95	1.137	10	34.2	13	100%	13
Waiting List	25	1.372	30	6,27	3	100%	3
TOTALS	536			256.87	100		105

ANALYSIS OF THE INTER-RATER DATA

Data collected in the reliability study are analyzed to provide bivariate tables comparing the ratings of one assessor to another. A number of statistics were applied to test or measure the extent of reliability of each item. These statistics included chi square and its degrees of freedom, the contingency coefficient C, phi coefficient or Cramer's V, Kendall's Rank Correlation Tau for ordinal variables, and the percentage of agreement on the item by two

raters or assessors.

A chi square analysis to test the lack of statistical association between

the two ratings is appropriate for data obtained when two responses are measured on each item. The contingency coefficient C, a measure of the extent of association or relationship between the data obtained from the two independent assessors, is calculated to adjust the chi square for chi square plus N. Its values range from 0 to .707 for a 2 x 2 table; but the upper limit changes size as the table size increases. Therefore, comparison of values

The statistic phi is used to make a correction for the fact that the value of chi square is directly proportional to that of N by adjusting the X^2 value. For a 2 x 2 table, its values range from 0, when there is no relationship, to 1, when the relationship between the two variables is perfect. When phi is calculated on a table which is not 2 x 2, it has no upper limit. Therefore, Cramer's V is used to adjust phi for either the number of rows or columns which exceed 2. Its values will range from 0 to 1 regardless of the size of the table. When the table being tested is 2 x 2, the value of Cramer's V will equal the value of phi (Nie; Bent; Hull, 1970).

Those variables which are considered to be ordinal are tested by Kendall's Rank Correlation Tau which is a measure of disarray. Kendall's coefficient of rank correlation is defined as the obtained value of disarray divided by its maximum possible value. It has a value of -1 when the paired ranks are in an inverse order, and a value of +1 when the paired ranks are in the same order (Ferguson, 1971).

The final measure reported on the inter-rater reliability study is the percent agreement between the two assessors. The total of perfect

agreements for each category of a variable is divided by N and multiplied by 100. These percentage agreements are then added together and divided by the number of variables to obtain an overall mean percentage agreement. In those cases where the percentage agreement of a single category of a variable is required, the method is as follows: the number of agreements is multiplied by 2 and divided by the row, plus the column totals, and multiplied by 100. It must be noted that a high overall percentage agreement on any item does not necessarily imply high agreement on each category of the item.

None of the above measures can be considered equivalent to the so-called "reliability coefficient" of test theory (Ebel, 1972, p. 416), which is a variance ratio between 0 and 1, although both Cramer's V and Kendall's Tau must also be between 0 and 1. The reason for this nonequivalence is that the data of this study do not conform to the requirement of interval scale measurement assumed by test theory for defining a reliability coefficient, hence, other measures of reliability are used.

VALIDITY STUDIES

"Validity is a criterion for evaluating the quality of the data. Data are valid if they actually measure what they are supposed to measure. Another term for validity is relevance" (Abdellah & Levine, 1965, p. 712). Many other definitions exist for this quantitative concept. As stated by Ebel (1967), there are a variety of definitions with some similarities, but also important divergencies. For example, there are those which deal with correlation with a criterion (Gulliksen, 1950), an estimation of a corrected -56-

correlation coefficient (Cureton, 1951), those which avoid statistical terms, stressing accuracy in relation to the user's intent (Lindquist, 1941), those which relate validity to utility (Edgerton, 1949), as well as those related to the interpretability of the scores (Cronbach, 1960). It can be seen that it is "difficult to state in words a core meaning common to all the various definitions of test validity" (Ebel, 1967, p. 220).

The basic question to be answered in validity studies is the degree to which the instrument or test measures what it is supposed to measure. However, the underlying question is -- do we actually know what we are trying to measure? Have we the ability to measure human characteristics and, for that matter, to define the specific characteristics which are considered to constitute the criterion measure? Only through research and application of the findings of research will we be able to answer these questions with any certainty.

CRITERION MEASURES

For purposes of this study, the criterion measures, or dependent variables, are the Types of Care and related patient characteristics as defined in the <u>Federal W. P. R</u>. No attempt has been made to alter them, although there is reason to believe that there are omissions in relation to coverage of the total spectrum of health and social needs within the population exhibiting morbidity. As such, these criteria may or may not be an "ideal" basis on which to develop a valid instrument. However, they were devised by a group of highly skilled health professionals as a "base upon which to build

classification systems and at the same time encourage further research and

development" (Federal W. P.R., p. 1), and would seem to constitute the most useful ground point for this study, given the "state of the art" at this time. 58

KINDS OF VALIDITY

Studies relating to five kinds of validity were undertaken to identify the accuracy of the data gathered by use of the items in the instrument. A short discussion of the meaning of each kind of validity, plus the methods utilized to identify their degrees of attainment, will be undertaken in the following order: face, content, construct, concurrent and empirical validity. It should be noted at this point that no attempt was made to identify the predictive validity of the instrument. Although the investigator recognizes the importance of the relation of item responses to performance at a later time, it is beyond the scope of the study to undertake predictive dimensions.

<u>Face Validity</u>: Although the concept of face validity has fallen into disrepute in some research circles, it can constitute an indication that, with further study and statistical analysis, validity will be identified. A measure can be "assumed to be valid for the prediction of an external criterion if the items which compose it 'appear on their face' to bear a common-sense relationship to the objective of the test" (Mosier, 1967, p. 208). In the clinical setting, the measure should appear to be practical, pertinent and related to the purpose of the study. The methods used in this study to get an indication of face validity were twofold: (1) individuals involved in the study were given an opportunity to assist in the development and testing of the

instrument; and (2) verbal feedback from board members, administrative
staff, physicians, nurses and social workers was obtained. The instrument has been used in another community since the completion of the original study, a fact which could be interpreted as reflecting the instrument's face validity, in the case of at least one other set of users.

<u>Content Validity</u>: Content validity is defined as being "concerned with the adequacy of sampling of a specified universe of content" (Ebel, 1972, p. 437). In order to ensure that the instrument items were a sample of the universe of items which relate to the objective of the study, an extensive review of the related literature was undertaken. Further, an analysis of patient characteristics defined in the <u>Federal W. P.R.</u> was undertaken, and items were included in the instrument to measure all characteristics mentioned. As well, information was gathered through personal correspondence and interviews with specialists in the areas of health care delivery, test construction and statistical methodology. All these sources were utilized to provide input to instrument development.

<u>Construct Validity</u>: "Construct validation is involved whenever a test is to be interpreted as a measure of some attribute or quality which is not 'operationally defined'" (Cronbach & Meehl, 1967, p. 245). In an attempt to identify the underlying constructs which account for the variance found within the data gathered by use of the instrument, factor analysis was used. "Factor analysis is a method of determining the number and nature of the underlying variables among larger numbers of measures. ... It may also be called a method for extracting common factor variances from a set of measures" (Kerlinger, 1973, p. 659). By use of factor analysis, the Investigator is able to reduce the number of measures to greater simplicity. It shows which measures belong together, which ones measure the same construct and to what degree. Thus, it reduces the number of variables required and helps to "locate and identify unities or fundamental properties underlying tests and measures" (Kerlinger, 1973, p. 659). Two separate factor analyses were done, one relating to the assessment variables, the other to the classification component of the instrument.

6

<u>Concurrent Validity</u>: "Concurrent validity is concerned with, the relation of test scores (instrument items) to an accepted contemporary criterion of performance on the variable that the test (item) is intended to measure" (Ebel, 1972, p. 436). Two methods were used to evaluate the extent of concurrent validity. In the first method, the objective was to determine the concurrent validity of each assessment item by measuring its degree of relationship to the dependent variable, Types of Care. Thus, the first method can be referred to as that of concurrent item validities. In the second method, the investigator attempted to evaluate the overall validity of the assessment and classification by use of discriminant analysis and Bayesian Classification.

Concurrent item validities were determined by cross classification of each assessment item (independent variable) by Types of Care (dependent variable), resulting in chi squares with related degrees of freedom, contingency coefficients C, Cramer's V and Kendall's Rank Correlation Tau. These statistics were produced to test or measure the extent of the item validity by 60-

identifying the relationship between each item and Types of Care. Some characteristics of these statistics have been described in the previous section on Reliability.

Another method of statistical analysis employed which related to concurrent validity was that of discriminant analysis and Bayesian Classification. Discriminant analysis and Bayesian Classification procedures are multivariate techniques based on statistical theory under some assumptions (Bay, 1971). In this study, the objective was to classify each patient into one of five Types of Care, employing known characteristics related to medical status, physical and psycho-social functioning and demographic considerations as the independent variables. •

The assumptions related to the classification procedure are:

(1) The patient to be classified belongs to only one of the Types of Care. "There should not be an ambiguity about the definitions of the groups, they should not overlap each other, and the groups are mutually exclusive and exhaustive of the population, that is, everyone in the population should belong to one group, and none belongs to more than one group or is left without group association" (Bay, Lee; Flathman; & Roll, 1974, p. 4). (2) The population characteristics are known or can be estimated from the information obtained by the items on the instrument which provide predicting power or discriminating capability about the Type of Care in which the patient should be. In other words, the independent variables must have the ability to differentiate group character-istics.

A detailed description of the mathematical considerations related

to discriminant analysis can be found in Cooley and Lohnes (1971) and Dixon (1973). The Biomedical Computer Program BMD07M was used, which is a stepwise discriminant analysis. The description of the program is as follows:

> This program performs a multiple group discriminant analysis. A set of linear classification functions is computed by choosing the independent variables in a stepwise manner. The variable entered at each step is selected by one of four criteria, and a variable is deleted when its F- value becomes too low. Using these functions and prior probabilities the posterior probabilities of each case belonging to each group are computed. The program also computes the coefficients for canonical variables to give a two dimensional picture of the separation of the groups. The groups are evaluated in pairs for significance of differences of means by the F ratio equivalent of Hotelling's T-square. The joint separation of the several groups is summarized in terms of the U-Statistic and its approximately equivalent F (Dixon, 1973, p. 15).

The prior probabilities are based on the sample size of patients within each Type of Care as perceived by the Medicine Hat Assessors. The 74 variables including original and dummy variables chosen for the analysis are those which (1) have no missing data, (2) have adequate variability or number of cases in each category, and (3) were found in the pretest to be the most discriminating variables. As well, not all assessment variables could be chosen because of the BMD07M program limitation of 80 variables. The same 74 variables were used for factor analysis of the assessment variables.

<u>Empirical Validity</u>: "Empirical validity refers to the relation between test scores (item responses) and a criterion, the latter being an

independent and direct measure of that which the test (item response) is

designed to predict" (Ebel, 1973, p. 437). In this respect, one's expertise is considered to be the criterion on which one makes judgements. If the agreement between expert and assessor on classification items is high, the instrument can be considered to contain the items which, without any other knowledge of the subject, provide enough information for precise classification decisions.

In an effort to define the degree of empirical validity, an independent external expert who had been a member of the Federal Working Party-classified a random sample of 100 patients, in order to identify whether or not the item responses from the assessment component of the instrument contained adequate information on which to base decisions regarding the Type of Care required, the site best suited to the needs, and program required if the patient is in the home or lodge environment.

The above random sample was again chosen by use of Neyman's Allocation Formula. For a discussion of the method, the reader is asked to refer back to the section on Reliability. One change must be noted. Because this sample was chosen following the survey, there was no need to stratify by beds. Rather, the stratification was based on the number of patients assessed in each institution and on the waiting list. Again, the standard deviation of the variable STAY was used as a proxy for Types of Care. Table. 3 identifies the sample size from each stratum. The allocated sample, as above, was chosen by use of a table of random numbers. Information about the assessment component of the instrument for each patient selected was given to the expert, and she did a classification of each patient based entirely on that information. Statistics including chi square and its degrees of freedom, contingency coefficients, and percentage agreement were calculated in the manner explained in previous sections.

A three way comparison of the classification by the assessor, the expert and the Bayesian Classification program was also done, which shows the extent of total agreement, the percentage of cases where one method

disagrees when the other two agree, and the extent of total disagreement.

TABLE 3.3

STRATIFICATION OF PATIENTS BY LOCATION

			<u>N = 490</u>			
	Populatión	St. Dev. . S _{yh}		Formula N _h .S _{yh} //C _h		Allocated Sample
General Hospital	161	1,182	5 min	85,10	37.14	37
Auxiliary Hospital	. 86	2,054	10 min	55,86	© 24,37	24
Riverview Nursing <u>Home</u>	128	1.318	10 min	49.18	21.46	21
Sunnyside Nursing Home	98	1,137	 10 min	35.23	15.37	15
Waiting List	15	1,373	<u>30 min</u>	3.76	1.64	3
TOTAL	488		5	229,12	100	100

-64-

SUMMARY

The methodology of the study has been discussed in relation to the

development of the instrument, the pretest, revision of the instrument and

development of the User's Manual, the clinical analytical survey, as well as

the methods used to analyze the data to determine the degree of reliability and

validity of the instrument items. The latter methods are summarized in

tabular form to provide clarity for the reader:-

SUI	TABLE3.4MMARY OF METHODS USED TO T	res t f or
RELIAB	ILITY AND VALIDITY OF INSTRU	MENT ITEMS
	ASSESSMENT ITEMS	CLASSIFICATION ITEMS
<u>RELIABILITY</u> :	Inter-rater item reliabilities by chi square, contingency,co- efficient, phi, Cramer's V and Kendall's Rank Correlation Tau. % agreement.	Inter-rater item reliabilities by chi square, contingency co- efficient, phi, Cramer's V and Kendall's Rank Correlation Tau. % agreement
VALIDITY:		
- Face	Subjective judgement of health personnel who are users.	Approval of <u>Federal W. P.R.</u> by provincial authorities and community users.
- Content	Content analysis related to <u>Fed</u> - eral W.P.R. patient character- istics. Comparison with instru- ments developed for similar purposes.	Content analysis related to <u>Fed-</u> <u>eral W.P.R.</u> Types, Sites and Programs. Provincial Systems Densen research plus extensive literature review.
- Construct	Factor Analysis	Factor Analysis
- Concurrent	1. Concurrent Item Validities: Chi square, Contingency Co- efficient, Cramer's V, Ken- dall's Rank Correlation Tau, in relation to Types of Care.	Concurrent Validities: Chi square, Contingency Coeffic- ient, Cramer's V, Kendall's Pank Correlation Tau, in relation to Types of Care
	2. Overall Concurrent Validity:	Descriminant Analysis
-Empirical		Comparison of assessors' and expert classification by chi square contingency coefficients, % ag- reement
PREDICTIVE	Not Attempted	Not Attempted

CHAPTER IV

PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS OF DATA

The analysis of the data is presented in the following order:

- (1) a descriptive analysis of the characteristics of the population under study,
- (2) identification and discussion of reliability studies undertaken, and (3) pres-

entation of the findings of validity studies.

DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS OF THE POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS

As discussed previously, the study population included patients in four health care institutions and individuals awaiting placement in the long-term care facilities. The total size of the study population was 490. Table 4.1 identifies the location of the patients on the study day. Of these 490 individuals, 476 were

LOCATION OF STUDY POPI	• Frequency	%
Medicine Hat General Hospital	161	32.9
Dr. Dan McCharles Auxiliary Hospital	87	17.8
Riverview Nursing Home	128	26.1
Sunnyside Nursing Home	99	20.2
Senior Citizens' Lodge	6	1.2.
Home	8	1.6
Bow Island General Hospital		0.2

institutionalized and 14 were at home or in the Senior Citizens' Lodge.

The length of stay of inpatients, shown in Table 4.2, does not indicate the total duration of stay, rather, the time the patients had been institutionalized up to the study day. It is of interest that 48.9% of the patients had been in their

current placement for six months or more.

TABLE 4.2

LENGTH OF STAY OF INPATIENTS UP TO STUDY DAY

UP TO STUDY DAY			
	Frequency	%].
2 weeks or less	129	27.6	
2 weeks to one month	46	9.8	
1 month to 3 months	37	8 7.9	ľ
3 months to 6 months	27	5.8	
6 months to one year	-45	9.6	
one year to 3 years	85	18.2	
3 years to 6 years	76	16.2	
6 years or more	23	4.9	
TOTAL	465	100.0	
Missing Observations = 11			••••

The location prior to the current admission, shown in Table 4.3, provides information regarding the admitting patterns within the study population. The largest percentage of patients has been admitted from their urban homes with the second largest group coming from the acute care hospital. The differentiation of rural and urban home is made to indicate the potential impact of community health services in the city or the rural areas if the patients were not institutionalized. -67-

	Frequency	%
Home - Rural	42	8.9
Home - Urban	164	34.9
Acute Hospital	133	28.3
Auxiliary Hospital	77	16.4
Nursing Home	12	2.6
Senior Citizens' Lodge	35	7.4
Psychiatric Facility	5	1.1
Other	2	0.4
TOTAL	470	100.0

A total of 61 patients were awaiting placement in an alternate facility on the study day. Table 4.4 summarizes the length of time patients had been on the waiting list. Nearly 25% had been waiting five months or more for alternate placement, reflecting blockages in the system which may prevent optimum use of facilities and services and cause overservicing or underservicing of patients. Table 4.5 identifies reasons which, singly or in combination, may be found for less than the best placement. The most common deterrent to optimum placement was the inability or unwillingness of the family to care for the patient in the home environment. This may reflect changes in societal values, housing conditions, or, on the other hand, it may point to the need for evelopment of community services to assist patients and their families to cope with the assistance of home care programs.

	•		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
TABLE	4.4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•
, TIME ON WAITING LIST FOR	ALTERNATE P	LACEMENT	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Frequency	₩ ₩
1 month or less		13	22.8
1 month to 3 months		22	38.6
3 months to 5 months	.)	8	14.0
5 months or more		. 14	24.6
TOTAL		57	100.0
Missing Observations = 4			

61

-69

DETERRENTS TO PLACEMENT BASED ON	NEED ^a Frequency	%
None	326	⁷⁰ 66.5
No Bed	54	11.0
Financial	2	4.1
No Home	42	8.6
Family Unable or Unwilling	78	15.9
Reject Placement	9 5	1.8

More than one Deterrent may be noted for a patient

Demographic data are shown in Tables 4.6, 4.7, and 4.8. Over three-quarters of the population (76.2%) are 60 years of age or older, approximately three-fifths (60.2%) are female and a high percentage are widowed

(43.2%).

a

. 4			
· · · ·	TABLE 4.6	, , ,	
			•
	AGE OF STUDY POPULATION	Frequency	%
		riequency	/Q
	0 - 29 years	26	5.4
• • •	30-44 years	27	. 5.6
• •	45-59 years	62	12.8
	60-69 years	60	12.4
•	70-79 years	111	23.0
•	80-89 years	143	29.6
	90 years or more	54	11.2
	TOTAL	483	100.0
	Missing Observations = 7	·····	

.

•

5 . W. . 2

. Q ć

· · · .

-70-

TABLE 4.7		
SEX OF STUDY POPULATION	Frequency	%
Male	195	39.8
Female	295	60.2
TOTAL	4.90	100.0

•

TABL	E 4.8		•	•
MARITAL STATUS OF	F STUDY P	OPULATIC	DN_	•
		0	Frequency	%
Married			180	36.9
Single	• •	•	75	15.4
Widowed			211	43.2
Divorced or Separated			22	4.5
TOTAL			488	100.0
Missing Observations = 2	2		l	

The amount of psycho-social support provided to patients is shown in Table 4.9. Only 56.3% of the patients studied were perceived to have vadequate support. The sources of support are identified in Table 4.10, where

it can be seen	that the major component	nt of suppor	t was provided	by the	family.

AM	OUNT OF PSYCHO-SOCIAL SUPPORT		,
·····	·	Frequency	%
Unknown		9	1,8
None		31	6,3
Limited		174 🂐	35.5
Adequate		276	56.3

TABLE 4.10		
SOURCE OF PSYCHO-SOCIAL SUPPORT	8	
	Frequency	%
Spouse	150	30.6
Family	335	68.4
Clergy	31	6.3
Friend	60	12.2
Other	12	2.4
TOTA	588	100.0
^a More than one source may be available to one	e patient	

The amount of general supervision required to enable the patient to function physically, psychologically and socially in his environment is identified in Table 4.11. This variable is an important factor in the placement of the individual and the kind of programs required to meet his needs. Fifty percent of this population required a moderate amount of supervision, that is, supervision by a professional nurse on a part-time basis either in the home with visiting nurses or in an institution such as a nursing home.

	TABLE4.11DEPENDENCY OF THE PATIENT ON SUPER	VISION	
		Frequency	%
•	None	36	7,4
	Minimal	110	22.5
7	Moderate	247	50.5
	High	96	19.6
	TOTAL	489	100.0
	Missing Observations = 1		

-72-

Factors related to the medical status profile of the patients are identified in Tables 4.12 to 4.15. Because the study population was in the total spectrum of health care institutions, 160 patients (32.6%) had acute diagnoses, 11 patients (2.2%) were not yet diagnosed and 451 patients (92%) had one or more chronic conditions. Table 4.12 shows the chronic conditions identified in the population. Neurological disorders which include, among other conditions, congenital defects, mental retardation and chronic brain syndrome, constituted the highest frequency (45.9%). Arteriosclerosis was included in "other", which accounts for the high frequency in that category. These findings are consistent with studies reported in the literature.

The stability of the patient's clinical condition is an important indicator in relation to classification into Types of Care. The <u>Federal</u> <u>W.P.R.</u> definitions stress this item as one of the prime discriminators between Types. The characteristics of the study population are identified in Table 4.13. If no fluctuation or change was expected in the near future, the condition was considered to be stable. Because a large proportion of the population consisted of long-term care patients, it is not surprising to find that 80% were considered stable.

The severity of the clinical condition as well as a prediction of patient outcome in three months and one year are important indicators for placement and programs of care. Information regarding these variables is found in Table 4.14. The number of patients with moderate and debilitating severity remains fairly constant while minimal and life-threatening severity tends to increase over time.

	TABLE 4.12			1
	CHRONIC CONDITIONS a			
		Frequency	%	
	Alcoholism	13	2.7	
•	Anemia	16	3.3	
	Angina	10	2.0	-
•	Arthritis	120	24.5	
	Cardiac	12	2.4	
•	Congestive Heart Failure	82	16.7	
	Diabetic	74	15.1	
	Drug Abuse	3	0.6	
•	Hypertension	52	10.6	
	Malignancy	43	8.8	
	Mental Illness	66	13.5	
~	Neurological Disorders	225	45.9	>
	Respiratory Disease	36	7.3	
	Cerebro Vascular Accident	63	12.9	
47	Fractures	56	11.4	
	Other Chronic Conditions	126	25.7	
	TOTAL	997		

		• •
TABLE 4.13		
STABILITY OF CONDITION		
	Frequency	%
Stable	, 396	80.8
Unstable.	9 4	19.2
TOTAL	490	100.0

	TAB SEVERIT	BLE 4.14				
	Present		3 Months		1 Year	
	Frequency %		Frequency % Frequency %		Frequency %	
Minimal	41	8.4	91	18.6	100	20.4
Moderate	246	50.2	227	46.3	196	40.0
Debilitating	195	39.8	165	33.7	168	34.3
Life Threatening	4 8	1.6	7	11.4	•26	5.3-
TOTAL	490	100.0	490	100.0	490	100.0

Many health risk factors exist in the general population and, as might be expected, these risks are reflected in the study findings. Although 38% of the population exhibited none of these risks, the remainder of the

population, as shown in Table 4.15, have one or more of these risk factors.

	TABLE 4.15 HEALTH RISKS a		
		Frequency	%
	None	186	38.0
	Obesity	74	15.1
	Malnourished	36	7.3
	Smoking	36	7.3
1	Suicidal	7	1.4
	No Exercise	175	35.7
	Fragile Skin	102	20.8
	Other Risks	• 44	9.0

Intensive planned rehabilitation programs, e.g., physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, as well as intensive psychiatric or psychological therapy may be required to elevate or maintain the patient's functional status. Table 4.16 shows the assessor's perception of the patient's potential for improvement through such rehabilitation programs. Over two-thirds of the population would not benefit, however, the remaining onethird had moderate to high potential for improvement through such programs.

TABLE 4.16]
POTENTIAL FOR IMPROVEMENT THROU CO-ORDINATED REHABILITATION PROGRA		•
	Frequency	%
None	331	67.6
Moderate	127	25.9
High	32	6,5
TOTAL	490	100,0

The assessors suggested time span to reassess each patient care program, shown in Table 4.17, identifies a general time range in which the overall care plan should be discussed and reassessed by the health care team, based on changes in the patient's condition. It becomes obvious that there is a broad range of time identified by the assessors. More analysis is necessary to relate this variable to the acuity of illness and the requirements for program-placement based on changing patient need.

TABLE 4.17		
 TIME SPAN TO REASSESS CARE PROGR	AM Frequency	%
less than 1 month	149	30.4
one month to 3 months	56	11.4
3 months to 6 months	40	8.2
more than 6 months	245	50.0
TOTAL	490	100.0

The level of physical and psycho-social functioning of the study

population is shown in Table 4.18. Information is provided regarding the

senses: sight, hearing and speech. The functional status relating to Activities of Daily Living (ADL) is outlined in Table 4.19, while communication skills, behavior and psycho-social functioning are identified in Tables 4.20, 4.21, and 4.22. Patients with some problem or a major problem with sight (184) slightly outnumber those with hearing problems (158), while 117 have some degree of problem with speech. The ADL variables identify the large number in the population who require assistance in order to maintain basic social existence. For example, 43.7% of the population require total assistance from another person for bathing, whether in bed, shower or tub. While the frequency of problems with communication, behavior and psycho-social functioning is lower, there are major implications for care of the one-third of the population who do exhibit definite needs in this area.

	Sight Hearing			Speech		
	Frequency	% 🝝	Frequency	%	Frequency	%
No Problem	306	62.4	329	67.6	373	76.1
Some Problem Major Problem	165 19	33.7 3.9	143 15	29.4	74	15.1
TOTAL	490-	100.0		3.1 100.0	43 490	8.8 100.0

TABLE 4.18

0

					•			
		TABLE	4.1	9				1
		•						
	ACTIV	<u>TTIES O</u> N	$\frac{\text{F DA1LY}}{= 490}$	<u>r LIVIN</u>	<u>G</u>			
	N		Sor	'n	м			
•		olem		blem		ajor oblem		
	Freq.	K.	Freq.	%	Freq	%	Total	
Bathing	107	21:8	169	34.5	214	43.7	. 490	
Dressing	160	32.7	146	29.8	214 184	43.1	• 480 4 90	
Walking	238	48.6	98	19.0	159	32.4	490	
Goes Outside	119	24.3	118	24.1	253	61.6	490	
Voluntary Motion	209	42.7	254	51.8	27	.5.5	490	
Fransfer	252	52.4	196	40.0	42	8.6	490	
Wheeling	296	60.4	69	14.1	125	25.5	490	
Bladder Function	256	52.2	112	22.9	122	24.9	490	
Bowel Function	136	27.8 °	316	64.5	38	7.8	490	
Jse of Toilet	219	44.7	187	38.2	84	17.1	490	
Eating	315	64.3	108	22.0	67	13.7	490	
Sating -Where	212	43.3	194	39.6	84	17.1	490	
Dentition	366	74.7	93	19.0	31	6.3	490	

	COMMUNICATION SKI	LLS		
		Frequency	% of Population	
Adaquata Van	hal Communication	• • •		
nuequate ver	bal Communication	348	, 71.0	
inadequate Ve	rbal Communication ^a			
	- Education	11	2.3	
	- Physical	67	13.7	
	- Cultural	22	4.5	
	- Emotional	67	13.7	
	- Qther	19	3.9	
nadequate No	n-Verbal Communication	64	13.1	

inadequate verbal communication

 Σ^{+}

.

•

۹

. .

TABLE 4,21		
BEHAVIOR		
	Frequency	%
Appropriate	325	66.3
Coma, Semi-Coma, Anaesthetized	12	2.4
Wandering	80	16.3
Abusive	58	11.8
Other	15	3.1
TOTAL	490	100.0

.....

-80-

SOCIA	TA L-PSYC	BLE HOLOG	4.22 ICAL I		ONING	•	•
SOCIA.			490				
	No Prob		So Prol	me olem	Maj Probl		
	Freq.	%	Freq	%	Freq.	%	Total
Memory	207	42.2	217	44.3	66	13.5	490
Judgement	167	34.1	173	35.3	150	30,6	490
Mood-Depressed	335	68.4	144	29.4	11	2.2	49 0
Mood-Anxious	333 ູ	68.0	151	30.8	6	1.2	490
Mood-Uncooperative	400	81.6	83	16.9	7	1.4	490 ·
Social Initiative	108	22.0	230	46.9	152	31.0	490

The number of ADL and psycho-social problems that the patients exhibited are shown in Tables 4.23 and 4.24. For example, only 3.5% of the patients had no problems with ADL, while 20.8% had some problem or a major problem with 12 or 13 of the ADL variables. In relation to the psycho-social variables, 12.7% of the population had no problem and 23.3% had problems with 6 to 9 of the variables.

TABLE 4.23		
NUMBER OF ADL PROBLEMS EXHIBITED BY STUDY		
	Frequency	%
None	17	3.5
1-2	81	16.5
3 - 5	104	21.2
6 - 9	93	19.0
10 - 11	93	19.0
12 - 13	102	20.8
TOTAL	490	100.0

۲

6.	NUMBER OF PSYCHO-SOCIAL PROBLEMS EXHIBITED BY THE STUDY POPULATION	An	
	2 2	Frequency	%
No	ne	62 *	12.7
1		69	- 14.1
1 •	3	96	19.6
4 -	5	149 ·	30.4
6 -	9	.114	23.3
. т с	TAL	490	100.0

When the information from the above tables was crosstabulated to estimate the relationship of patients exhibiting both ADL and psycho-social functional disability, it was found that only 3 patients (0.6%) had no problem with either ADL or psycho-social variables, and 46 patients (9.4%) had problems with the maximum category of variables under both headings. -82-

Table 4.25 summarizes the assessors' opinion of the services needed by the study population. These service requirements may already be components of the care being provided, or they may be services which, if provided, would assist the patient to maintain or increase his functional status to its optimal level. Oral medication, skilled treatment and diversional therapy are the services most required by this study population.

N = 490	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	Frequency	%
Physiotherapy	113 .	23.
Occupational Therapy	94	19.
Speech Therapy	6	1.
Respiratory Therapy	16	3.
Diversional Therapy	239	48.
Social Casework	. 19	3.
Psychological Services	16	• .3.
Sheltered Workshops	8,	1.
Community Services & Information	8	,1:
Oral Medications	450	[•] 91.
Injectable Medications	. 77	15.
Skilled Treatment	244	49.
Other Services	14	2.

The classification section of the instrument has the section of the section of the instrument has the section of the section of the instrument has the section of the se

ents: the Type of Care required, the site where the patients' needs can best

be met and the programs required for patients in the non-institutional sites.

-83-

Tables 4.26, 4.27 and 4.28 identify the population characteristics for these components respectively. Because of the nature of the population, that is, excluding all patients in the lodge and home environment as well as patients in a specialized rehabilitation facility, it can be seen that the frequency of Type 1 and Type 4 patients is relatively small. This must be considered. as discussed before, a limitation of this study. The degree of inappropriate placement, as perceived by the assessors, can also be identified when comparing the present location to the site where the patients' needs could best be met. Of particular interest is the need for placement of 253 patients in a nursing home environment, whereas the community has only 230 nursing home beds available. Of the 41 patients who could have their needs met in other than a health care institution setting, it can be seen that a variety of programs are required to meet their needs. Along with other findings, skilled medical or nursing care on an ambulatory basis would be required by 36.5% of these patients, and would require the services of a homemaker. -84

_,	TAB	LE 4	.26			······································	
TYPE	S OF CARI	<u>e of sti</u>	DY PO	PULAT	ION	•	
		····				Frequency	С', /С
Type 1		•			Ŕ	.19	3.9
Type 2			•			245	50.3
Type 3	•		·			58	,11.9
Type 4	, PAR		x.	ų		37.	7.6
Type 5		· · · ·	- 	` `	•	128	26.3
TOTAL	<u></u>		····	······································		487	100.0
Missing Ol	servations	= 3			í		

۰,

٠

.

	TABLE 4.27	<u> </u>	
	SITE WHERE PATIENTS' NEEDS CAN BEST BE	MET	1
	N = 490		
		Frequency	%
	Own Home	24	4.9
	Boarding Home	5	1.0
•	Lodge	12	2.4
	Nursing Home	253	51.6
	Auxiliary Hospital	66	13.5
	Special Rehabilitation Hospital	1	0.2
· ·	Psychiatric Facility	3	0.6
	General Acute Hospital	119	24.3
	TOTAL	483	100.0
	Missing Observations = 7	L	

-

•

ŧ

÷

PROGRAMS REQUIRED FOR NON-INSTITUTIONAL $N = 41$		•
	Frequency	%
Bastitution-Based Ambulatory Care:		
- Day/Night	- 5 .	12.2
- Geriatric Day Care	5	12.2
- Psychiatric Day/Night Care	. 1	2.4
– Diabetic Day Care	1	2.4
ⁿ – Rehabilitation	8	. 19,5
- Skilled Medical/Nursing Care	15	36.5
- Surgical Day Care	0	0.0
ommunity-Based Programs:		
- Crisis Center	1	2.4
- Physician's Office	7	17.1
- Meals-on-Wheels	2	4.8
- Home Nursing	7	17.0
· – Alcoholics Anonymous	1	2.4
- Homemakers	9	22.0
- Other Community Services	6	14.6

The population characteristics as described above point to a heterogeneous group of individuals who, because of their physical and psycho-social functioning, medical status, and/or their demographic attributes, require a variety of placements and programs in order to meet their requirements for care. This is the kind of information base which will assist in decision-making

١.

regarding individual patient care, appropriate placement in order to match the patients' needs with available resources, as well as provide information

required for institutional, community and government planning. More detailed descriptive results are given in Kyle (1975).

RELIABILITY

The findings regarding the inter-rater reliability study are summarized in Table 4.29. Several measures of agreement are reported. The agreement on each item as tested by chi square is significant at the $\ll = .05$ level on each variable indicated by an asterisk. In these instances, there is significant agreement between the two independent assessors in assessing, and classifying the patients under study. This is a test of the null hypothesis of no agreement, but rejection or significance does not necessarily indicate acceptable reliability.

The contingency coefficient C is a measure of the extent of the agreement between the assessors. A limitation of the contingency coefficient is that even if there is perfect agreement, that is, perfect correlation, the contingency coefficient does not equal unity, or 1. This is obvious on the variable WAIT, where there is perfect agreement, however, the contingency coefficient is only .866.

Application of the phi statistic provides a correction for the fact that the value of chi square is directly proportional to that of N by adjusting the χ^2 value. For the 2X2 table, the values range from 0 when there is no relationship, to 1 when the relationship between the two variables is perfect. There is no upper limit to phi if calculated for a table that is not 2x2, therefore, Cramer's V is used to adjust for the number of rows or columns which exceed 2. Its values range from 0 to 1, regardless of the size of the table.

The Kendall Rank Correlation Coefficient is reported on the data that was considered to be at least ordinal, so that individuals under study could be ranked in an ordered series. For testing the null hypothesis of zero agreement between the two assessors, all items indicated by an asterisk are significant at the \ll = .05 level. In other words, there is significant agreement between the assessors on the variables tested by Kendall's Tau for these items.

The percentage of agreement between each pair of independent assessors is indicated in the last column, which ranges from a high of 100% agreement to a low of 67.3%.

	•			· · · ·				. •
	TABI		4.29			,	- an	I ~
	TADI	L, L,	4.25	• .				
INTER-RA	ATER IT	EM	RELIARII	UTY STU	DY			
						••••••		
MEASUREMENT OF, R	ELATIO	NSH	IP OF RE	SPONSES	ON EA	CH ITEM		
			NDENT AS					1 H
	•			·		<u>м</u>		
			Contin-				%	
	2		gency co-	Cramer	1 .	Kendall's	Agree-	
Item	\mathbf{x}^2	d.f.	efficient	<u> </u>	Phi	Tau	ment	
Davaha-Sacial S	00.004	 سر	0					
Psycho-Social Support Source - None	83.29* 21.99*		.677	.651	.473	.669*	81.6	
" - Spouse	60.89*	· ·	.619		.413		95.9	0
" - Family	22.62*	· ·	.019		. 480		92.8 76.5	
" – Clergy	23.36*		.438	/. · · · ·	.488		93.8	•
" - Friend	23.27*		.438		.487		89.7	• •
" - Other	3.38	1	.182		.185		94.8	
Marital Status	202.54*	1 -	.821	.830	.100		91.8	i i
Dependency	102.78*	1	.715	.591		. 583*	71.4	· · ·
Stay	537.02*	1 .	.922	.903		.933*	88.7	
Wait	44.99*	1	.866	1.00		1.00 *	100.0	
Age	452.49*	1	.909	.891		.832*	90.5	
Deterrents - None	64.04*	1	.628		.808		92.8	· .
" – No Bed	79.84*	1 · ·	.670		.902		98.9	· · ·
" – Financial	-	- 1	-	_	-		100.0	· · ·
" – No Home	9.04*	1	.290		. 303		94.8	
" – Family	67.34*	1	.638		.828		96.9	× .
"-Reject	16.66*	1	.381		.412		96.9	
Diagnosis -								Υ.
Acute: -None	64.79*	1	.631		.813		91.8	
– Unknown	2.28	1	.150	-9	.152		95.9	
Chronic Condition:								
- None	23.14*	1	.437		.485		92,8	
- Alcohol	22.97*	1	.435		.484		97.9	
- Anemia	16.66*	1	.381		.412		96.9	
- Angina	-	-	-		-		98.9	
- Arthritis	40.15*	1	.539		.640		90.8	
- Cardiac	7.50*	1	.266		.276		97.9	
- Cong. H. F.	35.38*	L L	.515		.600		91.8	
- Diabetic	55.56*	1	.601		•752		93.8	
- Drug Abuse	91 074	-	-	1997 - T. 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 19 1999 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1 1999 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 -	-		100.0	
- Hypertension	31.67*	1	.494		.568		94.8	
- Malignancy	51.03*	1	.585		.721		95.9	
- Mental Illness	26.81*		.463		.523		86.7	
– Neuro Disorders	35.15*	1	.513		. 598		83.6	
				continue	a			

• •			Contin-				.%	1
			gency co-	Cramer	s	Kendalls	Agree-	
Item	\mathbf{x}^2	d.f.	dficient	v	Phi		ment	1.00
								1 .
Chronic Condition:								
- Resp. Disease	52.75*	1	.591		.733		97.9	1
- C.V.A.	26.68*		462		.521		87.7	
- Fracture	56.76*		.605		.761	-	95.9	
- Other	28.63*		.475	$\sim 10^{-1}$.540		82.6	1 ·
Stability	43.74*	1	.555		.668		89.7	
Severity - Present	138.45*		.765	.686		.529*	68.3	
- 3 nges.	132.49*	9	.758	.671		.610*	73.4	
- 1 yr.	100.00*		.710	.583		.659*	67.3	1
Health Risk:								
- None	21.97*	1	.428		.473		75.5	l .
- Obesity	56.50*		.604	•	.759		93.8	• • • •
- Malnourished	.141	•	.037		.037		88.7	
- Smoking	31.38*		.492	•	.565		95.9	1.
- Suicidal	23.99*		.443	•	.494		97.9	
- No Exercise	28.54*		.474		.539		79.5	
- Fragile Skin	35.76*		.517		.604		88.7	
- Other	6.90*	10 C 10 C 10 C	.256		.265		89.7	
Potential Rehab.	105.16*		.719	,732	. 200	.709*	86.7	
Reassess Care	126.23*		.750	.655	·.	.850*	79.5	•
Sight	74.91*		.658	.618		.733*	84.6	
Hearing	97.11*	4	.705	.704		.733*	84.6	ing th
Speech	92.52*	1 A A	.696	.687		.739*	78.5	
Dressing	88.01*		.687	.670		.720*	76.5	
Walking	85.71*		.683	.661		.677*	78.5	
Go Outside	58.69*		.612			.573*	71.4	
Voluntary Motion	78.47*			.547.			and the second sec	
Transfer	76.25*	4 4	.666	.632	•	.632*	80.6	
			.661	.623		•.703*	80.6	
Wheeling	108.41*		.724	.743		.705*	84.6	
Bladder	97.64*		.706	.705		.810*	84.6	•
Bowel	81.07*		.672	.643		.710*	82.6	
Toilet	106.15*	1 C C C	.721	.735		.803*	81.6	en. Set g
Eating	96.48*	4	.704	.702		.717*	80.6	
Eats - Where	115.37*	4	.735	.767		.807*	84.6	
Dentition Special Dist	90.57*	4	.693	.679		.6 48*	81.6	
Special Diet	45.06	4	.561	.678			86.7	
Verbal Comm-Adequate	29.47*	1	.480	8 4 ji k	548		83.6	
VCI - Education	-	-	-	- /]			98.9	
- Physical	37.00*	1	.523		614		93.8	
- Cultural	-	-	-		- đ.	1	95,9	
- Emotional	14.53*	1	.359		385		87.7	
- Other	1.66	1	.129		130		94.8	
		. i . j		continued				

•

•

þ

N / •

,

t i	1		Contin-				-	-
۲Ì	2		gency co-	Cramer	s	Kendalls	Agree	
Item	\mathbf{x}^2	d.f.	dficient	V	Phi	Tau	ment	
New Workshold								
Non-Verbal Comm.	4.21*	1	.202		.207		87.7	
Behavior	42.30*	1	.549	.379			72.4	•
Memory	102.07*	1	.714	.721		.808*	84.6	
Judgement	90.29*	1. '.	.692.	.678	•	.759*	78.5	
Mood - Depressed	47.01*		.569	.489		.509*	74.4	
- Anxious	16.37*		.378	.408	:	.404*。	75.5	•
- Uncooperative	33.82*	1	. 506	.415		.537*	83.6	
nitiative	69.92*	4	.645	.597		.653*	73.4	
Service Requirements:								
- Physiotherapy	40.10*	1	.538	u. *	. 639		85.7	
- Occ. Therapy	37.86*	· ·	.527		.621		86.7	1
- Speech Therapy	2.28	1.	.150		.152		95.9	4.
- Respiratory Therapy.		-	-	-	-		100,0	•
- Diversional Therapy	48.04*	1	.573		700		85.7	
- Social Case Work	9.04*	1.	.290		. 303		94.8	÷.
- Psychiatric Service	1.93	1	.138		.140		95.9	
- Sheltered W.S.	3.31	1	.180		.183		96.9	
- Community S & I	2.28	1	.150		.152		95.9	•
- Oral Medications	8.89*		.288		.301		88.7	
- Inj. Medications	58.04*		.609		.769		93.8	•
- Skilled Treatment	36.56*	1	.521		.610		81.6	
- Other	11.62*	1	.325		.344		96.9	. 1
'ype of Care	170.01*	16	.797	.662		.856*	80.4	
ite	172.16*	12	. 798	.765			86.7	·
Programs: /			,					
- None	14.17*	1	.355	•	. 380		94.8	
- Day/Night	23.99*	1	.443		.494		100.0	
- Geriatric D.C.	11.62*	1	.325		. 344		96.9	
- Psych. D.C.	—		、 -	-	_		100.0	
- Diabetic D.C.	11.62*	1	325		.344		98.9	•
- Rehabilitation	23.99*	1	.443		.494		97.9	
- Skilled Med/Nurse	26.22*	1	.459		.517	- 1	97.9	
- Surgical Day	-	-		_ • • •			100.0	
- Crisis Centre	_	_	-	_	- -		100.0	
- Physician's Office	23.99*	1	.443		.494		97.9	•
- Meals on Wheels		- 11 - 1 - 	-	_			100.0	
- Home Nursing	7.50*	1	.266		.276		95.9	
- A. A. Program	_	_	•=	_			100.0	
- Homemaker	5.44*	1	.229		.235	1	96.9	
- Other Comm. Services	54.36*	1	.597		.744		100.0	
- Other	L	<u> </u>			• 1.44			
				oontinue	-		100.0	
				continued	••••			

• • •

٠.

: **)** (

Å

د.

	. '						
			Contin-				
	9		gency co-	Cramers		Kendall's	Agree-
tem 🖌	\mathbf{x}^2	d.f.	afficient	V	Phi	Tau	ment
nput:							
- Client	48.22*	. 1	.574		.701		89.7
- Physician	55.94*	1	.602		.755		89.7
- Narse	.59	1	.677		.078		92.8
- Social Work	28,37*	1	.473		.538		96:9
- Family	15.69*	ľ	.371		.400		89.7
1	•				· 🗡 .		
osition of Assessor	128.38	12	.754	.664			

* The relationship is significant at the \propto = .05 level.

Another measure is the percentage of agreement within categories of the variables, but this measure is too detailed to report for most variables. The major variable of interest is Types of Care. Table 4.30 shows the findings on this variable. There were no patients assessed by both assessors for Type 1, there was 84% agreement for Type 2, 62% agreement for Type 3, 78.5% agreement for Type 4, and the assessors agreed in 92% of the cases for Type 5. Caution in interpretation of the findings must be exercised as, in some variables, there is high disagreement on certain categories. Overall, the mean percentage agreement on assessment variables was 88%, and 96% on the classification variables. It is the investigator's opinion that this high level of agreement is most likely an indication of in-depth knowledge of the patients' functional status by the assessors who were those providing direct care, as well as their reliable application of the operational definitions provided in the User's Manual.

-92-

·	•		······			\sim	
	TAI	BLE	4.30		Ť	•	
t - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	TER-RAT ASSIFICA				RE		•
MEDICINE HAT,	{ N	1EDICIN	E HAT A	ASSESSO	R 2		
ASSESSOR 1 👻	Type 1	Туре 2	Туре 3 3	Type 4	Type 5	Total	* ¥
Type, 1	ð 0	1	. 0	0	0	1	
Type 2	J 3	35	5 -	0	1	44	сы. н
Туре 3	0``	3	9	1	۲ 0	13	
Type 4	0	0	. 2	î 11	1	14	. • · · ·
Type 5	0	0	0	2	23	25	4
TOTAL	3	39	16	14	25	97	
% Agreement	100.0%	84.3%	62.1%	78.6%	92%	80.4%	
•	$x^2 = 17$		•	.f. = 16			
	Continger	ncy Coef	ficient =	.797	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

VALIDITY STUDIES

FACE VALIDITY

Three major techniques were used to identify the presence of face validity, that is, determining whether or not the instrument items "appeared on the face" to bear a common-sense relationship to the measurement objectives of the study. Firstly, potential users including administrators, health care planners, physicians, social workers and nurses were involved in the instrument construction and testing. Secondly, informal feedback from -93-

users indicated acceptance of the instrument because it appeared to be practical, pertinent and related to the purpose of the classification study, and thirdly, use of the instrument is being continued in Medicine Hat and it is in use in another Alberta community.

CONTENT VALIDITY

Content validity was established by showing that the instrument items constitute a sample of a universe of items which test for patient characteristics defined for Types of Care in the Federal W. P.R. Table 4.31 identifies the instrument items which are related to each patient characteristic. Through an intensive review of the literature relating to patient assessment and classification, a large universe of variables was identified, many of which were included in this study. (c.f. Bayne, 1973; Jones, 1973; Knox, 1974). As noted in the previous chapter, many instruments are available to test the functional status of patients in one or another spectrum of the health care delivery system, however, no instrument was identified which covered the total spectrum of patient needs from acute care to health services in the home environment. Therefore, content, in addition to that appearing in the literature, had to be generated to provide for the identification of comprehensive multi-dimensional/needs within the study population. The assistance of experts in the field, including a member of the Federal Working Party, assisted in the development of items for the instrument in/general and, in particular, in the development of items to meet the above content voids.
		LW.P.R. TO ITEMS C	1 TIENT CHARACTERISTICS 2N S D'DY INSTRUMENT	• •
	Patient Characteristics	Instrument	Patient Charácteristics	Instrumen
TYPE 1			TYPE 3	<u> </u>
1.	The medical condition is known to be stabilized or under clinical control.	13, 14, 15	To be classified as requiring Type III Care the following conditions <u>must</u> pertain:	
2. or	The person bas: (a) physical and/or mental frailty (b) congenital handicap	10, Section C & D 13-B, Section C & D	 1. The diagnosis is established 2. The patient has a chronic illness 	13 13-B
OT	(c) disability due to previous illness or injury	13-B, Section C & D	3. The acute phase of the illness has y passed or is subsiding	14,15
3.	The person should be independently ambulatory (with or without mechanical aids) or independently mobile in a wheelchair	21, 23, 24, 25	And one or more of the following must be exhibited:	
4.	The person is limited mentally or physically in his ability to care for himself independently and as a cons-		4. The patient has rehabilitation potential which can best be realized in a slow-paced program	17
5.	equence has major social needs. The care required is primarily super- vision and assistance with activities	3, Section C & D	5. The disease process requires medical management to achieve clinical control	14, Section
6.	of daily living. The treatment, if any, is standardized	10, Section C	 Evidence of gignificant change presently occurring in the patient's condition, e.g., improvement, relapse, deterioration or 	
••	and includes only maintenance medicr ation and preventive services.	• ,16, 42, St ction E	progression of disease 7. A need for fullying care with profess-	15
YPE 2		e de la companya de l	ional nursing supervision of a continuing 24-hour basis.	10
1.	Diagiosis has been established	13	туре 4	
2.	The patient has a chronic illness which is not in an acute phase or has a relatively stabilized functional disorder.		1. The diagnosis has been established	12.
3.	As demonstrated by prefious assessment and response to treatment there is little	13-B	 The stute phase of illness is past or subsiding. The patient has a demonstrated functional 	3, 14
4.	or no rehabilitation potential. The disease process is relatively	17	impediment or impairment.4. The need is related to a functional deficit	Section C &
5.	stabilized.	14	requiring primarily specialized assess- ment, treatment, adaptation & training.	17, Section J
6.	nostic and therapeutic services. The individual's need is primarily for	Section E	TYPE 5	•
, Fr	care on a continuing 24-hour basis with professional nursing supervision and access to physical medicine services.	10, Section C, D,	To be classified as Type V. Care one of the following conditions is essential: 1. The puttent has an acute illness or injury.	13-A
7.	A prolonged period of care is anticip- ated, i.e., the patient's condition is expected to remain significantly un-		2. The patient requires investigation and examination for an unknown or potentially serious condition.	13-A
	changed in the near future,	14, 15,18.	3. The patient requires life-saving measures.	14, 15, Section E
	τ. 	•		•

-95-

CONSTRUCT VALIDITY

13

The instrument was tested for content validity through the application of factor analysis to the study data. Factor analysis enables us to see whether some underlying pattern of relationships exists so that the data can be rearranged or reduced to a smaller set of underlying fundamental factors or constructs that may account for the interrelationships in the data. Two separate factor analyses were carried out. The first was on 74 assessment variables, chosen because of complete data, adequate sample size in each category, and a significant relationship to Types of Care as shown by the item validity measures in the next section. The Service Requirements were excluded from the assessment analysis because of the computer program restriction of 80 variables.

The second factor analysis was undertaken on 28 variables related to classification, i.e., Types of Care, Sites and Community Programs, as well as the Service Requirements which had been excluded on the first analysis. In both cases, the variables were factored by the principal axis method using 1's on the diagonal of the correlation matrix; a varimax transformation was then applied using 6 factors. The reason'6 factors was chosen was because an acceptable percentage of variance was accounted for by this number of factors. As well, from previous experience in the pretest, there appeared to be a classification factor related to each of the five Types of Care, plus an additional one which appeared to be associated with acute psychiatric needs. Fewer factors would not have accounted for an adequate proportion of the total variance, and it was decided that if more -96-

factors were used, there was a danger of their becoming unique and therefore contrary to the purpose of the analysis.

Table 4.32 reports the eigenvalues associated with each of the assessment factors, which is proportional to the variance accounted for by that factor. Just under 40% of the variance is accounted for by the first 6 factors derived from 74 variables drawn from the assessment component of the instrument.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·		
	TABLE	4.32	
FAC1	OR ANALYSIS OF ASSI	ESSMENT VARIABLES	.
Factor	Eigenvalue	% of Variance	• Cumulative %
L	12.837	17.3	17.3
	5.942	8.0	25.4
	3,158	4.3	29.6
	2.671	3.6	, 33, 3
	2.375	3.2	36.5
;	2.019	2.7	39.2
OTAL	29.002/74 = 3.92	39,2	

The varimax factor pattern for the 6 assessment factors is summarized in Table 4.33. Also included are all item loadings of .30 or greater as well as those variables not loaded above .30 on any factor. Assessment Factor 1 reflects what can be regarded as usual self-care activities related to Activities of Daily Living. Severity of impairment in 3 months and 1 year have approximately equal loadings, reflecting the lack of change expected

Ð

-97-

over the identified time frame. Factor 2, identified as Long Term Chronic Deterioration, points to the elderly, long stay, clinically stable patient with minimum potential for rehabilitation, who has one or more chronic conditions including mental deterioration which influence his status related to ADL as well as his memory and judgement. Factor 3 relates to Chronic Mental Illness which includes patients' problems with verbal and nonverbal communication, some physical manifestations, and psychological as well as social deviance. Factor 4 involves evidence of Behavioral Deterioration with Lack of Social Support. Persons who are deemed to be uncooperative and/or abusive, have problems with sight and hearing, have some health risks and not only have no home to go to, but also lack psycho-social support, would show high scores on this factor. They are likely irritating to those around them, which would make care difficult. Factor 5 is related to Acute Psychiatric needs of patients. Depression, anxiety and risk of suicide have a high loading on this factor. Severity of impairment has similar loadings from the present time frame to one year, which indicates that the patient's condition may be long term. It is interesting that this factor is present although patients with acute psychiatric needs were not given a specific category in the Federal W.P.R. On the basis of this finding there is an indication of limitations within the classification system.

Patients who are moderately independent but require some support show high loadings on Factor 6. The fact that the source of support loads the highest on this factor indicates the importance of psycho-social assistance to individuals who may have some physical deficit combined with a chronic condition necessitating a special diet.

· · · · · ·

-99-

		-	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	TABLE 4	- 33	
MADDAAN DAGOOD		•	
VARIMAX FACTOR	Factor	OF ASSESSMENT VARIABLES	· ·
FACTOR 1	Loading ·		Factor Loading
Self Care-Dependent	i iotaining	FACTOR 4 - Behavioral	Loauing
	•	Deterioration with Lack of Social Support	
Walking	.87		
Talking	.86 .85	No Deterrent to placement	72
Transfer Wheeling	.76	Support	60
Eating	.73	Sight Abusive	.55
Voluntary Motion	.71	Deterrent to Placement:	•••
Bladder	.70	No Home	.48
Dressing	.70	Uncooperative	.48
Severity Present	.69	No Exercise	.47
Goes Outside	.66	Hearing	.44
Bathing	.59	No Health Risks	39
Severity-3 mos.	,55	FACTOR 5 -	
Severity-1 yr. Eats - Where	.52 .49	Acute Psychiatric	
Bowel Function	.45	Depression	. 56
Fragile Skin	.46	Risk-Suicidal	.46
Dentition	.43	Anxious No Health Risk	.44
Initiative	.36	Severity- 3 mos.	41
No Exercise	.34	Support - Friend	.35
FACTOR 2 - Long Term		Severity - 1 yr,	.32
Chronic Deterioration		Severity - present	.31
Réassess Care	.86	Stability	.31
Stay	.81	FACTOR 6 - Independent	
No Acute Diagnosis	.80	with Support	
Age	,62	Source of Support - Family	.60
Neurological Disorders Bathing	.60 .57	No Source of Support	52
Potential for Rehab.	57	Special Diet	43
Stability	56	Chronic Condition:	
Eats - Where	55	Diabetis	.35
Severity-1 yr.	53	Sight Variables not Loaded (\leq .3)	.32
Judgement	.53	on any Factor	
Memory Spouse	.46		
No Chronic Diagnosis	•45 •.45	Deterrent to Placement-No Bed	
Severity-3 mos.	.45	Deterrent to Placement-Reject	
Dressing	.41	Acute Diagnosis-Unknown Chronic Conditions:	
Bowel	.40	-Alcoholism	•
Chronic Condition:		-Anemia	
Cong. Heart Failure	.31	-Angina	
Arthritis	.30	-Cardiac	S. 🗺 🔤
ACTOR 3 - Chronic Iental Illness		-Malignancy	
Verbal Comm Adequate -	. 74	-Respiratory Disease	
Non-Verbal Comm.	.74	-C.V.A. -Fractures	
Speech /	64	Health Risks:	
Memory	.62	-Obèsity	
Wander	, 59	-Smoking	
Judgement	.59		
Social Initiative	.49		·
Eating	.41		3
Dentition Chronic Condition:	. 36		
Montal Illness	. 32		· 1
Bladder Function	.32		
Dressing	.31		•
Malnourished	. 30		

•

\$ •

Factor analysis undertaken on the 28 classification variables and service requirements, as shown on Table 4.34, evidences eigenvalues for the 6 factors which account for nearly 50% of the total variance of the 28 variables used.

·			4
	TABLE	4.34	
FAC	CTOR ANALYSIS OF C	LASSIFICATION VAR	ABLES
Factor	Eigenvalue	% of Variance	Cumulative %
<u>р</u>	4.098	14.6	14.6
2	2.803	10.0	24.6
3	2.731	9.8	34.4
4	1.595	5.7	40.1
5	1.416	5.1	- 45.2
6	1,299	4.6 e	49.8
TOTAL	13.94 /28 = 4.98	49,8	

The varimax factor pattern for the classification variables is

summarized in Table 4.35. Factor loadings above .30 are indicated as well as the variables which did not load above .30 on any factor. Classifica-

is, persons with high scores on this factor are likely to be classified as

Type 5; those with low factor scores are likely to be Type 2. The

interpretation of this result is that Type 5 and Type 2 are opposites, appearing on the same factor. Factor 2 appears to be a combination of Types 3 and 4, indicating that these types are difficult to distinguish from one another. It is interesting to note that Type 2 appears on this factor with a negative loading, pointing toward its additional bipolar relationship with Types 3 and 4 as well as Type 5. Physiotherapy and occupational therapy appear to be related to both Type 3 and Type 4, so we could hypothesize that this relationship would include the long-term maintenance aspect of care in Type 3, as well as the coordinated intensive short term rehabilitation included in Type 4,

Factor 3 is related to Type 1 care, which could be provided in the home environment. No programs are identified, however visits to the physician's office may be required. The low loading on Nursing Home indicates the lack of need for institutionalization of these patients.

Factor 4 appears to be an Acute Psychiatric construct. Patients loading on this factor would require placement in a psychiatric facility with programs and services including social casework, psychiatric services and skilled nursing care. As discussed previously, no separate category exists within the Federal W.P.R. classification to include these patients.

Factor 5 is a Rehabilitation factor, however Type 4 does not load on it. The inclusion of Community Services and Information and Physician's Offices would tend to make one think that this is an ambulatory care construct.

Factor 6 would seem to be a Home Care construct with high loadings on home nursing and homemaker services. No Types of Care load on this latter factor, which might indicate that home care is not specifically related

to any one Type of Care.

	···		
1	ABLE	4.35	
VARIMAX FACTOR PAT	TERN OF	CLASSIFICATION VARIABLE	S
	factor		factor
	load i ngs	N .	loadings
FACTOR 1 -		FACTOR 4 -	
Positive-Type 5		Acute Psychiatric	
Negative- Type 2		Social Casework	.75
'Type 5	.91	Psychiatric Services	.68
Acute Care	.89	Psychiatric Facility	.08
Nursing Home	75	Skilled Nursing Care	.36
Skilled Treatment	.66	FACTOR 5 - Rehabilitation-	
Diversional Therapy	47	Ambulatory Care	
Injectable Medications	.46		
FACTOR 2 - Types 3/4		Community Services and	
Auviliany Upanital	.88	Information	, 69
Auxiliary Hospital	.00	Special Rehab. Facility	.64
Physiotherapy	.65	Oral Medications	55
Type 4		Occupational Therapy	.64
Type 3	.54 50	Physician's Office	.31
Type 2 Occupational Therapy	50	FACTOR 6 - Home Care	
Nursing Home	43	Home Nursing	.80
FACTOR 3 - Type 1	<u> </u>	Homemaker	.77
1710 1011 5 - 1 ype 1	.,	Programs - None	30
Home	.84	Variables Not. Loaded ($<.3$)	
Type 1	.76	On Any Factor	
Physician's Office	.41		
Programs - None	.33	Respiratory Therapy	
Nursing Home	32	Sheltered Workshop	

CONCURRENT VALIDITY

Assessment and classification of the patients was carried out at the same time, therefore the criteria (Types of Care) and the predictors (assessment variables) served to indicate the present status of the patients.

The higher the degree of relationship between the assessment and the Types

of Care, the better the concurrent validity.

Concurrent validity was investigated by examining the relationship of each item to Types of Care (item validities), and also relating the entire set of assessment variables to the Types of Care groups through the use of discriminant function and Bayesian Classification. Table 4.36 summarizes the item validities from crosstabulation of each assessment variable with Types of Care, resulting in chi square with related degrees of freedom, the contingency coefficient and the Cramer's V, and Kendall's Tau for ordinal variables. The variables with a significant relationship to Types of Care at \propto = .05 level are indicated on the table. If the chi square is the significant, this also means that the contingency coefficient, or degree of relationship, is also significant. Cramer's V is used to make the correction for the fact that the chi square is directly proportional to that of N by adjusting the \mathbf{x}^2 . The values range from 0 to 1. Also included in the table are the Kendall rank correlation coefficients between each ordinal variable and the Types of Care. Again, those which are correlated significantly at the \sim = .05 level are indicated in the table.

Overall, the majority of assessment variables have a significant $(\infty = .05)$ relationship with Types of Care when tested by chi square,

contingency coefficient and Kendall's Tau.

-104-

	• •				
4 4		-	•		
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			1
T	ABLE 4.	36			
	· ·				
	TEM VALIDA				
MEASUREMENT OF RELA			I AŞSESSMEN	T VARIA	BLE
<u>T(</u>	O TYPES OF	CARE	1	*	Y
	\mathbf{x}^2		0	a	
		2.5	Contingency		1
Itenf	Chi Square	<u>d.f.</u>	Coefficient	V	Tau
Location	706.52*	24	.769	.602	
Clinical Service	18.63	12	.323	.197	011*
Psycho-Social Support:	56.66*	12	.322	.311	.211*
-None	18.55*	4	.191	195	n a tha an
-Spouse	74.30*	4	.363	.391	
-Family	27.83* 23.28*	4	.232	.239	
-Clergy -Friend	6,066	4	.214	.219 .112	
-Other	28.38*		.234	1	
-Other In Patient	28.38 ⁺ 85.11*	4 .,	.234	.241 .418	
Stay	397.77*	28	.679	.418	613*
Admitted From:	288.28*	28	.618		013
Awaiting Placement	65.19*	4	.343	.393	
Wait Time	11.18	4 9	.343	.366 .256	104
Placement Requested	35.10*	16	.405	. 379	104
Age	35.10 [*] 175.49*	24	.516	.379	408*
sex	4,78	4	.098	.278	-w±00''
Resident Of:	4.78	8	.058	.130	
Marital Status	10.35	12	.101	.130	
Dependency	321.36*	12	.422	.469	.352*
Deterrent: -	044,00			• 703	• 004
- None	96,73*	4	.407	.446	
-No Bed	55.41*	4	.319	.337	
-Financial	.899	4	.042	.043	
-No Home	20.31*	4	.200	.204	
-Family	55.48*	4	.320	.204	
-Reject	66.97*	4/	.347	.371	
Diagnosis Acute -			•••		
-None	278.10*	4	.602	.756	
-Unknown	18.67*	4	.192	.196	
Chronic Condition:-			•	• • • •	
-None	69.34*	4	.353	.377	
-Alcohol	7.23	4	.120	.122	
-Anemia	.75	4	.039	.039	
-Angina	7.02	4	.119	.120	
-Arthritis	27.14*	4	.229	.236	
-Cardiac	1.93	4	.068	.063	
-Cong. H. F.	18,33*	4	.190	194	
		contir			

÷,

	2				
	\mathbf{x}^2		Contingency		
Item	Chi Square	d.f.	Coefficient	<u>V</u>	Tau
Chronic Condition - cont'd				•	
	11.88*	4	.154	.156	
-Diabetic	9.67*	4	.139	.141	
-Drug Abuse	2.06	4	.065	.065	
-Hypertension -Malignancy	4.63	4	.097	.097	
-Manghaney -Mental Illness	22.42*	4	.210	.214	
	135.64*	4	.467	.467	
-Neuro. Disorder	4.48	4	.095	.096	
-Resp. Disease	14.60*	4	.171	.173	
-C.V.A.	25.60*	4	.223	.229	
-Fracture	43.04*	4	.225	.223	
-Other	43.04*	4	.205	.540	
Stability Severity	142,10	1	• 7 (0) · ·	• • • •	
Severity:	76.43*	12	. 368	.231	026
-Present	168.02*	12	.506	.339	270*
-3 months	210.72*	12	.500	.379	362
-1 year	210.12	12	• 045	.010	-,304
Iealth Risk:	04 00*		010	00π	
-None	24.63*	4	.219	.225	
-Obesity	6.93	4	.118	.119	
-Malnourished	3.92	4	.089.	.089	
-Smoking	23.79*	4	.216	.221	
-Suicidal	6.94	4	.118	.119	
-No Exercise	47.50*_	4	. 298	.312	
-Fragile Skin	54.07*	4.	.316	.333	
-Other	7.50	4	.123	.124	
Potential - Rehab.	136.74*	8	.468	.375	.419*
Reassess Care	453.72*	12	.694	.557	649*
Sight	45.91*	8	.293	.217	163*
learing	54.74*	8	.318	.237	165*
Speech	39.56*	8	.274	.201	149*
Bathing	207.43*	8	.546	.461	372*
Dressing .	146.44*	8	.481 *	. 388	271*
Walking	53,97*	8	.315-	°.235	.0006
Go Outside	84.66*	8	.384	\$ 295	.150*
Voluntary Motion	78.55*	8 -	.373	.284	132*
Fransfer	66,20*	8 ·	. 345	.261	.026
Wheeling	70.08*	8	.354	. 268	026
Bladder Function	122.50*	8 8,	.448	• 355	156*
Bowel Function	93.44*		.401	. 310	279*
Foileting	97.32*	8	. 39 8	.307	.0004
Eating	53.68*	8	.315	.235	056*
		conti	nued		

•

1

	χ^2	1	Contingency	Cramer's	Kendallie
Item	Chi Square	d.f.	Coefficient	V	Tau
Eats - Where	113.11*	8	.434	.341	.421*
Dentition	60.70*	8	.434 .333	.341 .249	.421+ 090
Special Diet	9.03	4	.333	.249	090
Verbal Communication-Adeq		4	.206	.136	
V.C.I.:		. T .	.200	.210	
-Education	3.37	4	.082	.083	
-Physical	21.63*	4	.206	.211	
-Cultural	2.51	4	.072	.072	
-Emotional	11.55*	4	.152	.154	м
-Other	3,531	4	.084	.085	
Non Verbal Comm	17.90*	4	.188	.192	•
Behavior	61.31*	16	.334	.177	•
Memory	152.88*	8	.489	.396	383*
Judgement	188.76*	8	.528	.440	407*
Mood:			• • • •	• • • •	• 10 1
-Depressed	18.05*	8	.189	.136	094*
-Anxious	13.65	8	.165	.118	.006
-Uncooperative	23.50*	8	.214	.155	118*
Social Initiative	95.33*	8	.405	.312	218*
Service Requirements:				• • • •	
-Physio	102.24*	4	.416	.458	
-Occupational Ther.	38.65*	4	.271	.282	
-Speech Therapy	30.80*	4	,244	.251	
-Respiratory Ther.	27.31*	4	.230	.237	
-Diversional Ther.	87.41*	4	.390	.424	
-Social Case Wrk.	12.70*	4	.159	.161	E).
-Psych. Services	17.94*	4	.188	.192	
-Sheltered W.S.	4.15	4	.092	.092	
-Community S & I	17.24*	4	.185	.188	
-Oral Medications	23.31*	4	.214	.219	
-Inj. Medications	52.20*	4	.311	.327	
-Skilled Treatment	171.20*	4	.510	.593	
-Other	4.71	4	.098	.098	
		ų			
Site	893.19*	28	,806	.671	
Program:					
-None	43.91*	4	.287	.300	
•• -Day/Night	5.44	4	.105	.106	
•• -Geriatric D.C.	5.44	4	.105	.106	
•• -Psych. Day/Night	24.68*	4	.219	.225	
•• -Diabetic Day	7.42	4	.122	.123	•
- Rehab.	11.52*	4	.152	.154	
-Skilled Med/Nurse	18.87*	5	.193*	.197	la de Francis Segue Segue <mark>1</mark> 99
4. 		contin			

. . . .

•

	\mathbf{X}^2	•	Contingency	Cramer's	Kendall's
Item	Chi Square	d.f.	Coefficient	V .	Tau
Program: cont'd					
•• -Surgical D.C.	-	-	_	_	
•• -Crisis Centre	2.81	4	.076	.076	
-Physician's Office	57.30*	4	. 324	.343	
•• -Meals on Wheels	49.47*	4	.304	.319	
-Home Nursing	16.87*	4	.183	.186	
-A.A. Program	2.81	4	.076	.076	
Homemaker	23.00*	4	.212	.217	
•• -Other Comm.Service	14.89*	4	.1722	.174	
nput:					•
-Client	167.75*	4	.506	587	
-Physician	11,16*	4	.149	151	٥
-Nurse ·	50.42*	4	.306	. 322	•
-Social Worker	18,89*	4	.193	.197	
-Family	3,68	4	.086	.087	
Position of Assessor	356.08*	16	.658	.437	

Item and Types of Care have dependent relationship at $\sim = .05$ level of significance

.. sample size is </ 6

The other method undertaken to assess the degree of concurrent validity was a multiple group discriminant analysis and Bayesian classification. A total of 461 patients were classified into one of the five Types of Care,

using the BMD07M program (Dixon, 1973). The same 74 assessment variables

as used in the factor analysis were utilized, for the same reasons. The

relative discrimination power of each of the 74 assessment variables was indicated by use of stepwise discriminant analysis. Findings are summarized

in Table 4.37, showing the order of entry of the variables from the first to

the last step. The F-values are provided to indicate the relative contribution

to discrimination of the 5 Types of Care. The most discriminating variable

is the Time Span for Reassessment of Care, while the least discriminating is Other Health Risks. Also reported is the Wilks' Lambda statistic which is essentially the ratio of the generalized variance within to the estimated generalized variance total. Small values indicate "good" discrimination (McCabe, 1975). After 22 variables have entered, the F-value is no longer significant ($\ll = .05$), which leads one to believe that additional variables beyond this point do not contribute substantially to prediction.

`ډ

-109-

			3			
		•		N		
		A	-			15
1		TABL	E 4.37			1
			чт _е от	•		
	٣	STEPWISE DISCR	MINANT ANALA	2515		1
ľ	~.J ¹	1	F.Value		1	-
	•	Variable	to	L.	Wilhot	
	Step	Entered	Inter or Remove	d.f.	Wilks'	
ſ		3			- Lamba	-
	1	Re-assess Care	295.95	4,456	.278	
ľ	2	Bathing	23.39	<u>4,455</u>	.231	
	3	Deterrent - No Bed	10.92	4,454	.210	1
ſ	4	Stay	10.98	4,453	.193	
	5	Fragile Skin	10.49	4,452	.175	1
	6	Eats - Where	8.67	4,451	.163	
	7	Voluntary Motion	6.73	4,450	.154	ŀ
	8 ·	Potential for Rehab.	6.51	4,449	.145	
ľ	9	Dependency	5.99	4,448	.138	[
Í.	10	Age	6,26	4,447	.131	ľ
	11	Smokes	5.48	4,446	.124	
	12	Deterrent - Family	5.27	4,445	.119	
	13	Acute Diagnosis - None	5.06	4,444	.114	•
ľ	14	Health Risk-No Exercise	5.13	4,443	.109	
	15	Chronic Condition - Other	4.50	4,442	.104	}
	16	Abusive	4.15	4,441	.101	
	17	Severity in one year	3.31	4,440	.098	•
	18	Deterrent - Reject	3.19	4,439	.095	
ľ	19	Deterrent – No home	3.41	4,438	.092	
	20	Support - Clergy	2.99	4,437	.089	
	21	Chronic CondDiabetic	2.78	4,436	.087	•
	22	Severity - Present	2.75	4,435	.085	
	23	Sex	2.26	° 4, 434	.083	a a s a
	24	Severity - 3 mos.	2.28	4,433	.082	• •
	25	Obesity >	2.42	4,432	.080	• •
	26	Hearing	2.17	4,431	.078	
	27	Non Verbal Comm.	2.07	4,430	.077	
	28	Eating	2,01	4,429	.075	
	29	Chronic CondNeurological	1.95	4,428	.074	
	30	Chronic CondMental Illness	2.26	4,427	.073	
	31	Support	2.07	4,426	.071	
	32	Source of Support-Spouse	2.26	4,425	.069	
	33	Deterrent - None	1.94	4,424	.068	
	34	Goes Outside	1.83	4,423	.067	
	35	Source of Support - Friend	1.97	4,422	.066	
	36	Chr. Cond-Respir, Disease	1.78	4,421	.065	
	37	Wander	1.61	4,420		
					.064	
	<u> </u>	<u>ن</u>	· · · ·	continued		

		·		
	•	·		
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		F.Value		
	Variable	to		Wilks'
Step	Entered	Enter or Remove	d.f.	Lamba
38	Chr. Condition - Alcohol	1.65	4,419	.063
39.	Acute Diag Unknown	1.61	4,413	.062
40	Health Risk -Suicide	1.58	4,417	.066
41	Chr. CondHeart Failure	1.43	4,416	.060
42	No Support	1.27	4,415	.059
43	Stability	1.23	4,414	.059
44	Chr. CondMalignancy	1.174	4,413	.058
45	Chr. Condition-Fracture	1.14	4,412	.057
46	Memory	0.96	4,411	.057
47	Judgement	1.03	4,410	.056
48	Speech	0.96	4,409	.056
49	Chr. Condition - C.V.A.	0.87	4,408	.056
50	Chr. Condition-Arthritis	0.80	4,407	.055
51	Chr. Condition-Cardiac	0.82	4,406	.055
52	Source of Support-Family	0.78	4,405	.054
53	Toilet	0.68 0	4,404	.054
54	Transfer	1.08	4,403	.053
55	Wheeling	0.92 .0	4,402	:053
56	Bowel	0.87	4,401	.052
57	Chr. Condition - Anemia	0.72	4,400	.052
58	Health Risk - None-	0.65	4,399	.052
59	Health Risk-Malnourished	1.05	4,398	.051
60	Dentition	0.75	4,397	.051
61	Verbal Comm. Adequate	0.60	4,396	.050
62	Bladder	0.57	4.395	.050
63	Dressing	0.55	4.394	.050
6.4	Chr. Cond-Hypertension	0.49	4,393	.049
65	Sight	0.43	4.392	.049
66	Initiative	0.33	4.391	.049
67	Special Diet	0.32	4,390	.049
68	Chr. Condition-Angina	0.32	4,389	.049
69	Mood - Uncooperative	0.26	4,388	.049
70	Chr. Condition - None	0.24	4,387	.049
71	Walking	0.21	4,386	.048
72	Mood – Anxious	0.18	4,385	.048
	Mood – Depressed	0.22	4,384	.048
74	Health Risk - Other	0.06	4,383	.048

·

•

 \mathcal{O}

.

۲. ֥ Table 4.38 shows a comparison of classification prediction by Bayesian Procedures and Classification and by the Medicine Hat Assessors. The overall agreement of 89.1% indicates a highly acceptable degree of consonance of classification using the two methods. A caution to the reader is required because the probabilities of a patient being in a specific Type of Care is partially a function of the prior probability which was based on the sample size of each Type of Care as determined by the Medicine Hat

Assessors.

	SEC OT A					·
NUMBER OF CA	OFO CTV	1	9	ACH TYP	E OF CAR	۱ E
	1	N = 46	1			
MEDICINE HAT		DESCRIM	TNANT	FUNCTIO	N AND	
ASSESSOR	•			ASSIFICA		
•	Туре	Type	Type	Туре	Туре	
	1	2	3	4	5	Total
Type 1	7	3	0	0	1	11
Type 2	· 3	221	7	1	2	234
Trance			,			
Type 3	0	13	37	4	<u>^2</u>	56
Type 4	0	0	0	29	7	36
Гуре 5	0	1	0	6.	117	124
Fotal	10	238	44	40	129	461
6 Agreement	66.6%	93.6%	74%	76.3%	92.5%	89.15%

The highest posterior probability for inclusion in a Type of Care is presented in Table 4.39, in terms of agreement or disagreement with the Medicine Hat assessors. Of the 461 cases, 239, or 51.8%, were correctly classified by the Bayesian procedure, with a probability of .99 or more. It can also be seen that the higher the probability of a patient being classified into a Type of Care, the less the disagreement with the assessor. For example, for cases with p \geq .99, the agreement was 97%, but under $p \leq .5$, the agreement dropped to 66.6%. -113-

					TABLE	E 4.39						
	HIGI	HEST POS	TERIOR	PROBAB	ILITY O	HIGHEST POSTERIOR PROBABILITY OF BEING IN EACH ASSESSED TYPE OF CARE	N EACH	ASSESSI	ID TYPE	OF CAF	٤E	
Probability	t	licine Hat	Assesso	rs' Class	ífication	Medicine Hat Assessors' Classification by Agreement or Disagreement with the Bayesian Procedure	nent or	Disagree	ment with	hthe Bay	esian Pro	ocedure
	Type 1)e 1	Type 2	2	Type 3	co ;	Type 4	e 4	Type 5	2	Total %	%
· · ·	Agree 1	Agree Disagree	Agree 1	Agree UISagree	Agree L	Agree Disagree	Agree	Agree Disagree	Agree	Agree Disagred	Agree	Agree Disagree
• 99 +	сю 	1	139	က	00	2	œ		81	0	239	2
				•							97%	2.8%
.9598	H	0	33	F-1	10	4	9	1	17	1	67	7
		•									90 . 5%	9.4%
. 75 94	7 2	8	35	8	13	ø	9	ိုက	14	က	20	18
					· · · · ·						79.5%	20.4%
. 50,74	Ч	Ч	14	ß	വ	. 9	9	2	വ	က	31	16
									1		66.0%	34.0%
Less .5	0	•	•	, 2	r-1	0	ო	0	0	0	4	2
											66.6%	33.3%
TOTAL	۲	4	221	13	37	20	29	2	117	2	411	20
											89.0%	11.0%

-114-

e,1

A summary of the discriminant analysis can be obtained by examination of a scatter Niagram of cases in relation to the means of each group or Type of Care as plotted, using the first canonical variate against the second (Figure 4.1). Those cases lying close to the mean of a group would have high probability of being in that group, however, the further they are from that mean toward the mean of another group, the lower the probability becomes that they are in the first group, and the higher the probability that they are in the second group. It is these latter cases which have the possibility of being mis-classified without precise statistical methods to provide analysis for -115-

discrimination.

Type 3 Mean	2 3 3	+	Type 4 Mean	
2 2 2 2	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 443 \\ 443 \\ 55 \\ 5 \\ 4 \\ 45 \\ 45 \\ 3545 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 5 $	nonica
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	212221223 212 222 2 2 2 222722322	2 22 22 2 3 3 1 1	والأفاد والمسابقة المتكاف الأكار بمعتها بالمراجع وبرجر والمناج والمستحد والمتعالية والمتحاط	riate] e 5
Type 2 Mean	2 Type 1 Mean	22 Canonical Variate II	55	
SCATTE	R DIAGRAM OF C.	GURE 4.1 ASE MEANS AND NICAL VARIATES	TYPES OF CARE MEANS 5 1 AND 2	

The Federal W.P.R. refers to the classification as being a

numerical system in its progression from Type 1 to Type 5, which reflects the increasing qualifications, numbers and variety of staff, increased cost and increased complexity of services required, which would tend to indicate a linear relationship of the group means. The concept of complexity might appear diagramatically as in Figure 4.2

1

Type 5 Type 4 Type 3 Type 2 Гуре 1 FIGURE

LINEAR RELATIONSHIP OF TYPES OF CARE MEANS

RELATED TO COMPLEXITY OF NEEDS

4.2

An interesting and important facet of the scatter diagram (Figure 4.1) is the curvilinear relationship of the means of each Type of Care to one another, with the Types in order along the curve. Without giving an interpretation of these two canonical variates, it is clear that Type 2 and Type 5 are the furthest apart (and most easily discriminable) of any two groups, a finding which is consistent with the findings of factor analysis of the classification variables reported earlier. As well, Type 1 is closer to Type 5 than is Type 2. Because the Types are ordered along the curve in

numerical order, there is some justification for postulating about the possible

ordinal nature of the Types. However, because the relationship of the group means is curvilinear, support is lacking for the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u> claim that program requirements may increase with increasing numerical Type. If our finding is valid, there are major implications for changes in priorities and funding to provide care for individuals with different, but no less complex, needs in the Types of Care, with the possible exception of Type 1.

EMPIRICAL VALIDITY

In order to get an indication of the degree of empirical validity, a random sample of 100 patients was chosen using the Neyman's Allocation Formula to stratify the sample according to institutions and those awaiting placement. An expert with extensive background in health care, as well as being a member of the Federal Working Party, was asked to classify the sample patients chosen, using only the information provided by nurse assessors in the assessment portion of the instrument. Results are summarized in Table 4.40. The overall percentage agreement in relation to Types of Care is 79.7%, with chi square of 206.906 with 20 degrees of freedom and a contingency coefficient of .821, both of which are significant

at the \checkmark = .05 level. Analysis of individual Types of Care shows high agreement in Types 1, 2 and 5 but 54.5% agreement in Type 3 and only 15.3% agreement in Type 4. The major problem appears to be the differentiation between Type 3 and Type 4 and, to a lesser degree, between Type 2 and Type 3. These findings point to the need for further research to develop variables which will discriminate more precisely between Types 2, 3 and 4,

	T	ABLE	4.4	4 0		
INTER-RATER EM	IPIRICA		LIDITY	TEST (OF CLA	ASSIFICATION
Medicine Hat Assessor Classification	•	F	xpert (Classifi	cation	
	Type 1	Type 2		Type 4	Type 5	Total .
Type 1	5	0	0	0	1	6
Type 2	2	39	0	0	0	41
Type 3	0	4	6	0	1	7
Туре 4 Туре 5	0	1	9	1	0 28	11 30 -
Total	8	44	15	2	30	<u> </u>
% Agreement	71.4%	91.7%	54.5%	15, 38%		79.7%
· · · ·	$\chi^2 = 20$			$f_{\bullet} = 20$ ht = .82		

Concern regarding the disagreement identified above led the investigator to examine the agreement between the Medicine Hat assessor, the expert and the Bayesian Classification for the cases in the empirical validation sample. Findings from this analysis appear in Table 4.41. Although overall agreement was 70.9%, the expert disagreed twice as often as the Bayesian Classification and nearly three times as often as the Medicina Hat assessor when there was one disagreement and the other two agreed. In only one case was there total disagreement among the three methods of classification.

TABLE 4.41

AGREEMENT AMONG MEDICINE HAT ASSESSORS, EXPERT, AND BAYESIAN CLASSIFICATION BY TYPE OF CARE

·	DUTTIOL		TIONTION	DITIFE	OF CARE	
	All				A11	
Assessed	Three	One	Disagrees		Three	Grand
Туре	Agree	Assessor	Expert	Bayesian	Disagree	Total
1	1	0	0	1	٥ 0	2
2	34	0	1	3	1	39
3	5	5 •	1	.0	0.	11
4	0	0	10	1	0	11
5	26	0	2	2	0	30
TOTAL	66	5	. 14	7	1	93
% Total	70.96%	5.37%	15.05%	7.53%	1.07%	100 %

The other inter-rater test was carried out between the Medicine Hat assessors and the expert in classifying the patients according to sites where their needs could best be met. As shown in Table 4.42, the overall agreement was 85.5% with the chi square and the contingency coefficient significant at the \checkmark = .05 level. Higher agreement is indicated in the institutions than in the home or lodge environment, which possibly indicates additional factors on which the Medicine Hat assessors made their decisions, but about which the expert was unaware, not knowing the patient.

TABLE 4.42

INTER-RATER VALIDITY TEST OF CLASSIFICATION BY SITES MEDICINE HAT ASSESSOR AND EXPERT

Medicine [.]			Nurs-	cpert Auxil-	Asses	Psych-	Gen.	+
Hat	Own		ing	iary	Rehab.		8	
Assessor	Home	Lodao	Home			1	Care	m i s
110060501	nome	Louge	1101116	Hosp.	Hosp.	Facility	Hosp.	Total
Own Home	3	0	0	0	0	0	2	5
Lodge	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	4
Nursing								
Home	0	• 1 •	40	0	0	Q	0	41
Auxiliary Hospital	1	0	1	13				
nospital	.	. 0	.	13	1	0	0	17
Psychiatric Facility	0	0	0	0.	0	1	0	
		, v	•	<u> </u>	•	.	0	1
Gen. Acute								
Hospital	2	0	0	1	0	1	25	29
Fotal	8	2	43	14	1	2	27	97
6							۹ •	
Agreement	46.15%	33.3%	95.2%	83.8%	0%	66.6%	89.3%	85.5%

Contingency Coefficient = .849

The empirical validation techniques utilized point to an acceptable degree of this kind of validity of the instrument, however, we must recognize the need for further research and development of the instrument in order to improve the discrimination, especially between Types 3 and 4. Additional variables may be required to make this possible. -120-

The content of this chapter is a report of the findings of the study on Patient Care Classification by Types of Care. A description of the population characteristics was undertaken which identified the multi-dimensional status of the 490 individuals on the study day in the four institutions and those awaiting placement in the long-term care facilities. Based on the assessment of medical, physical, psycho-social and demographic considerations, members of the study population were classified into one of the five Types of Care, the site where their needs could best be met and program requirements identified for those whose needs could be met in a non-institutional environment.

In order to identify the degree of reliability and validity of responses using the instrument and User's Manual developed by the investigator, statistical analysis was undertaken. Findings may be summarized as follows:-

<u>Reliability Studies</u>: With the exception of mine variables, there is a statistically significant relationship ($\propto = .05$) between the responses of the two independent nurse assessors on all the variables in the instrument. This does not necessarily point to an acceptable degree of reliability, rather that the similarity of response could not have occurred by chance alone. The variables which have significant findings by X^2 are also significant when testing by the contingency coefficient, phi or Cramer's V, and Kendall's Tau. When analyzing the percentage agreement between the two assessors, the mean percentage agreement is 88% for the assessment variables and 96% for the classification variables. The range of mean percentage

agreements is from 67.3% to a high of 100%. The median percentage agreement

for the assessment variables is 88.7%; 98.4% for the classification component; and an overall median agreement of 91.3%. Additional summary statistics are provided in Table 4.43.

TABLE 4.43

SUMMARY OF RESULTS OF ITEM RELIABILITY STUDIES

				UDITIO	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
					Number of
	Minimum	Maximum	Médian	<u>Mean</u>	Variables
Assessment:	•			-	
- Phi or Cramer's V	.037	1.00	.607	.558	89
- % Agreement	67.3%	100%	88.7%	88%	95
-Kendall's Tau	.404	1.00	.704	.699	33
Classification:					
-Phi or Cramer's V	.235	.765	.494	.493	18
-% Agreement	80.4%	100%	98.4%	96%	23
- Kendall's Tau	.856	.856	.856	.856	1
Overall:					
-Phi or Cramer's V	.037	1.00	.494	.547	107
-% Ameement	67.3%	100%	91.3%	89.5%	118
's Tau	. 404	1.00	.707	.740	34

bugh no traditional reliability coefficients can be calculated because re of the data, the above measures indicate an acceptable degree of

identiced from feedback by the users. Content validity was established by showing that the instrument items are a sample of a universe of items which measure the patient characteristics as defined in the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u> Construct validity was examined by factor analyses. Although only 39.2% of the variance

of

reli

within the assessment variables is accounted for by the first 6 assessment

122-

factors and 49.8% of the variance of the classification variables in the first six classification factors, the factors are identifiable and provide information about the underlying constructs.

Concurrent validity was identified by two methods. First, the degree of relationship of the instrument items to Types of Care was measured by use of chi square, contingency coefficient, Cramer's V, and on the ordinal variables, Kendall's Tau. Of the total of 118 variables, 88 are statistically significant at the $\ll = .05$ level. That is; the relationship of these variables to Types of Care could not have occurred by chance alone. It should be noted that, with the exception of special diet, inadequate verbal communication because of educational or cultural reasons, and anxiety, all the ADL and psycho-social variables have a significant relationship to Types of Care. 'A summary of the findings appears in Table 4.44.

\$	Minimum	Maximum	Median	Mean	Number of Items
Assessment:					
-Cramer's V -Kendall's Tau	.039	.756	.238	.259	۰ 103
	• • • • • • •	.649	.164	.221	38
Classification: - Cramer's V	.076	.671	.180	.218	15
Overall:					
-Cramer's V	.039	.756	.235	.254	118

The second method used to identify the degree of concurrent validity

was multiple group stepwise discriminant analysis and Bayesian classification on 74 assessment variables to identify the probability of each case belonging to each Type of Care. A comparison was then done between the Type of Care with the highest probability and the Type of Care assigned by the Medicine Hat assessor. The overall percentage agreement is 89%, with a range from a low of 66.6% for Type 1, which may or may not be an accurate reflection because of the small sample size, to 92.5% for Type 5 patients. The results indicate good discriminability as shown by the Wilks' Lambda which at the last step is 0.048, and 0.085 at step 22 which is the last step that is statistically significant. A scatter diagram of cases in relation to the means of each Type of Care was plotted using the first canonical variate against the second. The diagram shows a curvilinear relationship of the means of each Type of Care to one another, with the Types in order along the curve.

The empirical validity study undertaken by an independent external expert was to identify whether or not the item responses from the assessment component of the instrument contain adequate information on which to base the classification decision by an expert, without any other knowledge of the patient. Although the overall agreement between the Medicine Hat assessor and the expert was 79.7%, there are major problems within the categories. Type 5 and Type 2 have agreements over 90%, however, there is 71% agreement for Type 1, 54% for Type 3, and a low 15% agreement for Type 4. Although there was only a small sample size, this result may indicate the need for more precise determiners in the assessment component of the instrument and/or more clearly stated patient characteristics for each Type of Care.

•

To further analyze the agreement and disagreement of the Type of Care classification, a three way examination of the Medicine Hat assessor, the expert and Bayesian classification was undertaken. Findings show 70.9% overall agreement but the expert disagrees twice as often as the Bayesian Classification and nearly three times as often as the Medicine Hat assessor when there is one disagreement and the other two agree,

Even with the limitations noted above, there is an adequate indication of face, content, construct and concurrent validity. The overall degree of empirical validity is adequate; however, the validity related to Type 4, in particular, is not totally acceptable, pointing to the need for additional development of the assessment and classification system.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

The purpose of this chapter is to briefly summarize the study of Patient Care Classification by Types of Care, to provide an overview of findings of the reliability and validity studies undertaken, to discuss some of the limitations of the study and to outline the major conclusions and recommendations related to research and administrative policy decisions.

SUMMARY

The study was undertaken to develop and test an instrument for assessment and classification of patients by Types of Care. The project was initiated by the Medicine Hat and District Health Planning Committee as one method of identifying the needs of the community for health care programs and facilities, as well as describing the characteristics of the study population to show the appropriateness of present patient program-placement. The major objective of the investigator was to identify the degree of reliability and validity of data obtained by use of the instrument.

Using the Types of Care classification and related patient characteristics, as defined in the <u>Report of the Working Party on Patient Care</u> <u>Classification</u>, November, 1973, as a criterion measure, an assessment and classification instrument and User's Manual were developed. Assessment items were related to the demographic characteristics, medical status and physical and psycho-social functioning of each patient. Classification items included the Type of Care, the site where needs could best be met and program requirements.

Following a pilot test and pretest, a clinical analytical survey was carried out on a specific day, on a study population of 490 patients in an acute care hospital, auxiliary hospital, two nursing homes and individuals awaiting placement in the long-term care facilities. The assessors were registered nurses in the institutions and in the community, providing care to the patients, and additional input from other health care professionals, the patient and his family was encouraged.

A stratified random sample of 100 patients was used for an interrater reliability study and another sample of 100 patients was randomly chosen for an empirical validity study. Statistical procedures were undertaken to identify the degree of reliability and validity of the instrument items and to produce descriptive frequency distributions.

An acceptable degree of item reliability was identified in the interrater study, as indicated by a median 91.3% agreement between the two assessors over all items. Acceptable face validity was indicated by feedback from the users, and content validity was established by content analysis. Construct validity was shown by two factor analyses, one on the assessment variables, and another on the classification items. The major assessment factor was a physical dependency construct. Both of these factor analyses identified a factor associated with acute psychiatric needs, in addition to other factors related to Types of Care as defined. Concurrent validity was

established by examination of the extent of relationship between each item and

Types of Care. Stepwise discriminant analysis and Bayesian classification indicated adequate discriminability between Types of Care, with Wilks' Lambda being .048 at the last step. Agreement between the Medicine Hat assessors and the Bayesian classification was 89% overall. A scatter diagram of the means of each Type of Care plotted on the first two canonical variates showed a curvilinear relationship, with the Types of Care in order along the curve. The empirical validity study showed overall agreement between the expert and the Medicine Hat assessors to be 79.7%, however, difficulty was encountered with identifying Type 4 patients.

In conclusion, results of the item reliability study indicate an acceptable degree of reliability, even though no traditional reliability coefficients were calculated because of the nominal and ordinal nature of the data and the heterogeneous nature of the Types of Care concept. The presence of an adequate degree of face, content, construct, concurrent and empirical validity was indicated, but certain limitations of the study exist. The major limitations are listed below.

LIMITATIONS

1.

The extent of knowledge about Patient Care Classification by Types of Care is limited because of its relatively recent development. In fact, it is a conclusion of this study that the concept requires more development. Although aware of this weakness, the investigator based the study on the stated Types of Care, related patient characteristics and associated terminology. Refinement or redefinition of the Types of Care, while a worthwhile pursuit, was considered to be beyond the scope of this study.

2.

4.

5.

The results of this study apply only to the study population situated in one geographical and cultural area and findings should be interpreted in terms of this specific patient population only. The extent of generalizability of the findings to other populations is unknown.

The study is a "snap shot" look at the population on one day. Therefore, although the findings reflect the characteristics on that particular day, they may be atypical of the population at other times.

Patients were assessed by clinical nurse assessors who were taking part in the study as well as carrying their regular workload. Time constraints may have affected their objectivity. Input to assessment from others was encouraged, but no systematic method was defined for this additional input. As well, potential sources of external invalidity such as Hawthorne effect, novelty and disruptive effects, experimenter effect and pretest sensitization were not controlled.

Assessment was based on inferences from average behavior rather than on standardized observational techniques. Individual assessors may have had different interpretations of the terminology associated with items and their categories, despite the standardization attempted by the User's Manual and orientation sessions. The empirical validity study was carried out by one health care professional acting as an expert, rather than a panel of experts who might have provided a more varied perspective of patient needs.

No attempt was made to identify predictive validity, that is, the ability of the data gathered by use of the instrument to forecast over a period of time. Further research will be required to investigate this kind of validity.

Sample size within the five Types of Care shows major variation. Types 2, 3 and 5 sample size was adequate, however, Type 4 was relatively low and Type 1 sample size was inadequate on which to base generalizable statements.

8.

9.

The technique of validating the instrument by comparing with an automated classification based on assessment information was restricted to discriminant analysis and Bayesian classification that are based on linear models. No attempt was made to search for or apply non-linear models for comparison and validation.

10. From an extensive review of the literature and discussion with experts in the field of health care delivery and measurement, there was no available "criterion of adequacy" related to non-parametric statistics in the area of testing for reliability and validity of instrument items. The investigator has accepted the findings as
being an adequate indication of reliability and validity, however, the reader may draw his own conclusions from the results presented.

CONCLUSIONS

1.

2.

4.

5.

Because of the stated limitations and the urgency to developed apply the concept of Patient Care Classification, the need for further research in this area of study is critical.

The instrument developed to assess and classify patients based on the Types of Care concept has been found, within the stated limitations, to be reliable and valid.

It would appear from results of the statistical analysis in this study that there is an additional Type of Care which might be termed "Acute Psychiatric Care" which is not identified in the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u> This finding indicates the need for additional development of the Types of Care concept.

The finding of a high disagreement of the expert assessor with the Medicine Hat assessors in identifying Type 4 patients points to the need for further development of the definition and characteristics of Type 4 patients. There is also need for identification of additional determiners in the instrument, to assist with discrimination between Types of Care, in particular as related to Type 4.

The curvilinear relationship of means of Types of Care in order

along the curve, identified in the discriminant analysis, has major implications for program and planning decisions. That is to say, that although the <u>Federal W.P.R.</u> indicates that complexity of care requirements increases with the numerical value of the Types of Care, the results of this study contradict this assumption because they indicate that the complexity between the Types is different and cannot be seen as simply varying degrees of one kind of complexity.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1.

2.

3.

This section, giving recommendations, is divided into two parts. First, the research recommendations and, secondly, recommendations related to administrative policy.

RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS

Further research and demonstration projects are recommended in order to increase the data base, define additional assessment variables, refine the operational definitions in the User's Manual and study the adequacy of the criterion measure, Types of Care, and related patient characteristics.

Longitudinal studies are required to identify the extent of predictive validity, which was beyond the scope of this study.

Research related to Levels of Care, that is, the quantitative aspect

of care requirements within each Type of Care, should be

undertaken to develop knowledge of the requirement for staff and programs to meet the needs of patients in all Types of Care in the home, ambulatory or institutional setting.

Study should be undertaken to determine a weighting system for objectively determining the Type of Care required from patient assessment information.

Further research should be undertaken to do in-depth analysis of patient characteristics within each Type of Care, to identify their specific underlying constructs and, therefore, provide information on which to base educational programs for health care personnel, development of information for epidemiological study into the cause and prevention of physical and psycho-social dependency and provide knowledge on which to base long-term planning of health care delivery.

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended:

1.

That health care agencies experiment with the instrument, to identify its utility in aiding with initial patient program-placement decisions as well as ongoing assessment of program requirements as patients' conditions change over time. That health care planners assess the applicability of data obtained in studies of this kind, to assist with short-term as well as longterm planning for programs in institutions, a community, a region or at the provincial level.

2.

That, following further refinement of the instrument by ongoing research, consideration be given to basing a finance mechanism on identified requirements for patient care.

That the development of alternate sites and programs for delivery of health services be based, in part, on information about population need identified in studies of this kind.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abdellah, F. & Levine, E. <u>Better patient care through nursing research</u>. New York: MacMillan, 1966.
- Abdellah, F., Beland, I., Martin, A., & Mathney, R. <u>New directions in</u> <u>patient-centered nursing</u>. <u>Guidelines for systems of service</u>, <u>education and research</u>. New York: MacMillan, 1973.

Akpom, C.A., Katz, S., & Densen, P.M. Methods of classifying disability and severity of illness in ambulatory care. <u>Medical Care</u>, <u>11</u>(2), pp. 125-131.

- Albers, D., Howard, G., & Pasewark, R. The geriatric profile index: A system for identifying, managing and planning for geriatric patients in state hospitals. Journal of the American Geriatric Society, <u>17</u>, pp. 1108-1112.
- Barker, L., & Bayne, J. APS: The Hamilton model. <u>Dimensions in Health</u> <u>Service</u>, 1974, <u>51</u> (7), pp. 53-54.
- Bay, K.S. Application of multivariate analysis of variance to educational and psychological research hypothesis testing by MANOVA programs. <u>Multivariate Behavioral Research</u>, 1971, 6, pp. 325-362.
- Bay, K., Lee, D., Flathman, D., & Roll, J. <u>Myocardial infarction prognosis:</u> <u>An application of step-wise discriminant analysis and Bayesian</u> <u>classification procedure</u>. Unpublished Manuscript, University of Alberta, Division of Health Services Administration, 1974.
- Bayne, J.R.D. An assessment and placement program. <u>Canadian Hospital</u>, 1972, <u>49</u> (3), pp. 45-46.
- Benjamin Rose Hospital, Staff of. Multidisciplinary study of illness in aged persons. I. Methods and preliminary results. <u>Journal of Chronic</u> <u>Disease</u>, 1958, <u>7</u>, pp. 332-345.
- Benjamin Rose Hospital, Staff of. Multidisciplinary study of illness in aged persons, II. A new classification of functional status in activities of daily living. Journal of Chronic Disease, 1959, 9, pp. 55-62.
- Benjamin Rose Hospital, Staff of. Multidisciplinary studies of illness in aged persons, V. A new classification of socioeconomic functioning of the aged. Journal of Chromic Disease, 1961, 13, pp.453-464.

-135-

Berg, R.L. (Ed.). Health Status Indexes. Proceedings of a conference conducted by Health Services Research, Tucson, Arizona, October 1-4, 1972. Chicago: Hospital Research and Educational Trust, 1973. Bloom, enkner, M. Assessing functioning of older persons living in unity. The Gerontologist, 1970, 10 (1), pp. 31-37. Bloom, E., Frires, G., Hanson, H., Hurd, G., & South, V. ng the ill aged. The Gerontologist, 1971, 11 (4), pp. 292ritis umbia Classification of Types of Health Care. Victoria: The artment of Health, 1973. Brue , & Overs, R.P. A critical review of 12 ADL scales. Physical ierapy, 1969, 49, pp. 857-862. W., & Lohnes, P.R. Multivariate procedures for the behaviorial Coole sciences, New York: Wiley, 1962. a Task Force - nursing homes in Alberta. Edmonton: Alberta Commi ospital Services Commission, June, 1974. Effective use of nursing resources: a research report. Hospitals, Connor, Journal of the American Hospital Association, 1961, 35 (5), pp. 30-39. Crawford, Feather, J. Some elements of questionnaire design and

wing. Discussion notes for Health Care Evaluation Seminar, atoon, Saskatchewan, April 24-28, 1972.

Criteria for levels of care for the Province of Saskatchewan. Joint Health and Social Services Planning Committee. Regina: Department of Public Health, June 1969, amended April, 1972.

Cronbach, L.J. Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. <u>Psycho-</u> <u>metrika</u>, 1951, <u>16</u>, pp. 297-334.

Cronbach, L.J. Validity. In C.W. Harris (Ed.), <u>Encyclopedia of educational</u> <u>research</u>. New York: MacMillan, 1960.

Cronbach, L.J., & Meehl, P.E. Construct validity in psychological tests. In W.A. Mehrins & R.L. Ebel (Eds.), <u>Principles of educational and</u> <u>psychological measurement</u>. Chicago: Rand McNally & Co., 1967.

- Cureton, E.E. Validity. In E.F. Lindquist (Ed.), <u>Educational measurement</u>. Washington, D.C.: American Council on Education, 1951, pp. 621-694.-
- Dick, W., & Hagerty, N. <u>Topics in measurement. Reliability and validity</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1971.
- Dinnerstein, A.J., Lowenthal, M., & Dexter, M. Evaluation of a rating scale of ability in activities of daily living. <u>Archives of Physical Medicine</u> <u>and Rehabilitation</u>, 1965, <u>45</u>, pp. 579-584.
- Dixon, W.J. (Ed.). <u>BMD: Biomedical computer programs</u>. Berkley: University of California Press, 1973.
- Draft Classification of Types of Care. Halifax: Government of Nova Scotia, Health Services and Insurance Commission, 1974.
- Dressler, F.G. Jr. <u>Patient care assessment in extended health care facilities</u>. New Haven, Connecticut: Connecticut Health Services Research Series, <u>1</u>, 1971.
- Ebel, R.L. Estimation of the reliability ratings. <u>Psychometrika</u>, 1951, <u>16</u>, pp. 407-424.
- Ebel, R. L. Must all tests be valid? In W.A. Mehrens & R.L. Ebel (Eds.), <u>Principles of educational and psychological measurement</u>. Chicago: Rand McNally & Co., 1967, pp. 219-231.
- Ebel, R. L. <u>Essentials of educational measurement</u>. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, 1972.
- Edgerton, H.A. The place of measuring instruments in guidance. In Wilma T. Donahue, C.H. Coombs & R.M.W. Travers (Eds.), <u>The measurement</u> of student adjustment and achievement. Ann Arbor, Michigan: University of Michigan Press, 1949, pp. 51-58.
- Ferguson, G.A. <u>Statistical analysis in psychology and education</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1971.
- Flagle, C. Communication and control in comprehensive patient care and health planning. <u>Annals New York Academy of Sciences</u>, 1969, <u>161</u>, pp. 714-729.
- Flathman, D. <u>Draft report --provincial patient census</u>. Unpublished Manuscript, University of Alberta, Division of Health Services Administration, 1973.

Ford, A.B., Katz, S., Downs, T.D., & Adams, M. Results of long-term home nursing: The influence of disability. <u>Journal of Chronic Disease</u>, 1971, <u>24</u>, pp. 591-596.

Fox, K., Williams, T.F., Hill, J., Fairbank, M.E., Kroeker, J., Yazwinkski, R., & Gammiero, P. <u>Criteria and Guidelines for evaluation of aged or chron-</u>
 <u>ically ill persons for maintenance at home or for placement in an</u>
 <u>appropriate long-term care institution.</u> Unpublished Manuscript, The Evaluation-Placement Unit, Rochester, New York: 1974.

Gaitz, C.M., & Baer, P.E. Diagnostic assessment of the elderly: A multifunctional model. <u>Gerontologist</u>, 1970, <u>10</u> (1), pp. 47-52.

Georgette, J.K. Staffing by patient classification. <u>Nursing Clinics of North</u> <u>America</u>, 1970, <u>5</u>, pp. 329-339.

Gersten, J.W., Cenkovich, F., Dinken, H., & Miller, B. Evaluation of rehabilitation in home or clinic setting: Problems in methodology. <u>Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation</u>, 1966, <u>47</u>, pp. 199-202.

Giovannetti, P. The reliability and validity testing of a subjective patient classification system. (P.H.R.G. 609-7-197) Vancouver, B.C., 1970.

Gordon, E.E., Kohn, K., Sloan, J., Gimble, A., Grunes, J., Robinson, R.A., Hendkoff, E., Peavyhouse, B., Anderson, J., Wagner, D., Roberts, L., Young, R., & Elfenbaum, H. Study of rehabilitation potential in nursing home patients over 65 years. Journal of Chronic Disease, 1962, 15, pp. 324-326.

Gordon, P.C., Wanklin, J.M., Harvey, N.H., & Hatcher, G.H. An approach to patient care classification. <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u>, 1966, <u>95</u>, pp. 1228-1236.

Goldsmith, S.B. The status of health status indicators. <u>Health Services Reports</u>, 1972, <u>87</u>, 1. 212.

Goldstein, S.E. Psychiatric needs of geriatric patients. <u>Dimensions in Health</u> Service, 1974, <u>51(1)</u>, pp. 53-55.

Griffith, J.R., Weeks, L.E., & Sullivan, J.H. <u>The McPherson experience</u>. Ann Arber: University of Michigan, 1967.

Gulliksen, H. Theory of mental tests, New York: Wiley, 1950.

Gurel, L., Linn, M.W., & Linn, B.S. Physical and mental impairment-offunction evaluation in the aged: The PAMIE scale. Journal of Gerontology, 1972, 27, pp. 83-90.

Ģ

- Gurney, C., Roth, M., Garside, R.F., Kerr, T.A., & Schapira, K. Studies In the classification of affective disorders; The relationship between anxiety states and depressive illnesses - II. <u>British Journal of</u> <u>Psychiatry</u>, 1972, <u>121</u>, pp. 162-166.
- Hamilton, M. Lectures on methodology and clinical research, (2nd ed.). Edinburgh & London: Churchill Livingstone, 1974.
- Hellig, D., O'Hare, D., & Smith, N. The care component score A new system for evaluating quality of in-patient care. <u>American Journal</u> of Public Health, 1972, <u>62</u>, pp. 540-546.
- Hughes, W., Kalbfleisch, J., Brendt, E., & Costiloe, J.P. Myocardial infarction prognosis by discriminant analysis. <u>Archives of Internal</u> <u>Medicine</u>, 1963, <u>111</u>, pp. 120-127.
- Jelinek, R. A structural model for the patient care operation. <u>Health Services</u> <u>Research</u>, 1967, Fall-Winter, <u>2</u> (3), pp. 226-242.
- Jones, E.W. <u>Patient classification for long-term care: User's Manual.</u> (H.E.W. Research Grant H.S. -00632, D.H.E.W. Publication No. H.R.A. 74-3107) Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Washington, D.C.: December, 1973.
- Katz, S., Vig-Nos, P., Moskowitz, R., Thompson, H., & Svec, K. Comprehensive outpatient care in rheumatoid arthritis: A controlled study. <u>Journal of the American Medical Association</u>, 1968, <u>206</u>, pp. 1249-1254.
- Katz, S., Ford, A.B., Downs, T.D., & Adams, M Chronic disease classification in evaluation of medical care programs. <u>Medical Care</u>, 1969, 7, pp. 139-143.
- Katz, S., Downs, T.D., Cash, H.R., & Grotz, R.C. Progress in development of the Index of ADL. <u>Gerontologist</u>, 1970, <u>10</u> (1), pp. 20-30.
- Katz, S., Jackson, B.S., Jaffe, M.W., Littel, H.S., & Turk, C.E. Multidisciplinary studies of illness in aged persons VI comparison study of rehabilitated and non rehabilitated patients with fracture of the hip. Journal of Chronic Disease, 1962, <u>15</u>, pp. 979-984.

Kelman, H.R., & Willner, A. Problems in measurement and evaluation of rehabilitation. <u>Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation</u>, 1962, <u>43</u>, pp. 172-181.

Kistin, H., & Morris, R. Alternatives to institutional care for the elderly and disabled. <u>The Gerontologist</u>, 1972, <u>12</u> (2), pp. 139-142.

- Kleh, J. A classification for the aged and other patients with chronic disease or disability. Journal of American Gerontology Society, 1963, <u>11</u>, pp. 638-646.
- Kyle, M. <u>The psycho-geriatric patient in Alberta nursing homes</u>. A study for the Alberta Hospital Services Commission, Edmonton: 1974.

Kyle, M. <u>Final report - Medicine Hat study of patient care classification by</u> <u>types of care</u>, to the Medicine Hat and District Health Planning Committee. Unpublished Manuscript, Medicine Hat and District Health Planning Committee, Medicine Hat, Alberta: 1975.

Leedy, P.D. <u>Practical research planning and design</u>. New York: MacMillan, 1974.

Lerner, M. Conceptualization of health and social well-being. In R. L. Berg (Ed.), <u>Health Status Indexes</u>. Chicago: Hospital Research & Educational Trust, 1973.

Lindquist, E.F. <u>A first course in statistics</u> (Rev. ed.). Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1942.

McCabe, G.P., Jr. Computations for variable selection in discriminant analysis. <u>Technometrics</u>, 1975, <u>17</u> (1), pp. 103-109.

Meer, B., & Baker, J.A. The Stockton geriatric rating scale. Journal of Gerontology, 1966, 21, pp. 392-403.

Morgan, D. Assessment and placement services: A key to successful bed utilization. <u>Dimensions in Health Service</u>, 1974, <u>51</u> (7), pp. 46-49.

 Mosier, C.I. A critical examination of the concepts of face validity. In
 W.A. Mehrens & R.L. Ebel (Eds.), <u>Principles of educational</u> and psychological measurement. Chicago: Rand McNally & Co., 1967.

Moskowitz, E., McCann, C.B., Cairbre, B.M. & St. Johns, M.B. Classification of disability in the chronically ill and aging. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Chronic Disease</u>, 1957, <u>5</u>, pp. 342-346.

- Nauen, R., Weitzner, M., & Muller, J.N. A method for planning for care of long-term patients. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 1968, <u>58</u>, pp. 2111-2119.
- Nelson, E.K. Charging nursing home patients according to care requirements. <u>Hospital Topics</u>, 1965, <u>43</u> (4), pp. 42-44.
- Neufeld, C. We care about the shape they're in. <u>Hospital Administration in</u> <u>Canada</u>, 1974, <u>16</u> (5), pp. 30-34.
- Nie, N.H., Bent, D.H., & Hull, C.H. <u>Statistical package for the social</u> <u>sciences</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1970.
- Offhouse, C.D. Nursing administration in extended care. Journal of Nursing Administration, 1972, 2 (5), pp. 39-42.
- Overton, P. <u>Categorization for patient-program placement: An analysis of</u> <u>crucial factors in types of care classification systems</u>. Paper submitted in partial fulfillment of courses H.S.A. 460 and H.S.A. 513, Edmonton: University of Alberta, Division of Health Services Administration, 1974.
- Oxford Regional Hospital Board: Measurement of nursing care. Operational Research Unit, Report No. 9, Oxford: The Board, 1967.
- Plutchik, R., Conte, H., Lieberman, M., Bakur, M., Grossman, J., &
 Lehrman, N. Reliability and validity of a scale for assessing the functioning of geriatric patients. Journal of the American Geriatric Society, 1970, 18, pp. 491-500.
- Porcheron, Y. An approach to patient care classification. <u>Hospital Admini-</u> stration in Canada, 1973, <u>15</u> (4), pp. 26-28.
- Preston, R., White, K., Strachan, E.J., & Wells, H.B. Patient care classification as a basis for estimating graded inpatient hospital facilities. Journal of Chronic Disease, 1964, <u>17</u>, pp. 761-772.
- Province of Newfoundland. <u>A description of services, types of facilities and</u> <u>nursing staff for varying levels of health care</u>. St. Johns: Government of Newfoundland, Department of Health, 1972.
- Raj, D. The design of sample surveys. New York: McGraw Hill, 1972.
- Redford, J., Brostrom, M., & Gough, K. In extended care facilities: Reactivation programs cut nursing care costs. <u>Dimensions in Health</u> <u>Service</u>, 1974, <u>51</u> (11), pp. 14-17.

- <u>Review Report of Working Party on Patient Classification to the Advisory</u> <u>Committee on Quality of Care and Research.</u> Ottawa: Hospital Insurance and Diagnostic Services, 1973.
- Rosencranz, H.A., & Pihlblad, C.T. Measuring the health of the elderly. Journal of Gerontology, 1970, 25, pp. 129-133.
- Ryder, C.F., Elkin, W.F., & Doten, D. Patient assessment, an essential tool in placement and planning of care. <u>Health Services Reports</u>, 1971, <u>86</u>, pp. 923-932.
- Shelton, D., Schlesinger, R., & Fibiger, H. Bed utilization -- A community study. Hospital Management, 1968, <u>105</u> (5), pp. 46-48.
- Sjoberg, K., & Bicknell, P. <u>Patient Classification Study</u>. Hospital Systems Study Group, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: September, 1968.
- Skinner, D. E., & Yett, D. E. Debility index for long-term-care patients. In R.L. Berg (Ed.), <u>Health Status Indexes</u>. Chicago: Health Research and Educational Trust, 1973.
- Stebbins, D.E. <u>Hospital-based extended care facilities a framework for</u> <u>analyses</u>. Paper #3, Occasional Papers in Hospital and Health Administration, School of Public Health, University of California, Berkley: September, 1973.
- Task Force Report on the Cost of Health Services in Canada, 2. Ottawa: Queen's Printer, 1969.
- Wechsler, D. A standardized memory scale for clinical use. Journal of <u>Psychology</u>, 19, pp. 87-95.
- Wenkert, W., Hill, J., & Berg, R. Concepts and methodology in planning patient care services. <u>Medical Care</u>, 1969, <u>7</u>(4), pp. 327-331.
- Williams, T.F., Hill, J.G., Fairbank, M.E., & Knox, K.G. Appropriate placement of the chronically ill and aged. <u>Journal of the American</u> <u>Medical Association</u>, 1973, <u>226</u>, pp. 1332-1335.

-142-

APPENDIX 1

5

SUIER 1974

NDICISE INT STUDY QF PATIENT CLASSIFICATION BY TYPES OF CARE

Plasse circle the number of the correct response or fill in the blank where requested. COMCULT THE PERSICIAN ON OTHER MEALTH PROFESSIONAL AS PEOUL SECTION A: IDENTIFICATION DATA Ð I. NAME OF CLIENT 6. YEAR OF BIRTH 2. LOCATION 7. RESIDENT OF 1. Medicine Hat General 1. Alberta Dr. Dan MacCharles Auxiliary 2. Sasketchevan 3. River View Hursing Home J. Other (specify) 4. Sunnyside Nursing Home 5. Cypress View Lodge 6. Hobe 7. Other (specify) 8. PRIMARY SUPPORT IN COMMUNITY A. 1. No Support 2. Limited Support 3. Adequate Support 3. CLIENT IS CURRENTLY: A. IN-PATIENTI Admission Date B. SUPPORT IS. DAY HON 1. Spouse 2. Family Hember Admitted From: Home (rural) 2. Home (urban) J. Acute Hospital 3. Business Contact 4. Religious Affiliation 4. Auxiliary Nospital 5. Mursing Home 6. Senior Citizens' Loige 5. Priend 6. Social Group 7. Other (specify 7. Psychiatric Facility 8. Other (specify) B. OUT-PATIENT: Date of Service 9. EXPECTED THE SPAN FOR PROGRAM TO MEET CURRENT NEEDS HONTH YEA с. WAITING LIST: Date of Contact 1. Less Thin 1 Month 2. 1 to 3 honths 3. 4 to 12 Nonths for Service MONTH YEAD 4. More Than 12 Months 4. SEX dava 10. APPROXIMATE TIME SPAN BEFORE REASSESSMENT REQUIRED 1. Hale weeks 2. 7 mile onth 11. PRIMARY MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS 5. MARITAL STATUS 1. Married 2. Single 3. Widowed 12. SECONDARY NEDICAL DIAGNOSIS: 4. Divorced or Separated 1 SECTION B: PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONING 13. SIGIT 16. PARALYSIS 19. TRANSFER 22. BATHING 1. No Impairment I. None 1. Without Nelp 1. Without Help 2. Some Impairment 3. Blind 2. Muscular Weakness or Atrophy $l_{\rm c}$ 2. With Help 2. With Help 3. Paralysia 3. Bedfast J. Bathed by Otheri 14. HEATING 17. GOES OUTSIDE HOUSE/FACILITY 20. MALK 23. DRESSING 1. No Impairment -1. Without Help 1. Without Help 2. With Help 1. Without Melp 2. Some Impairment 3. Does Not Mear 2, With Help 3. Does Not Go Outside 2. With Help 3. Is Dressed by Others 3. Chairfast or Bodfast 15. SPEECH 18-6 HOVES ABOUT HOUSE/FACILITY 21. WEEL 24. EATING 1. No Impairment 1. Without Help 1. Without Help 2. With Help 1. Without Help 2. Some Impairment J. Does Mot Speak 2. With Help 3. Confined to Bed 2. Some Help J. Total Help - Ordl 4. Total Help - Tube F 5. Total Help - Parent: J. No Wheeling . nt rad

-144-



25. EATING - WHERE?

1. Dining Room 2. Chair in Bedroom 3. Bed

26. SPECIAL DIFT

1. Yes 3. No

1. Without Help 2. With Help 3. Never Uses 28. BOWEL FUNCTIONS 1. Normal Function 3. Normal With - Laxatives - Suppositories - Eneral J. Impaction 4. Involuntary Loss 6. Ostomy - Self Care 6. Ostomy - Assistance Required

27. TOTLETING

USES TOTLET ROOM

SECTION C: PSYCHO-SOCIAL FUNCTIONING

- 30. COMMUNICATION SKILLS
 - . A. VERML
 - 1. Adequate

 - Insdequate Reasons: (Nore than one resp may be applicable.)

4

- 3. Educational
- 3. Physical
- 4. Cultural 5. Emotional
- 6. Other (specify)

31. HEHORY AND ORIENTATION

- 1. Normal
- 2. Periods of Porgetfulness, Confusion or Disorientation
- 3. No Recall
- ο.
- 33. MOOD AND BEHAVIOR (Check appropriate level and conditions. More than one condition may be applicable.)

1.40

1. HORNAL

- 3. HODERATELY OR OCCASIONALLY
-
 - 1. Depressed 3. Withdrawn
 - 3. Overactive
- 4. Uncooperative 5. Belligerent
- 3. EXTREMELY
- 1. Depressed 2. Withdrawn
- 3. Agitated
- 4. Uncooperative 5. Physically Aggressive

34. RISK FACTORS (Nore than one response may be applicable.)

- 1. Patient Abusing Drugs/Alcohol

.

- Bell Inflicted Injuries/Suicides
 Personal Problems Marital/Family/Self/Community
 Traumatic Injuries/Asputations

- 5. Peychistric Disturbance 6. High Risk Life Style (i.e., overesting, heavy smoker) 7. Other (specify)
 - . - \mathbb{R}^{2}

29. BLADDER FUNCTIONS

- 1. Hormal Function
- 2. Retention No indvalling Catheter 3. Retention Indvalling Catheter
 - Involuntary Loss No Cathoter or Device
 Involuntary Loss Indvelling Cathoter '
 Involuntary Loss External Device

1. Adequate Inadequate 2.

BON VERBAL

9.

0

32. ABILITY TO BE REALISTOC IN JUDGENENT

1. Bornal 2. Limited Ability to be Realistic in Judge 3. Unable to Make any Judgement ۰.

•

Į.

< N < 1

. 2

<u>ن</u>

			•	•	-145-
	- - -	2 v 1			
	•	and the group of the			
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	and the second second second	·			
		•	3 -		
- All All All All All All All All All Al		•			
					•
SECTION D: SUBJECTIVE DECI	SION OF CARE REQUIREMENTS		•	•	
		·			
35. SERVICE REQUIREMENTS (Nore than one response may	y be applicable.)			
1. Physiotherapy 2. Occupational Therapy	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		10. Sheltered Workshop		
3. Speech Therapy	-		11. Family Therapy 12. Hilieu Therapy		
4. Vocational Assessmer 5. Diversional Therapy	St / Sector L Parameters 11		13. Community Services	(Information and Educational)	
W. BOCISI LASEWORK			14. Oral Medication Add 15. Injectable Medicat	inistration	
7. Psychological Servic 8. Marital Counselling	/ea	•	16. Skilled Medical or	Barsing Treatment, (Passania)	y Persons with
3, Group Therapy	. · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Formal Training as	Opposed to On-The-Job Trainir not Mentioned Above (specify)	-1
		an an star star star Na tara star star star st		(opecity)	
36. TYPE OF CARE REQUIRED (Dee Definitions of Types	of Care)			Specific Res
Type I	Type II	.Type III			
			Type IV	Type V	
37. SITE MHERE CLIENT NEEDS	CAN BE BEST MET (Circle	one site only. Assu			
• 1. Own Home with Arnrow	state dumant calls		China all sites all svert	LD14./	
" 4. IOSCEL HORE WITH Ann	TODELARS ENDERED Frankland				
 1. Boarding Home with Age 4. Lodge with Appropriat 	Poropriète Summere Commitee				
5. Mursing Home 6. Auxiliary Hospital					
7. Special Rehabilitatic	on Hospital				
8. Psychiatric Care Faci 9. General Hospital	lity				
38. PROGRAMS REQUIRED TO WEE	T CHENTIS CLODENT WEEDE				
38. PROGRAMS REQUIRED TO HEE	CONTRACT OF CONTRACT NEEDS	I'rea of mote may pe	applicable. Assume that al	1 programs are available.)	
Ambulatory Care					
2. Day/Night Care					
 Geriatric Day Care Psychiatric Day and 	A Niche Com				
5. Diabetic Day Care	- Hayne care	an an tao an			
6. Rehabilitation	d/or Nursing Trestment				
<pre>/* SKilled Hedical and</pre>					
S. SUIGICAL DAV CARA	or May Not be Admirted				
 Surgical Day Care Emergency Care - Hay of Crisis Centre - Nav or 	T MAY NOT DA SAMIAAAA				
 Burgency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay of 11. Community Resource Care 	T MAY NOT DA SAMIAAAA				
 aurgical Day Care Beergency Care - Hay 6 Crisis Centre - Hay 6 Community Resource Cerlis Physicians Offices Heals-On-bheels 	r Hay Not be Admitted htre				
 aurgical Day Care Bergency Care - Hay of Crisis Centre - Hay on Community Resource Cer Hysiclans Offices Heals-Op-bheels Other Community and Sc 	r Hay Not be Admitted htre	makets, special equi	ipment, library services		
 aurgical Day Care Emergency Care - Hay 6 Crisis Centre - Hay 6 Community Resource Car Physicians Offices Heals-On-bheels 	r Hay Not be Admitted htre	makers, special equi	ipment, library services		
 aurgical Day Care Emergency Care - Hay of Crisis Centre - Hay of Community Resource Cer Physicians Offices Heals-Op-bheels Other Community and Sc 	r Hay Not be Admitted htre	makets, special equi	ipment, library services		
 aurgical Day Care Bergency Care - May of Crisis Centre - May of Community Resource Carl Physicians Offices Physicians Offices A Other Community and Sc Other (specify) 	r Hay Not be Admitted htre	makers, special equi	ipment, library services		
 aurgical Day Care Bergency Care - May of Crisis Centre - May of Community Resource Carl Physicians Offices Physicians Offices A Other Community and Sc Other (specify) 	r Hay Not be Admitted htre	makers, special equi	ipment, library services		
 aurgical Day Care Bergency Care - May of Crisis Centre - May of Community Resource Carl Physicians Offices Physicians Offices A Other Community and Sc Other (specify) 	r Hay Not be Admitted htre	miters special equi	ipment, library services		
 a surgical Day Care Bergency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay on 11. Community Resource Centre 12. Physiclains Offices 13. Heals-Op-Wheels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 	r May Not be Admitted ntre Docial Services, e.g., home	uniters special equi	ipment, library services		
 aurgical Day Care Bergency Care - May of Crisis Centre - May of Community Resource Carl Physicians Offices Physicians Offices A Other Community and Sc Other (specify) 	r May Not be Admitted ntre Docial Services, e.g., home	uniters special equi	ipment, library services		
 a surgical Day Care Bergency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay on 11. Community Resource Centre 12. Physiclains Offices 13. Heals-Op-Wheels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 	r. May Not be Admitted htre Scial Services, e.g., home 	uniters special equi			
 a surgical Day Care Bergency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay on 11. Community Resource Centre 12. Physiclains Offices 13. Heals-Op-Wheels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 	<pre>r. May Not be Admitted ntre >cial Services, e.g.; home</pre>	milete special equi	4. Borial Weiher S. Family		
 a surgical Day Care Bergency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay on 11. Community Resource Centre 12. Physiclains Offices 13. Heals-Op-Wheels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 	r. May Not be Admitted htre Scial Services, e.g., home 	milete special equi	4. Accial Marker 5. Family 6. Community Contact (spe	1291	
 a surgical Day Care Bergency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay of 11. Community Resource Care 12. Physicians: Offices 13. Meals-Op-wheels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 40. INPUT FOR ASSESSMENT FROM 	<pre>r. May Not be Admitted ntre >cial Services, e.g.; home</pre>	Hites special equ	4. Borial Weiher S. Family	189)	
 a surgical Day Care Bergency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay of 11. Community Resource Care 12. Physicians: Offices 13. Meals-Op-wheels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 40. INPUT FOR ASSESSMENT FROM 	<pre>r. May Not be Admitted ntre >cial Services, e.g.; home</pre>	mileis special equ	4. Social Werker 3. Family 6. Community Contact (spe 7. Other (specify)		
 a surgical Day Care Bergency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay of 11. Community Resource Care 12. Physicians: Offices 13. Meals-Op-wheels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 40. INPUT FOR ASSESSMENT FROM 	<pre>r. May Not be Admitted ntre >cial Services, e.g.; home</pre>	Hites special equ	4. Social Werker 3. Family 6. Community Contact (spe 7. Other (specify)		
Surgical Day Care Sumarginery Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay of 11. Community Resource Care 12. Physiclains Offices 13. Heals-On-theels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 40. IMPUT FOR ASSESSMENT FROM 41. ASSESSOR	<pre>r. May Not be Admitted ntre scial services, e.g., bom l, Client. l, Client. l, Physician l, Parse</pre>		4. Secial Worker 5. Family 6. Community Contact (spe 7. Other (specify) TiTLE (M.D.,	R.M., M.S.V., etc.)	
Surgical Day Care Sumargical Day Sumargical	<pre>r. May Not be Admitted ntre scial services, e.g., bom l, Client. l, Client. l, Physician l, Parse</pre>		4. Secial Worker 5. Family 6. Community Contact (spe 7. Other (specify) TiTLE (M.D.,	R.M., M.S.V., etc.)	
 asergacel Day Care Beergency Care - Nay of 10. Crisis Centre - Nay of 11. Community Resource Care 12. Physiclains Offices 13. Heals-Op-Wheels 14. Other Community and Sc 15. Other (specify) 39. COMMENTS 40. INPUT FOR ASSESSMENT FROM 41. ASSESSOR 	<pre>r. May Not be Admitted ntre scial services, e.g., bom l, Client. l, Client. l, Physician l, Parse</pre>		4. Secial Worker 5. Family 6. Community Contact (spe 7. Other (specify) TiTLE (M.D.,	R.M., M.S.V., etc.)	
Surgical Day Care Sumargical Day Sumargical	<pre>r. May Not be Admitted ntre scial services, e.g., bom l, Client. l, Client. l, Physician l, Parse</pre>		4. Secial Worker 5. Family 6. Community Contact (spe 7. Other (specify) TiTLE (M.D.,	R.M., M.S.V., etc.)	

..... 1

APPENDIX 2

FOR USE OF THE RESEARCHER DILY: CLIENT /

FEITURY, 1975 [@]

NEDICINE HAT STUDY OF PATIENT OVE CLASSIFICATION BY THES OF CARE

inval gives an accurate contanition of what points are included under each question. Please be faultiar with these deacrip For using the questionhiltes. Consult the revention other health projection for the totally as required. All items

SECTION "A" IFOUTIFICATION

1. NAME OF CLIENT:

2. LOCATION:

- A. 1. Medicine Hat General 3. Dr. Dan MacCharles Aux.
- 3. Riverview Sursing Hone
- 4. Summyside Nursing Home
- 3. Senior Citizens' Lodge
- 6. Hone
- 7. Other (specify)
- 5. Roos /_
- C. IF IN GENERAL
- MOSPITAL SERVICE:
- 1. I.C.U. 3. Surgical
- 2. Nedical 4. Psychiatrie

3. PSYCHO-SOCIAL SUPPORT IN COMMUNITY:

- A. 1. Unknown
- 2. No Support
- 3. Linited Support 4. Adequate Support
- B. HAUGA SOURCES OF SUPPORT:
- 38 1. No Source Available/Coknows 2. Stouse
- 3. Facily Member
- 4. Clergy/Priest/Church Worker .
- 5. Friend
- 6. Other (specify)

- 4. CLIENT IS CUPRENTLY AN IMPATIENT: A. 1. Yes 2. No (if "NO", proceed to #5) If "Yes", 8. Admission Date: Day C. Admitted From: 1. Home (Rural) 2. Home (Urban) 3. Acute Hospital 4. Aux. Hospital 5. Nursing Hone 6. Sr. Citizens' Lodge 7. Psychiatric Facility 8. Other (spacify)
- 5. CLIENT IS AWALTING PLACEMENT IN ALTERNATE FACILITY:
 - A. 1. Yes
 - 2. No (if "No" proceed to (6) If "Yes",
 - 8. Date Of Request For Servica:
 - Day _____ Yr.
 - C. Placement Requested:
 - 1. Auxiliary Hospital
 - 2. Riverview Nursing Roce
 - 3. Sunnyside Nursing None 4. Senior Citizens' Lodge

 - 5. Other (specify)

- 6. YR. OF BIRTH:
- 7. SEX: 1. Hale 2. Female .
- 8. RESIDENT OF: 1. Alberta 2. Saskatchevan 3. Other (specify)
- 9. MARITAL STATUS: 1. Married 2. Single 3. Widowed 4: Divorced or Separated 5. Other
- 10. DEPENDENCY OF CLIENT ON SUPERVISION:
 - 1. None Independent
 - 2. Minital Non Realth Care Person
 - 3. Moderate Professional Nurse Part-fins

· · · · ·

- 4. High Professional Nurse 24 Hours Per Day
- 11. DETERRENTS TO PLACEMENT BASED ON NEEDS :
 - 1. None
 - 2. No Bed In Appropriate Facility
 - J. Financial 4. No Home To Go To

 - 5. Fapily Unable Or Unvilling To Care For Client 6. Client And/Or Family Reject Proposed Placement

SECTICH "B" MEDICAL STATUS

12. CLIENT'S MEDICINE HAT. PHYSICIAN:	14. CLINICAL CONDITION IS STABILIZED: 1. Tes 2. No
13. MEDICAL DIALNOSES: (SOTH "A" & "B" MAY BE APPLICABLE) A. Client His Acute Condition:	15. SEVERITY OF IPPAIRMENT:
1. None 2. Unknown - For Investigation And Examination 3. Frimary Diagnosis	A. Present INTALEMENT LIGATENTY PERLITATING THREE J. In 3 Mos. (Prodict)
4. Fecondary Diagrosis 5. Client Has Chronic Condition:	C. In 1 Yr. (Prodice)
1. Hone 10. Hypertension 2. Alcoholism 11. Multignancy 3. Aremia 12. Huntal Illness 4. Angina And/Or 13. Neurological Disorders Myocardial Infarction 14. Respiratory Disorder 5. Archits 15. Cerebravascular Accident	i. Nona 2. Obesity 3. Mainutrition 4. Hebyy Cigarette Snoker 5. Suicidal
 Congestive Heart Failure 16. Fracture - Chronic Diabetes Selitius 17. Other (soucify) 	17. POTENTEAL FOR INCROVEMENT OF HEALTH THROUGH COORDINATED REMARKS STATION PROGRAMS
5. Drug Abuse	1. Mone 2. Moleraro 3. High 18. <u>CLIFHT RECUIRES REASESSEENT OF CARE PROGRAM</u> 1. In One Month OF Lenn 3. In Six Honths OF Lenn 2. In These Houths OF Lenn 4. In One Year OF Lenn



-147-

	-14
SECTION "E" SUBJECTIVE EWILLATION OF SERVICE RECORDITIONS	5
3. Spith Therapy	lees And Information n Agalaistration Station Atministration 1 And/UF Nursing Treatment (Performed By Persons With Formal Training As Opposed
6. Social Concessie 7. Peychological Services 13. Other (specify)	
SECTION "F" CLASSIFICATION OF THE CE CARE, SITES, PROGPA	
40. Type Of Care (Use Dafinitions of Type Of Care) 1. TYPE I 2. TYPE II 3. TYPE III 4. TYPE IV	S. TYPE V
41. SITE - WHERE CLIENTS NEEDS CAN BEST BE MET: (ONE SITE	
 Ova Homa With Appropriate Support Services Foster Hora With Appropriate Support Services Boarding Hore With Appropriate Support Services Lodge With Appropriate Support Sorvices Nursing Hore 	6. Auxiliary Hospital 7. Special Rehabilitation Hospital 3. Paychiatric Care Facility 9. General Acute Hospital 10. Other (spicify)
42. PPOGRAMS:	
TE alfest is institutionalised, we will assume progra	ans will be provided (i.e., \$41, 5-9). If he can function is a hous or lodge
site, (1.e., #41, 1-4) which of the following common 1. None	9. Crisis Centre 10. Physicians Offices
Arbulatory Care 2. Day/Night 3. Coriatric Diy Care 4. Psychietric Day/Night Care 5. Diabetic Day Care 6. Rehabilitation Programs	 Keals-On-Wheels Hore Nursing Program Alcoholids Anonymous Program Monomakers And/Or Fore Help Other Community Services, Special Equipment, Library, Rome Visitor, 1
Arbulatory Care 2. Day/Sight 3. Gerlatric Diy Care 4. Psychietric Day/Sight Care 5. Diabetic Day Care	12. Home Nursing Program 13. Alcoholics Anonymous Program 14. Homenses And/Or Kade Holp
Arbulatory Care 2. Day/Sight 3. Corietric Diy Care 4. Psychietric Day/Sight Care 5. Diabetic Day Care 6. Rehabilitation Programs 7. Skillel Medical/Sursing Care	 Home Nursing Program Alcoholics Anonymous Program Hownakers And/OF Node Holp Other Community Services, Special Equipment, Library, Home Visitor, E
Arbulatory Care 2. Day/Sight 3. Geriatric Diy Care 4. Psychietric Day/Night Care 5. Diabetic Day Care 6. Rehabilitation Programs. 7. Skillel Wedical/Sursing Care 8. Surgical Day Care.	 Home Nursing Program Alcoholics Anonymous Program Hownakers And/OF Node Holp Other Community Services, Special Equipment, Library, Home Visitor, E
Arbulatory Care 2. Day/Sight 3. Geriatric Diy Care 4. Psychietric Day/Night Care 5. Diabetic Day Care 6. Rehabilitation Programs. 7. Skillel Wedical/Sursing Care 8. Surgical Day Care.	 Home Nursing Program Alcoholics Anonymous Program Hownakers And/OF Node Holp Other Community Services, Special Equipment, Library, Home Visitor, E
Arbulatory Care 2. Day/Sight 3. Goriatric Diy Care 4. Psychietric Day/Night Care 5. Diabetic Day Care 6. Rehabilitation Programs 7. Skillel Xedical/Sursing Care 8. Surgical Day Care	 Home Nursing Program Alcoholics Anonymous Program Hownakers And/OF Node Holp Other Community Services, Special Equipment, Library, Home Visitor, E
Arbulatory Care 2. Day/Night 3. Griatric Diy/Care 4. Psychietric Day/Night Care 5. Diabecic Day Care 6. Rebatilization Programs 7. Skillel Medical/Norsing Care 8. Surgical Day Care 43. <u>COMMENTS:</u>	 Home Nursing Program Alcoholics Anonymous Program Hownakers And/OF Node Holp Other Community Services, Special Equipment, Library, Home Visitor, E
Athulatory Care 2. Day/Night 3. Corietric Day/Night Care 4. Psychietric Day/Night Care 5. Diabetic Day Care 6. Rebatilitation Programs 7. Skillel Medical/Norsing Care 8. Surgical Day Care 43. COMMENTS: 44. INPUT FCR ASSESSMENT FROM: 1. Client 4. Social Worker 2. Physician 5. Farily	 Home Nursing Program Alcoholics Anonymous Program Hownakers And/OF Node Holp Other Community Services, Special Equipment, Library, Home Visitor, E



TABLE OF CONTENTS

-150-

PAGE

ł

2

3

- 13

- 21

- 24

25

29

29

2

3

13

22

25

INTRODUCTION

GOAL OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL PROBLEMS PATIENT CARE CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM COMPONENTS OF THE CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM METHOD OF DOING THE CLASSIFICATION SECTION "A" - IDENTIFICATION

SECTION "B" - MEDICAL STATUS

SECTION "C" - PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING

SECTION "D" - PSYCHO-SOCIAL FUNCTIONING

SECTION "E" - SUBJECTIVE EVALUATION OF SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

SECTION "F" - CLASSIFICATION OF TYPES OF CARE, SITES, PROGRAMS

CONCLUSION

INTRODUCTION

This project was undertaken at the request of the Medicine Hat and District Health Services Planning Committee as a method of identifying the requirements for sites and programs to meet the needs of the citizens of that community. A questionnaire was developed in the Summer of 1974 and a pre-test run in September. Registered Nurses and Social Workers acted as assessors, evaluating a total of 542 clients. Input for the assessment came from nurses, physicians, other health professionals, clients and families. -151-

Various methods of statistical analysis have been undertaken to identify the degree of reliability and validity of the content of the questionnaires. The importance of each assessment item was defined in relation to the classification categories. The questionnaire has been revised, new pertinent items were added and other items which were not required were deleted. It is now ready for the 1975 test.

Orientation of the assessors was done on a verbal basis for the pre-test, however, in an effort to increase the reliability of the assessment and classification, this manual has been prepared for use during the 1975 test.

GOAL OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL PROBLEMS

As stated in the Federal Working Party Paper On Patient Care Classification, the ideal goal is:

... to have the <u>client</u> or the <u>patient</u> in the <u>right</u>. <u>place</u> with the appropriate service at the <u>right</u> <u>time</u>. In order to achieve this ideal the program should have the capacity to:

- (a) *identify the need* of the individual;
- (b) identify the time when the service will have
- optimal benefit: and

(c) <u>identify the place and the means</u> through which the needs would be met by the appropriate service. Services should be comprehensive in scope, aimed at <u>providing continuity</u> and a reasonably high quality of care. To be efficient and effective, services need to be <u>integrated and accessible</u> to the person at the time of need. It should be a dynamic system responding to changes of need from time to time and adaptable to the needs of particular communities, individuals and events.¹

PATIENT CARE CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM

Patient Care Classification has been identified as one method of working toward the stated goal. In "Types Of Care" Classification, the thrust is in dealing with clients who have manifest needs, a defined or undefined morbidity which requires direct action, as well as a requirement for care based on identified needs. The assessment component of the Classification is comprised of a set of items which are patient oriented, multidimensional in content, objectively stated, and precisely defined. The classification component is based on the criteria described in the Federal <u>Working Party</u> <u>Report</u>. The definitions of Types Of Care have been used verbatum and definitions of sites and programs have been modified to reflect the Alberta scene.

The aim underlying studies of this kind is to provide health care professionals with necessary information on which to make judgements about the significance of the client's status. The study does not explain why the client functions in the way he does. Often the explanation is revealed by a group of assessment items. For example, if the client has total impairment of speech and no verbal communication, it is not surprising to find a chronic condition as a result of a C.V.A. As well, the Classification System is not designed to provide all the information required for all decisions regarding the care of an individual. Rather, it is a core of information which may have to be augmented depending on the purpose of the study.

¹<u>The Report Of The Working Party On Patlent Care Classification To The</u> <u>Advisory Committee On Hospital Insurance And Diagnostic Services</u>. Department Of National Health and Welfare, Ottawa: 1973.

PATIENT CARE CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM CONT'D.

To summarize, the Classification System is an information gathering activity using a tool which organizes selected information about the clients and allows for systematic processing of the data. The same information base will be available for each client, regardless of who acts as assessor. An essential point is that the items are precisely defined so that the Classification will be based on an accurate assessment of the functional status of the client.

Only when the degree of reliability and validity of the questionnaire can be determined, that is, when there is consistency, stability and repeatability, as well as if the questionnaire actually measures what it seeks to measure, can the data be accepted as measuring the needs of the clients and properly classifying them into types, sites and programs.

COMPONENTS OF THE CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM

The questionnaire is divided 'into six sections:

- A. IDENTIFICATION
- **B. MEDICAL STATUS**
- C. PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING
- D. PSYCHO-SOCIAL FUNCTIONING
- E. SERVICE REQUIREMENTS
- F. CLASSIFICATION BY TYPES OF CARE, SITES AND PROGRAMS

The first five sections contain assessment items which provide the information necessary to complete the sixth section, which is the classification component. The majority of assessment items are scaled to discriminate amont clients according to their degree of dependency, from none or minimum, to high dependency. The classification section requires knowledge about the five assessment sections as well as an awareness of the definitions of Types Of Care and related Patient Characteristics which are incorporated in this Manual.

COMPONENTS OF THE CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM CONT'D.

The questionnaire has been developed utilizing input from many previous research projects. Of particular note is the work of Densen with a group of researchers from four American Universities.¹ Their work in identifying and defining assessment items has been valuable in preparing for this study. Many of their definitions have been used verbatum in this User's Manual. Proper acknowledgement will be provided in the final report.

METHOD OF DOING THE CLASSIFICATION

- 1. The Assessor should read the User's Manual and refer to it while going through the questionnaires so that the meaning of each item, Type Of Care definitions and related patient maracteristics are clearly understood.
- Every item is to be completed, except where designated. The items which are "starred" (*) may require more than one response.
- 3. The concept of "Types Of Care" is based on an interdisciplinary approach to Classification. Therefore, it is recommended that physicians, nurses, and other health professionals be involved in the project. As well, the client and/or his family may have valuable input. Please involve as many relevant sources as possible in completing the question-naire.
- 4. Please circle the small numerals designating the correct response to each item. For those items requiring a written response (we have tried to keep them to a minimum) please print if you think there would be a problem in reading your written script.
- 5. All clients in the General Hospital (with the exception of pediatric and obstetrical patients), Auxiliary Hospital, two Nursing Homes and those clients awaiting placement in the Nursing Homes should be assessed on the designated day for the study. All admissions to the General Hospital for one week after the study day will be assessed in order to get an indication if any of these individuals could receive care on an ambulatory basis.
- 6. If there are any problems of interpretation, please refer them to Mrs. K. Lawrence who is acting as coordinator of this project.

Reported by Ellen Jones in <u>Patient Classification For Long-Term Care: User's</u> <u>Manual</u>. Dept. Of Health Education And Welfare, Health Resources Administration, Bureau of Health Research and Evaluation. Washington, D.C.: December, 1973.

SECTION "A" IDENTIFICATION

The identification items fix the assessment procedures in time and place. Items specific to the client are important in the management of his care.

1. Name Of Client:

The client's name will be used to identify the individual only during the gathering of information. The researcher will then assign each client a number, unique to that client for the study, with the following purposes:

- 1. protecting the privacy of the individual; and
- -2. distinguishing each questionnaire or computer record from another, so as to prevent possible error.

2. Location:

A. This item refers to the place in which the client is located on the day of the Patient Classification Study.

Home means owned or rented apartment or house, multiple or single dwelling.

Other - may include rented rooms with or without board in a hotel, YMCA/YWCA etc. If cooking facilities are available in the room it would be considered a Home.

- B. If the client is in an institution, please note their room number. If the client is at home, proceed to Item #3.
- C. If the client is in the General Hospital, please note which type of service he/she is on. Gynecology patients should be classified under "surgery".

3. Psycho-Social Support In The Community:

This item is an index of the psycho-social support available to the client and is aimed at determining who supplies the support. It does not refer to financial support.

SECTION "A" IDENTIFICATION. CONT'D.

- 4. Client Is Currently An Inpatient:
 - A. If the client is not institutionalized, circle number 2 and proceed to Item #5.
 - B. The date of admission provides information regarding the length of stay of the client in the institution <u>up to the</u> <u>time of the study</u>.

C. <u>Admitted from</u> gives an indication of the proportion of clients moving from home to institution or between institutions in the health care system.

5. Client Is Awaiting Placement In An Alternate Facility:

This item does not refer to clients awaiting placement in the General Hospital.

- A. If the client is not awaiting alternate placement, circle number 2 and proceed to Item #6.
- B. <u>Date Of Request For Service</u> refers to the day, month and year that the 290 form was submitted for client placement in the nursing home or auxiliary hospital or when the request was made for placement in a lodge.
- C. <u>Placement Bequested</u> means the decision made by physician, client and/ or family regarding the appropriate location for placement.
- 6. Year Of Birth:

The calendar year in which the client was born.

7. Sex:

This item is the biological designation of the client as male or female.

SECTION "A" IDENTIFICATION CONT'D.

8. Resident Of:

This item refers to either:

(a) the province which issued the hospitalization coverage; or

(b) other residency, e.g., United States of America.

'It does not refer to eligibility for the Nursing Home Plan.

9. Marital Status:

This item indicates the status of the client relative to the civil rite or legal status or marriage. If living common-law, or any other category not covered above, denote by circling #5 for "other" -157-

10. Dependency Of

Client On Supervision:

This item relates to the amount of general supervision required to enable the client to function physically, psychologically, and socially.

CATEGORIES

- 1. None the client is totally independent. No supervision is required.
- 2. Minimal supervision can be provided by a non health care person, e.g., housekeeper, family member, senior citizen's lodge manager.
- 3. Moderate the client requires supervision of care by a professional nurse on a part-time basis in a nursing home or on a two or more visits per week basis by a home visiting nurse.
- 4. High the client requires 24 hours per day supervision by professional nurses, e.g., in an acute care hospital, auxiliary hospital or at home with continuous professional nursing care.

SECTION "A" IDENTIFICATION CONT'D,

11. Deterrents To <u>Placement Based On Needs</u>:

This item refers to reasons why the client is assessed for a specific placement, but is receiving care in an alternate site.

CATEGORIES

- 1. None no deterrents are identified.
- 2. No Bed In Appropriate Facility the client is awaiting placement. When a bed is available he will be transferred.
- 3. Financial the client is unwilling or unable to assume the financial burden of costs in a location where his needs can best be met.
- 4. No Home To Go To the client's home is no longer available due to liquidation of holdings, etc.
- 5. Family Unable Or Unwilling To Care For Client because of space limitation, working arrangements, age, and/or condition of spouse or family member, or any other family reason, the client is unable to move to a home environment.
- 6. Client And/Or Family Reject Proposed Placement the reasons may include distance to travel, social attitudes, fear of regression of condition, etc.

SECTION "B" MEDICAL STATUS

This section attempts to identify factors which are related to the <u>medical</u> status profile of the client, as apart from the <u>functional</u> status or <u>socio-demographic</u> status.

12. Client's Medicine Hat Physician:

This information has been requested by the Health Care Planner to provide information for his purposes.

-158-

SECTION "B" MEDICAL STATUS

CONT'D.

13. Medical Diagnosis:

A. Client has an acute condition means that the client is currently exhibiting symptoms of disease in the acute phase. Diagnosis may or may not have been established.

CATEGORIES

- 1. None no acute condition is evidenced.
- 2. Unknown for investigation and examination.

3. Primary Diagnosis.

4. Secondary Diagnosis.

B. Client has a chronic condition. The defined conditions are selected disorders and disabilities that, if present, decrease the client's chance of improvement and recovery, and increase his chance of regression and death. These defined conditions were chosen on the basis of experience and research carried out over many years. A condition is considered present if the medical diagnosis is consistent with the defined category. The conditions are concerned with current status, therefore, past history of these conditions, with the exception of malignancy in the past 10 years, is applicable only if there is a current manifestation of that condition. Any malignancy in the past 10 year period should be included. If the medical diagnosis does not fall within the list of condition categories, please enter the diagnosis under "other". More than one response may be applicable.

CATEGORIES

- 1. None no chronic conditions are evidenced.
- 2. Alcoholism the medical diagnosis is alcoholic addiction, habitual excessive drinking or other forms of medically diagnosed alcoholism.
- 3. Anamia a medical diagnosis of anemia of one of the following types:
 - aplastic,
 - B-12 deficiency (pernicious) anemia or
 - folic acid deficiency anemia
 - It excludes iron deficiency anemia.

10

SECTION "B" MEDICAL STATUS CONT'D.

- 13. Medical Diagnosis:
 - B. Client has a chronic condition. Cont'd.

CATEGORIES

4. Angina and/or Myocardial Infarction. This item records the presence of angina and/or myocardial infarction as defined in standard medical texts.

10 .

- 5. Arthritis. This item includes osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis.
- 6. Cardiac Arrhythmias. This item records irregularities of heartbeat diagnosed as atrial fibrillation, left or right bundle branch block or complete heart block.
- 7. Congestive Heart Failure. This item records the medical diagnosis of congestive heart failure, including right ventricular failure and left ventricular failure.
- 8. Diabetes Mellitus. This item records the medical diagnosis of diabetes/meliitus.
- 9. Drug Abuse. Drug abuse is the addiction to, or dependence on anaesthetic or analgesic drugs, barbituates, hypnotics, sedatives tranquillizers, psychostimulants, hallucinogenics, or other habit forming drugs.
- 10. Hypertension. This item records a medical diagnosis of essential hypertension, including malignant hypertension.
- 11. Malignancy. This item records any medical diagnosis of malignancy, primary or metastatic, within 10 years prior to the date of assessment.
- 12. Mental Illness. This item includes a medical diagnosis of psychosis, anxiety, depression or other psychiatric illness. Excluded from this item are the following:
 - Alcoholism without mention of psychosis (see #13-B-2)
 - Chronic brain syndrome (see #13-B-13)
 - Drug abuse (see #13-B-9)
 - Mental retardation (see #13-B-13)

SECTION "B" MEDICAL STATUS CONT'D.

- 13. <u>Medical Diagnosis</u>:
 - B. Client has a chronic condition. Co

Cont'd.

CATEGORIES

13. Neurological Disorders. This item includes diseases of the central nervous system and peripheral nerves. Some more common examples of diagnosis in this category are:

11 -

- chronic brain syndrome
- congenital defects, e.g., cerebral palsy, etc.
- demyelinating and dysmyelenating e.g., multiple
 - sclerosis, encephalomyelitis
- epilepsy
- extrapyromidal, e.g., Parkinsonism
- mental retardation
- peripheral neuropathies

This category <u>excludes</u> cerebrovascular disease e.g., hemorrhage, embolism or thrombosis (see #13-B-15).

14. Respiratory Disease, Chronic. This item refers to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, bronchitis, emphysema and/or asthma.

15. Cerebrovascular Accident, Chronic. This item refers to chronic conditions which are a result of a C.V.A. (hemorrhage, embolism, thrombosis).

- 16. Fractures, Chronic. This item refers to chronic conditions resulting from any type of bone fracture. The most common example is a hip fracture but others are applicable.
- 17. Other (specify). Any chronic condition associated with a medical diagnosis that does not fall within the above categories should be noted here.

14. Clinical Condition Is Stabilized:

This item refers to the current stage of illness. The condition is stable if no fluctuation or change is expected in the near future. -161-

SECTION "B" MEDICAL STATUS

15. Severity Of Impairment:

This item refers to the current severity of a client's overall degree of impairment and a subjective prediction of the client's level of impairment in three months and also in one year. It is an attempt to identify prognosis e.g., if the client has malignancy, is it considered terminal now and what is the outlook for the future?

12

CONT'D.

-162-

.13

16. Major Health Risk Factors:

This item attempts to identify factors which may be imposed which contribute to ill health. A portion of them have been identified by Marc Lalonde in <u>A New Perspective On The Health Of Canadians</u>.

CATEGORIES

1. None.

- 2. Obesity: Observation of height and weight permits quantification of this condition.
- 3. Malnourished. Client, because of poor eating habits, has a risk to his health.
- 4. Heavy Cigarette Smoker. Describes the clients current status in respect to cigarettes. It does not include cigar or pipe smoking. A client is considered a "heavy smoker" if he/she smokes 25 or more cigarettes per day.
- 5. Suicidal. The client has contemplated or attempted to take his own life.
- 6. Lack Of Physical Exercise. Related to the client's age and physical status. He does not maintain his health through exercise.
- 7. Fragile Skin Condition. The client's skin tends to break down unless catefully attended to.

SECTION "B" MEDICAL STATUS CONT'

- 17. Potential For Improvement Of Health Through Coordinated Rehabilitation Programs:
 - This item refers to intensive planned rehabilitation programs, e.g., physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, as well as intensive psychiatric or psychological therapy.

CATEGORIES

- 1. None. The client would not benefit from this type of therapy.
- 2. Moderate. The client would obtain some benefit to maintain or elevate his level of functioning.
- 3. High. There is potential for major improvement of the client's health through intensive rehabilitation therapy.

18. Client Requires Reassessment Of Care Program:

This item is an attempt to identify a general time range in which the overall program of care should be discussed and reassessed based on changes in the condition of the client. It does <u>not</u> refer to unexpected crises. Clients needing acute care would obviously fall within the first category, but how often should the care profile of a long-term care client be reviewed?

SECTION "C" PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING

Items in this section are frequently referred to as the basic activities of daily living, since they describe the client's performance of activities that are common to all human beings and that are necessary for basic social existance.

-163-

SECTION "C" PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING CONT'D.

For those clients obtaining <u>acute type care</u>, the assessment should describe the actual performance of the client on the day of the study. For assessment of <u>long-term care</u> clients, the usual performance of activities within two weeks prior to assessment can be considered current status. "Usual" may be interpreted to mean more often than not.

14 -

19. Senses:

A. Sight. Sight is the act, faculty or perceiving of objects through the eyes.

CATEGORIES

- 1. No Problem. No problem with sight with or without compensation with glasses/lenses.
- 2. Some Problem. Some problem with sight with or without compensation with glasses/lenses.
- 3. Major Problem. The client is blind.
- B. Hearing. Hearing is the act, faculty or process of perceiving sound through the ears.

CATEGORIES

- 1. No Problem. No problem with hearing with or without compensation with a hearing aid.
- 2. Some Problem. Some problem with or without compensation with a hearing.aid.
- 3. Major Problem. The client is deaf.
- C. Speech. Speech is the ability to express or communicate opinions, feelings, ideas, etc. by talking. This item relates to the physio-logical ability to speak.

CATEGORIES

- 1. No Problem. Physiologically able to speak.
- 2. Some Problem. Problem in speaking brought on by a disease process.
- 3. Major Problem. Unable to speak because of physical damage.

-164-

15

SECTION "C" PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING CONT'D.

20. Grooming:

A. Bathing. This item describes the process of washing the body or body parts.

15 .

CATEGORIES

- No Help. The client receives no assistance or supervision from another person. He may require equipment, e.g., grab bars, railings, etc. but is independent in their use.
- Some Help. Another person assists the client by activities such as filling the tub with water, helping the client in and out of the tub, assistance with bath, towel drying and supervision. It also refers to assistance with sponge baths.
- 3. Total Care. The client is completely bathed by another person or persons whether in bed, shower or tub.
- B. Dressing. This item describes the process of putting on, fastening, and taking off all items of clothing, braces, and artificial limbs that are worn daily by the individual; and obtaining and replacing these items from their storage area in the immediate environment. This item includes the ability to put on and takeoff clothing worn in bed.

CATEGORIES

- No Help. The client receives no assistance or supervision from any other person. He may require equipment, e.g., braces, artificial limbs, etc. but is independent in applying and removing them.
- 2. Some Help. Another person helps the client in activities such as obtaining the clothing, fastening buttons and zippers, putting on and off clothes, socks, shoes, putting on and off braces and artificial limbs, providing supervision and teaching the client to dress himself.
- 3. Total Care. The patient is completely dressed by another person.

SECTION "C" PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING

21. Walking:

This item describes the process of moving about on foot.

CATEGORIES

1. Without Help. The client receives no assistance or supervision from another person. He may need a cane or crutches, etc., but requires no assistance in their use.

CONT'D.

-166-

. 17

- 2. With Help. The client needs assistance or supervision of another person on a one-to-one relationship of helper and client. He may also require the use of leg braces, splints, canes, walker etc. in conjunction with the human assistance.
- 3. Chairfast Or Bedfast. The client does not usually walk. He may be helped to take a few steps from bed to chair, but this alone does not constitute walking.

22. Goes Outside House/Facility:

This item describes the client's ability to go outside the house or

CATEGORIES

- 1. Without Help. The client goes outside and returns without assistance from another person. He may require the use of devices, e.g., cane, crutches, wheelchair, but is independent in their use.
- 2. With Help. One or more persons help the client when he goes outside. He may also require equipment, and/or devices.
- 3. Does Not Go Outside. The client does not usually go outside the house or facility. Transfer by taxi or ambulance to doctors offices, clinics or hospital are not considered "outside" for purposes of this item.
-167-

SECTION "C" PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING CONT'D.

23. Voluntary Motion Of Limbs:

This item is the loss or partial loss of voluntary motion of any limb, with or without the loss of sensation.

CATEGORIES

1. No Problem. Has voluntary control.

2. Muscular Atrophy Or Weakness. Because of injury, progressive disease and/or vascular incompetancy the client exhibits difficulty with voluntary motion.

3. Paralysis. Regardless of etiology, the client exhibits monoplegia, hemiplegea, paraplegia or quadriplegia.

24. Transferring:

Transferring is the process of moving horizontally, and/or vertically between bed, chair, wheelchair and/or stretcher.

CATEGORIES

- 1. Without Help. The client receives no assistance or supervision from another person. He may require assistance from devices, e.g., grab bars, rollers, but can use them independently.
- 2. With Help. Another person assists the client by guarding, guiding or supervising in the process of transferring, or total assistance when the client does not participate in the process.
- 3. Bedfast. The client is not moved from the bed.

SECTION "C" PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING CONT'D.

25. Wheeling:

Wheeling is the process of moving about by means of any device equipped with wheels.

- 18 -

CATEGORIES

- 1. Does Not Wheel. Walks does not require wheeling to be mobile.
- 2. Without Help. The client receives no assistance or supervision from another person. He is able to manipulate and propel his own wheelchair.
- 3. Is Wheeled. The client is transported in a wheelchair but does not propel or guide it. The client may be able to wheel a few feet but this alone does not constitute independent wheeling.

26. Bladder Function:

This item describes the physiologic process of elimination or urine from the bladder.

CATEGORIES

- 1. Normal Function. The client voluntarily empties the bladder.
- 2. Normal With Supervision. The client voluntarily empties the bladder if reminded and assisted by another person.
- 3. Retention Indwelling Catheter. The problem of retention is compensated for by the use of an indwelling catheter.
- 4. Involuntary Loss No Catheter. The client has involuntary emptying or loss of urine from his bladder.
- 5. Involuntary Loss Indwelling Catheter Or External Device. The problem of involuntary loss is compensated for by the use of an indwelling catheter or an external device.

SECTION "C" PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING

27. Bowel Function:

This item describes the physiologic process of elimination feces from the bowel.

CONT'D.

- 19

CATEGORIES

- 1. Normal Function. Means the client voluntarily controls the evacuation of feces from his bowel.
- 2. Normal. With laxatives, suppositories, enemas.
- 3. Involuntary Loss. Means the patient is incontinent of feces.
- 4. Ostomy Self Care. Ostomy is a surgical procedure that establishes an artificial anus by an opening into the colon or the ileum. Self care means that the client completely cares for his ostomy.
- 5. Ostomy Assistance Required. Another person cares for the client's ostomy; stoma and skin cliensing, dressings, application of appliance, irrigations etc.

28. Uses Toilet Room:

This item refers to the usual process of getting to and from the toilet room for elimination of feces and urine, transferring on and off the toilet, cleansing after elimination, and adjusting clothes.

CATEGORIES

- 1. Without Help. Means the client receives no assistance or supervision from another person. He may require the use of grab rails, etc., but is independent in their use.
- 2. With Help. Another person helps the client in getting to and from the toilet room, adjusting clothes, transferring and cleansing. He may also require special devices in assisting him to and from the toilet room e.g., raised toilet or toilet seat, transfer board, grab rails, etc.
- 3. Does Not Use. Means the client uses another means for elimination than the foilet room, such as urinal, bedpan, or commode.

SECTION " PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING CONT'D.

29. Eating:

This item is the usual process of getting food by means from a receptacle (plate, cup, glass, bottle, etc.) into the body.

CATEGORIES

- 1. Without Help. The client receives no assistance from another person. He may require specially adapted devices, e.g., long handled spoon, wrist brace, suction plate, etc., but is independent in their use.
- Some Help. The client requires assistance from another person in cutting meat, buttering bread, pouring milk on cereal, cream in coffee, etc. He may also require assistance in using specially adapted devices.
- 3. Total Help. Spoon feeding by another person, tube feeding via a gastrogavage tube, or is fed a sterile solution intravenously.

30. Where The Client Presently Eats:

This item refers to the usual environment in which the client is situated while being nourished.

CATEGORIES

- 1. Dining Room. A room where a group of clients or family eat together.
- 2. Chair In Bedroom. The client eats his meals while sitting in a chair in his bedroom.
- 3. Bed. The client is nourished while in his bed either by use of a tray, tube feeding or intravenous.

-170-

• • 21

SECTION "C" PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING CONT

31. Dentition:

This item describes the usual functional ability of the client to masticate his food based on the number and kind of teeth in the jaw.

71

CATEGORIES

- 1. No Problem. The client may have all his teeth or suitable crowns, bridges, partial or full plates to allow him to eat a normal diet.
- 2. Some Problem. The client may have his own teeth or crowns, bridges, partial or full plates, but demonstrates some degree of difficulty in eating a normal diet.
- 3. Major Problem. The client is unable to eat a normal diet because of poor dentition. This includes a person who has a set of plates, but does not use them.

32. Special Diet:

This item identifies whether or not a medically prescribed diet other than the regular diet provided in the institution or home is required.

CATEGORIES.

1. No.

2. Yes.

22

This section is related to the ability of the client to perform basic social functions in a manner appropriate to his environment.

33. Communication Of Needs:

A. Verbal. This item describes the process of making known to others by verbal means, one's desires and/or requirements for physical, mental and social support.

CATEGORIES

1. Adequate. No problem noted.

Inadequate:

- 2. Educational. The lack of education is a major basis for problems with communication.
- 3. Physical. Inability to speak i.e., aphasia.
- 4. Cultural. There is a language barrier, with no one of a similar cultural background in the environment to assist with Communications.
- 5. Emotional. Because of psychosis, neurosis, chronic brain syndrome, etc., the client has inadequate communication skills.
- B. Non Verbal. This item refers to the ability of the client to transmit his needs by pointing or other gestures and/or through written means. He may also communicate through body positioning, facial expression, and behaviour to provide cues to his needs.

CATEGORIES

- 1. Aequate.
 - . Inadequate.

-172-

SECTION "D" PSYCHO-SOCIAL FUNCTIONING

34. Behaviour:

This item characterizes the usual manner of conducting oneself . within one's environment. The assessment is based on observation of the client's actions.

23 -

CATEGORIES

1. Appropriate. Means the client's behaviour pattern is suitable or fitting to the environment.

2. Comatosed, Semi-Comatosed, Or Under General Anaesthetic. These conditions, defined in medical texts, are brought about by disease, injury or medical treatment.

CONT'D.

-173-

3. Inappropriate, Wandering, Or Passive. Means behaviour unsuitable to the environment.

4. Inappropriate, Abusive, Aggressive, Disruptive, Agitated. Means behaviour that is manifested in acts detrimental to life, comfort, and/or property of himself and/or others.

5. Inappropriate, Other. Specify.

35. Memory And Orientation:

This item characterizes the usual awareness of an individual within his environment in relation to time, place, and person.

CATEGORIES

1. Normal.

2. Periods Of Forgetfulness, Confusion, Disorientation.

3. No Recall.

36. Ability To Be Realistic In Judgement:

The usual mental activity of the client to meet the unavoidable demands of his environment.

CATEGORIES

1. Normal.

2. Limited Ability.

3. Unable To Make Any Judgement.

SECTION "D" PSYCHO-SOCIAL FUNCTIONING CONT'D.

37. <u>Mood</u>:

Mood refers to the client's usual state of mind or feeling; humor or temper.

A. Depressed. Gloomy, dejected, sad.

B. Anxious. Apprehensive, worried, rattled, nervous, high strung.

C. Uncooperative. Not willing to work toward a goal.

CATEGORIES

1. No Problem.

2. Moderate Problem.

3. Extreme Problem.

38. Initiative In Participating In Social Activities:

> This item refers to the ability of the client to plan and take part. in social activities without being urged.

CATEGORIES

- 1. High Initiative. Able to plan and take part in social activities independently.
- 2. Low Initiative. Will take part in social activities if they are planned for him.

3. No Initiative. Must be urged to take part in social activities which are planned for him.

25

SECTION "E" SUBJECTIVE EVALUATION OF SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

39. Therapy And/Or Treatments:

Based on the assessment of the functional ability and the medical status of the client, this section is provided to allow the professional health care person acting as assessor, with input from others, to subjectively define the service requirements that he or she thinks that the client could benefit from. These service requirements may already be components of the care he is receiving and/or they may be requirements that, if provided, would assist the client to maintain or increase his functional ability to its optimal level. Assume that all the services are available. If services are required that are not listed, please note them under "other".

CATEGORIES

As listed on the questionnaire.

SECTION "F" CLASSIFICATION OF TYPE OF CARE, SITES, PROGRAMS

40. Type Of Care Required:

The characteristics of the client's condition determine the Type Of Care required. Therefore, based on the assessment of client needs, along with the Patient Characteristics as noted with the Definition of Types of Care, a decision can be made as to the appropriate Type. (Definitions on pages 26 and 27) -175-

DEFINITIONS OF TYPES OF CASE REQUIRED

А --

TYPE I CARE	Dr: I Core is that which is required by a person who is achulant and/or independently mubile, who has a decreased physical ind/or cental faculties, and who requires principly supervision and/or assistance with activities of daily living and provision im psycho- social needs through social and recreational services. The period of time is which care is required is independent. and related to the individual condition.	 The medical condition is known to be stabilized or under clinical control. The person heat (a) physical and/or mental frailty (b) congenital handicap (c) disability due to previous illness or injury.
•		 The person should be independently embulatory (with or without mechanical side) or independently mobile in a whealcheir.
•		4. The person is limited mentally or physically in his ability to care properly for himself independently and as a conse- quence has usion social needs.
		 The care required is primarily supervision and assistance with activities of daily living.
		 The treatment, if any, is standardized and includes only maintenance bedication and proventive services.
TYPE II CARE	Type II Care is required by the relatively stabilized long stay chronically ill of functionally disabled person who, having	1. Diegnesis has been excelished.
	reached the apparent limit of his recovery, has relatively little meed for the disgnostic and therapeutic services of a hospital but	2. The petient has a chronic illness which is not in acute phase of has a relatively stabilized functional disability.
	who does require care on a continuing 24-hour basis with medical and professional nursing supervision and provision for psycho- social meds.	3. So dependentiated by previous assussment and response to trea ment there is little or no rehabilitation potential.
	The duration of cate is unpredictable but upually consists of a	4. The disease process is relatively stabilized. 3. There is relatively little need for disgnostic and therepeu
	batter of bosthe or years.	 Services. The isdividual's need is primarily for cars on a continuing 28-bour basis with professional nursing supervision and acc. Se physical medicine services.
		7. A prolonged period of cars is anticipated, i.e., the patient soulition is expected to remain significantly unchanged in near future.
TYPE III CARE	Type III Core is that required by a person who is deemed to be chronically ill, whose acute phase of illness has passed, whose vital processes may of may not be acable, whose potential for rebabilitation may be limited, and who requires a range of therew	To be classified as requiring Type III Care the following con- ditions <u>must</u> percent
	peutic services coupled with social and recreation services. The period of time in which care is required is unpredictable but	 The disgubsic is established. The patient has a chronic illness.
	soually lengthy, and a matter of months by years.	3. The scute phase of the filters has passed or is subsiding.
		4. The gradent has rebuilding potential which can beat be realized in a clow packed program.
		 The disease process require modeal management to achieve aligical control. Evidence of significant change presently occurring in the patient's condition, e.g., improvement, relayer, descriptor.
		tion of progression of disease. 7. A need for purcing care with professional surving super- vision on a continuing 26-bour basis.
, – –		
an a		
		• • 27

-26-

.

۰,

1.1.1.

-176- /

OF CARE	DEFINITION	PATIENT CHARACTERISTICS
TYPE IV CARE	The JV Core is that required by persons with relatively stable disability such as concentral defect, post-traumatic deficits or the disability sequelae of discase, which is unlikely to be resolved by convalescence or a normal healing process, who re- quires a specialized technikilitation properse to restore or im- prove functional ability. Adaptation to this implement is an important part of the rehabilitation process. Exotional problems may be present and may require psychiatric treatment along with physical restoration. The intensity and duration of this Type of Care is dependent on the mature of the dis- ability and the patient's progress, but maximum benefits usually can be expected within a period of several months.	 The disgnosis has been established. The source phase of filness is pass or is subsiding. The patient has a demonstrated filectional impediment or sensitivent. A. The meed is related to a functional deficit, requiring primarily specialized assessment, treathent, adaptation and training.
TIPE V CARE	 Syre V Care is that required by a person: (a) the presents a need for investigation, disprosis or treatment for a known, an unknown or patentially serious condition; or (b) the is critically, scutely or seriously 112 (regard- 	To be elessified as Type V Care one of the following condition are essential: 1. The patient has an acute illness or injury. 2. The patient requires investigation and examination for,
	leds of dignosis) and whose vital processes may be in a precerious or unstable state; or (c) Who is an the impediate recovery phase or who is com-	an unknown or petentially serious condition.
. }	and who requires a planned and controlled therapeutic and educational program of comparatively short duration.	
4		

27

۰.

. .

-177-

SECTION "F" CLASSIFICATION OF TYPE OF CARE, SITES, PROGRAM, CONT'D.

28

41. Site Where Clients Needs Can Best Be Met:

When the decision has been made as to what Type Of Care the client requires, the next decision is the delivery site where the identified needs can be met. Within each Type there may be <u>either</u> an institutional site or the clients needs may be met in a home environment with appropriate support services. Based on the functional and medical status as well as the social situation of the client, please make a decision as to the most appropriate site for care. Assume that all sites that are listed are available. If sites are required that are not listed, please note them under "other".

CATEGORIES

As listed on questionnaire.

2. Programs:

If the appropriate site for care is an institution, then we will assume that programs to meet the clients needs will be available. However, if the client is in the home environment it is important to identify health and social programs which would be appropriate to meet his needs. Therefore, <u>ignore this item if the above site</u> for care is an institution. Otherwise, circle the number of as many programs as may be necessary. Assume that all programs are available. If programs are required that are not listed, please enter them under "other".

CATEGORIES

As listed on auestionnaire.

43. Comments:

This item is open ended to allow the assessor to make any pertinent comments such as information we have omitted which is valuable in the assessment of the client's needs, comments on the format of the questionnaire, items that were not properly defined, etc., etc. Input from this item on the pre-test was very valuable. -178-

SECTION "F" CLASSIFICATION OF TYPE OF CARE, SITES, PROGRAMS CONT'D.

. - 29 -

-179-

44. Input For Assessment From:

Because Patient Care Classification is interdisciplinary and we recognize the importance of consumer input, this item is intended to identify the sources of information used in the assessment of client's needs as well as in the decision regarding the placement and programs required. This item does <u>not</u> include the major assessor.

45. Assessor:

This information will only be utilized while the study is in progress in order to refer to the individual for clarification or additional information if required.

46. Position:

This item provides information as to the usual position held by the Assessor.

CONCLUSION:

Thank you for your hard work! We will keep you informed about the re-, sults. An interim report will be prepared by March 31st, 1975, and the final report will be available after June 15th, 1975.

APPENDIX 4

CODE BOOK

February 13, 1975

∞ MEDICINE HAT STUDY

Note: Missing information on any item is punched zero or blank

1 · ·			any item is panched zer	1 Didin
CARE	COLUMN	QUESTION	FIELD TYPE	
1 `	1	- qu homon	Card Number	VALUES
	2-4			
•	5	2.A.	Client Number	001 etc. given in box
	6-8	2.B	Location	1-7 as circled
•	9	2.C	Room Number	001 etc. as written in
•	10		Service	1-4 as circled-
•		3.A	Support	1-4 as circled
· · · ·	11-10	3.B.1 to 3.B.6	Source*	0,1No, Yes for each
		4.A	Inpatient	1-2 as circled
		4.B	Date	DDMMYY .
; ¢	24	4.C	From	1-8 as circled
· · · · · · ·	·.	5.A	Waiting	1-2 as circled
		5.B	Date	DDMMYY
. 1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	5 . C	Requested	1-5 as circled
		6	Birth	CYY last 3 digits of Yr
	36	7	Sex	1-2 as circled
	37	8	Resident	1-3 as circled
	38	9	Marital	1-5 as circled
	39	10	Depend	1-4 as circled
	40-45	11.1 to 11.6	Deterrents*	
la de 🛛	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2	Physician	0, 1 No, Yes for each
	48]	3.A.1	Acute-None	01, etc. as written in
		3.A.2	Acute-Unknown	0,1 No, Yes
16		3.A.3	Prim. Diag.	0,1 No, Yes
		3.A.4		0001 etc. as written in
		3.B.1 to 13.B.17	Sec. Diag.	0001 etc.as written in
		4	CHR. Cond.*	0, 1 No, Yes for each
		5.A to 15.	Stable	1-2 as circled
1		6.1 to 16.2	Severity.	1-4 as circled for each
2	1	V.T.M. TO . E	Risk (1,2)*	0, 1 no, Yes for each
	2-4		Card Number	2
		C 04- 10 0	Case Number	001 etc. given in box
		6.3to 16.8	Risk (cont'd)*	0, 1 No, Yes for each
			Potential	3 as circled
	12		Réassess	1-4 as circled
		9.A to 25	Physical	1-3 as circled
2	23-24 26	3,27 •	Bowel-Bladder	1-5.as circled
			continued	
			Continue	••••••

-180-

•	•	•				-18
· ·	CARD	COLUMN	QUESTION '	FIELD TYPE	VALUES	<u>,</u>
· · ·		25-28 29 30 31-35 36 37 38-48 44-56 57 58 59-74	28-31 32 33.A.1 33.A.2 to 33.A.6 33.B 34 35-38 39 40 41 42.1 to 42.15	Physical (cont'd) Diet Verbal Comm.A. V.C. INAD* NON VERB. Behavior Psycho-Soc. Therapy, Treatment* Type Site Programs*	 1-3 as circled 1-2 as circled 0, 1 No, Yes 0, 1 No, Yes for each 1-2 as circled 1-5 as circled 1-3 as circled 0, 1 No, Yes for each 1 - 5 1-9, do not code #10 0, 1 No, Yes for each 	
		75- 7 9 80	44.1 to 44.6 46	Input* Position	do not code #16 0, 1 No, Yes for each 1-5	•